Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII

Edited by

Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Samer El Hayek and Renato de Filippis

Published in Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Psychiatry





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3098-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3098-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII

Topic editors

Mohammadreza Shalbafan — Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran Samer El Hayek — Erada Center for Treatment and Rehab, United Arab Emirates Renato de Filippis — Magna Græcia University, Italy

Citation

Shalbafan, M., El Hayek, S., de Filippis, R., eds. (2023). *Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3098-6

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII Samer El Havek. Renato de Filippis and Mohammadreza Shalbafan
- 08 Breath-centered virtual mind-body medicine reduces COVID-related stress in women healthcare workers of the Regional Integrated Support for Education in Northern Ireland: a single group study

Patricia L. Gerbarg, Felicity Dickson, Vincent A. Conte and Richard P. Brown

22 Support- and meaning-focused coping as key factors for maintaining adult quality of life during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany

Caroline Cohrdes, Rüdiger Pryss, Harald Baumeister, Sophie Eicher, Nina Knoll and Heike Hölling

36 The assessment and validation of the depression, anxiety, and stress scale (DASS-21) among frontline doctors in Pakistan during fifth wave of COVID-19

Muhammad Umar Nadeem, Steve J. Kulich and Ijaz Hussain Bokhari

45 Effects of dynamic zero COVID-19 policy on anxiety status and lifestyle changes of pregnant women in rural South China: a survey-based analysis by propensity score matching method

Ye Ding, Xi Shi, Genyuan Li, Qingfen Liang, Ziqi Yang, Yanxia Peng, Huiqin Deng and Zhixu Wang

53 eHealth literacy was associated with anxiety and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria: a cross-sectional study

> Oluwadamilare Akingbade, Khadijat Adeleye, Oluwadamilola Agnes Fadodun, Israel Opeyemi Fawole, Jiaying Li, Edmond Pui Hang Choi, Mandy Ho, Kris Yuet Wan Lok, Janet Yuen Ha Wong, Daniel Yee Tak Fong and Oluwabunmi Ogungbe

63 Effects of social confinement during the first wave of COVID-19 in Mexico City

Stephany Segura-García, Ameyalli Barrera-Ramírez, Guadalupe O. Gutiérrez-Esparza, Elizabeth Groves-Miralrio, Mireya Martínez-García and Enrique Hernández-Lemus

74 Early impact of COVID-19 social distancing on social determinants of health and their effects on mental health and quality of life of Korean undergraduate students Kyeongeun Lee, Sola Han and Hae Sun Suh

- 85 The impacts of the coronavirus pandemic on the mental health of Brazilian diagnosed with COVID-19 and comparison of symptoms of depression, anxiety, insomnia, and post-traumatic stress with undiagnosed subjects Sumayla Gabrielle Nascimento da Silva, Lucas Mendes Carvalho, Fernando Cesar de Souza Braga, Rodrigo Silveira and Ozélia Sousa Santos
- 93 The psychological symptoms and behavioral problems of children with mothers working as medical staff in the crisis of Covid-19 outbreak in Hamadan, Iran

Roya Raeisi, Shakiba Gholamzad, Mansoureh Kiani Dehkordi, Mehri Rezaei Kheirabadi, Ali Hhasanpour Ddehkordi, Mohammad Mahdi Sobhani and Mahsa Movahedi Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Wulf Rössler, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Mohammadreza Shalbafan ⊠ shalbafan.mr@iums.ac.ir

RECEIVED 25 June 2023 ACCEPTED 26 June 2023 PUBLISHED 12 July 2023

CITATION

El Hayek S, de Filippis R and Shalbafan M (2023) Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1247118. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1247118

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 El Hayek, de Filippis and Shalbafan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII

Samer El Hayek ¹, Renato de Filippis ² and Mohammadreza Shalbafan ^{3*}

¹Medical Department, Erada Center for Treatment and Rehab in Dubai, Dubai, United Arab Emirates, ²Psychiatry Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University Magna Graecia of Catanzaro, Catanzaro, Italy, ³Mental Health Research Center, Psychosocial Health Research Institute, Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

KEYWORDS

coronavirus, healthcare professionals, mental health care, mental disorders, psychiatry, psychological distress, public health, SARS-CoV-2

Editorial on the Research Topic

Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VII

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has had far-reaching repercussions on society and individuals' lives, significantly impacting their physical and mental health (1-3). These ramifications have been further influenced by a variety of factors, such as personal circumstances, socioeconomic status, and cultural background (4, 5). With a focus on investigating the effects of the pandemic on mental health, this Research Topic aims to shed light on the role played by sociocultural and personal factors on mental wellbeing. Specifically, the Seventh Volume of our Community Series Research Topic "*Mental Illness, Culture, and Society: Dealing with the COVID-19 Pandemic*" expands upon the findings of the preceding six volumes (6–11) and presents nine articles that explore the impact of the pandemic on the mental health of diverse groups.

Two studies evaluated the mental wellbeing of healthcare workers during the pandemic. Nadeem et al. conducted a cross-sectional study in Pakistan to assess the level of depression, anxiety, and stress among frontline doctors (n = 319) and validate the Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS-21). A considerable percentage of respondents had high levels of depression (72.7%), anxiety (70.2%), and stress (58.3%). DASS-21 was validated in the cultural context of Pakistani doctors. Results also revealed a positive correlation between depression and anxiety (r = 0.696, p < 0.001), depression and stress (r = 0.761, p < 0.001), and anxiety and stress (r = 0.720, p < 0.001). In a single group study, Gerbarg et al. evaluated the effects of Breath-Centered Virtual Mind-Body Medicine, the Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course—BBMIC, on COVID-19-related stress among 39 female healthcare workers in Northern Ireland. Participants completed the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), Stress Overload Scale-Short (SOS-S), Exercise-Induced Feelings Inventory (EFI), and Indicators of Psychophysiological State (IPSS) at baseline and after finishing the course.

Participation in the BBMIC significantly reduced scores on PSS (p < 0.011) and EFI subscales for Revitalization (p < 0.001), Exhaustion (p < 0.002), and Tranquility (p < 0.001), but not Engagement. More than 60% reported moderate to very strong improvements in 22 IPSS, including tension, mood, sleep, and mental focus.

Along the same lines, Raeisi et al. assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the children of mothers working as medical staff during the pandemic in Hamadan, Iran. Using a causal-comparative design with a control group, mothers of children aged 6 to 12 years filled information using the Child Behavior Checklist (Achenbach) and the Child Symptom Inventory-4. Compared to controls, children in the staff group scored significantly higher on mean scores of depression, attention problems, and aggression (p < 0.05), highlighting the importance of targeted child-parent intervention in this vulnerable group.

Looking at other group populations, Santos et al. assessed the impact of the pandemic on the mental health of Brazilians who reported a positive diagnosis of the disease, with or without symptoms, compared to controls who reported not being diagnosed with COVID-19. Through a cross-sectional design, the authors collected online data from 1,334 people to investigate symptoms of depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress, and insomnia. The findings highlighted that the pandemic impacted the mental health of individuals regardless of if they were ever diagnosed. Ding et al. investigated the impact of the dynamic zero COVID-19 strategy on pregnant women residing in rural South China. Using a crosssectional survey, they collected data on anxiety status, sleep quality, physical activity, and diet among 136 pregnant women and 680 controls. Of pregnant women, 25.7, 28.7, and 83.1% had anxiety, sleep problems, and low/medium physical activity, respectively, with no significant difference from the controls. The authors concluded that the strategy had little impact on anxiety, sleep, or physical activity, but affected food intake during pregnancy. Alternatively, in Korea, Lee et al. used an online cross-sectional survey to investigate the association between social determinants of health and perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life among 1,276 Korean undergraduate students. Compared to those who answered neutrally, students who experienced a negative impact on their social-networking activities due to social distancing were at significantly higher odds to perceive pandemic-related confinement as not being beneficial (OR = 1.948, 95% CI 1.254-3.027) and having elevated stress levels (OR = 1.619, 95% CI 1.051–2.496) and decreased quality of life (OR = 2.230, 95% CI 1.448-3.434). The authors concluded that the social distancing policy may have had a negative impact on the socialnetworking activities of undergraduate students, emphasizing their need for greater social support and access to resources during periods of confinement.

Using a cross-sectional design, Segura-García et al. also analyzed the impact of social confinement in the first wave of COVID-19 among a group of volunteers in Mexico City. The authors particularly looked at components related to family life, social life, work, mental health, physical activity, and domestic violence. Suffering from domestic violence was significantly associated with having suffered from a symptomatic COVID-19 infection (OR = 4.0099, p = 0.0009), being unmarried (OR = 1.4454, p = 0.0479), and having poor eating habits (OR = 2.3159, p = 0.0084). Despite the policy to assist vulnerable populations during confinement, only a small proportion of the sample reported benefiting from it, emphasizing the importance of improving such policies.

Cohrdes et al. investigated the role of coping factors in maintaining the quality of life among 2,137 German adults during the pandemic, using the Brief COPE and WHOQOL-BREF, respectively. Results of this cross-sectional study showed that participants mostly pursued problem- and meaning-focused coping factors and showed a relatively good quality of life, except for the social domain, with a decreasing trend over time. Escape-avoidance coping was negatively related to all quality-of-life domains, whereas support- and meaning-focused coping showed positive associations (p < 0.05). The authors concluded that certain types of coping (support- and meaning-focused) might prevent a decrease in quality of life and should be considered in future health-targeted interventions.

Lastly, in their cross-sectional study, Akingbade et al. looked at the association between electronic health (eHealth) literacy and anxiety and depression during the pandemic in Nigeria. For this purpose, 590 Nigerians filled out the "COVID-19's impAct on feaR and hEalth" (CARE) questionnaire, the eHealth literacy scale, the Patient Health Questionnaire-4, and the COVID-19 fear scale. High eHealth literacy was associated with lower odds of anxiety (aOR = 0.34, 95% CI 0.20–0.54) and depression (aOR = 0.34, 95% CI 0.21–0.56). There were age, sex, and regional differences in the associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes. The authors emphasized the importance of digital health information to improve access and delivery of mental health services.

In conclusion, the papers compiled in the Seventh Volume of this Research Topic offer an insightful outlook on the effects of COVID-19 on mental health, further highlighting the intricate interplay among sociocultural, economic, and individual factors. It is necessary to acknowledge that the impact of the pandemic, whether on mental wellbeing or society, extends beyond a temporary disruption, necessitating continued attention and comprehensive understanding. To address the specific vulnerabilities faced by different groups, there is a crucial need for further clinical and epidemiological research, as well as the provision of appropriately tailored resources and interventions.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Adiukwu F, de Filippis R, Orsolini L, Gashi Bytyçi D, Shoib S, Ransing R, et al. Scaling up global mental health services during the covid-19 pandemic and beyond. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2022) 73:231–4. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.202000774

2. de la Rosa PA, Cowden RG, de Filippis R, Jerotic S, Nahidi M, Ori D, et al. Associations of lockdown stringency and duration with Google searches for mental health terms during the COVID-19 pandemic: A nine-country study. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2022) 150:237–245. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.03.026

3. Ramalho R, Adiukwu F, Gashi Bytyçi D, El Hayek S, Gonzalez-Diaz JM, Larnaout A, et al. Alcohol and tobacco use during the COVID-19 pandemic. a call for local actions for global impact. *Front Psychiat.* (2021) 12:634254. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.634254

4. Ullah I, Khan KS, Ali I, Ullah AR, Mukhtar S, de Filippis R, et al. Depression and anxiety among Pakistani healthcare workers amid COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative study. *Ann Med Surg.* (2022) 78:103863. doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2022. 103863

5. Adiukwu F, Kamalzadeh L, Pinto da Costa M, Ransing R, de Filippis R, Pereira-Sanchez V, et al. The grief experience during the COVID-19 pandemic across different cultures. *Ann Gen Psychiatry.* (2022) 21:18. doi: 10.1186/s12991-022-00397-z 6. de Filippis R, El Hayek S, Shalbafan M. Editorial: Mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:1073768. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1073768

7. de Filippis R, Shalbafan M, El Hayek S. Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic - Volume III. *Front Psychiatry.* (2023) 14:1145115. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1145115

8. El Hayek S, de Filippis R, Shalbafan M. Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic—Volume II. *Front Psychiat.* (2022) 13:1092845. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1092845

9. de Filippis R, El Hayek S, Shalbafan M. Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: Dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic - Volume IV. *Front Psychiatry.* (2023) 14:1181772. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1181772

10. El Hayek S, de Filippis R, Shalbafan M. Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic: volume V. *Front Psychiatry.* (2023) 14:1205905. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1205905

11. de Filippis R, El Hayek S, Shalbafan M. Editorial: Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, volume VI. *Front Psychiat.* (2023) 14:1233633. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1233633

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Hadi Alimoradi, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences and Health Services, Iran Carlos Laranjeira, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Patricia L. Gerbarg ⊠ patgerbarg@gmail.com

RECEIVED 04 April 2023 ACCEPTED 22 May 2023 PUBLISHED 12 June 2023

CITATION

Gerbarg PL, Dickson F, Conte VA and Brown RP (2023) Breath-centered virtual mindbody medicine reduces COVID-related stress in women healthcare workers of the Regional Integrated Support for Education in Northern Ireland: a single group study. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1199819. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1199819

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Gerbarg, Dickson, Conte and Brown. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Breath-centered virtual mind-body medicine reduces COVID-related stress in women healthcare workers of the Regional Integrated Support for Education in Northern Ireland: a single group study

Patricia L. Gerbarg^{1*}, Felicity Dickson², Vincent A. Conte³ and Richard P. Brown⁴

¹Department of Psychiatry, New York Medical College, Valhalla, NY, United States, ²Regional Integrated Support for Education, Belfast, United Kingdom, ³Management Department, Hofstra University, Hempstead, NY, United States, ⁴Columbia University Vagelos College of Physicians and Surgeons, New York, NY, United States

Background: During the COVID-19 pandemic, healthcare workers endured prolonged stress affecting their psychological well-being. Objectives: (1) Evaluate the effects of the Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course (BBMIC) on COVID-related stress among employees of the Regional Integrated Support for Education, Northern Ireland, (2) Reduce the risk of adverse effects from COVID-related stress, and (3) Evaluate the effects of BBMIC on indicators of psychophysiological states and the consistency with hypothesized mechanisms of action.

Methods: In this single group study, a convenience sample of 39 female healthcare workers completed informed consent and baseline measures: Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), Stress Overload Scale-Short (SOS-S), and Exercise-Induced Feelings Inventory (EFI). Following the online BBMIC 4h/day for 3 days and the 6 week solo (20 min/day) and group practice (45 min weekly), repeat testing plus the Indicators of Psychophysiological State (IPSS) and Program Evaluation were obtained.

Results: Baseline (T1) mean PSS score was significantly elevated compared to a normative sample: PSS=18.2 vs. 13.7 (p<0.001) and improved significantly 11 weeks post-BBMIC (T4). SOS-S mean score declined from 10.7(T1) to 9.7 at 6 week post-test (T3). The SOS-S proportion of High Risk scores found in 22/29 participants (T1), dropped to 7/29 (T3). EFI mean subscale scores improved significantly from T1 to T2 and T3 for Revitalization (p<0.001); Exhaustion (p<0.002); and Tranquility (p<0.001); but not Engagement (p<0.289).

Conclusion: Among RISE NI healthcare workers affected by COVID-related stress, participation in the BBMIC significantly reduced scores for Perceived Stress, Stress Overload, and Exhaustion. EFI Revitalization and Tranquility scores significantly improved. More than 60% of participants reported moderate to very strong improvements in 22 indicators of psychophysiological state, e.g., tension, mood, sleep, mental focus, anger, connectedness, awareness, hopefulness, and empathy. These results are consistent with the hypothesized mechanisms of action whereby voluntarily regulated breathing exercises change interoceptive messaging to brain regulatory networks that shift psychophysiological states of distress and defense

to states of calmness and connection. These positive findings warrant validation in larger, controlled studies to extend the understanding of how breath-centered Mind-body Medicine practices could mitigate adverse effects of stress.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 pandemic, occupational stress, healthcare workers, mind-body medicine, breathing exercises, autonomic nervous system, children with disabilities, psychological stress

Introduction

During mass disasters, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the number of people needing mental health support far exceeds the capacity of existing conventional healthcare resources using the model of one provider for one patient at a time. Pandemics place heavy burdens on already strained healthcare services (1, 2). Rapidly effective, inexpensive, low-risk, non-stigmatizing group interventions are needed to ameliorate adverse effects of COVID-related stress on the wellbeing and work efficacy of health workers (3–5). When healthcare workers experience prolonged severe stress, reactive changes in their stress response systems can impair their abilities to work effectively and make them vulnerable to cumulative emotional and physical impairments, deterioration of relationships, and professional burnout. In effect, they may become locked into a defensive psychophysiological state of feeling unsafe, anxious, overwhelmed, and exhausted (1, 6).

This study evaluated the effects of Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course (BBMIC), a breath-centered Mind-body Medicine program, on indicators of stress and psychophysiological state among employees of the Regional Integrated Support for Education in Northern Ireland (RISE NI) during the COVID-19 pandemic, from December 16, 2020 to April 14, 2021. RISE NI is a Health and Social Care Trust (HSCT), funded by the Department of Education through the Department of Health. Approximately 100 RISE staff provide direct support for about 100,000 at-risk and special needs children, mainly ages 3 to 8 years, who are mainstreamed into public primary schools, nurseries, and playgroups. Each HSCT has a RISE Team of speech and language therapists, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, clinical psychologists, social workers, behavior therapists, and therapy assistants. RISE uses a Transdisciplinary model working across professional boundaries. The key aims are: (1) to reduce underachievement by optimizing children's access to learning within the educational environment and (2) to foster health, wellbeing and social inclusion and improve the life chances of children.

The adverse effects of the COVID pandemic on learning, physical health and mental health are most severe in children already at risk

for educational disparities: students of color, English as a second language learners, children from low-income households, and those with disabilities or autism spectrum disorder (7–9). During the pandemic, most services withdrew from face-to-face work with children and families. Nevertheless, many RISE staff were required to continue face-to-face support because virtual support was ineffective or inaccessible. Staff underwent changes in responsibilities due to the Health Care response to COVID. Many were deployed to acute hospital COVID wards covering jobs outside their established remit. The remaining staff had added responsibilities, including support for community services hardest hit by the loss of other healthcare services.

A review of 18 clinical studies of mind-body modalities in health workers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic found that combining mental focus, controlled breathing, and body movements to relax the body and mind had significant positive effects on perceived stress, burnout, insomnia, anxiety, depression, resilience, and well-being (10). Poor methodological quality was noted. A review of guidelines for reducing the mental health burden in healthcare workers found that 33 out of 41 articles recommended self-care: 50% of these suggested training for resilience building and stress management (11). Implementation strategies were lacking.

When BBMIC began at RISE NI, employees had already endured 10 months of severe COVID pandemic-related stress. Many felt overloaded and exhausted from daily job duties, home schooling children, and/or caring for relatives. In mass disasters, health workers carry the cumulative stresses of providing services while coping with the disaster's effects on their own families (12). BBMIC was chosen by RISE because it is an evidence-based program that rapidly relieves symptoms of stress, anxiety, and trauma for health workers, children, families, and groups. With practice BBM can improve emotion self-regulation, social engagement, mental clarity, energy, and physical health (13–15). Management wanted to integrate BBM practices throughout RISE as ongoing institutional support for staff resilience and well-being.

Co-regulation of psychophysiological (mind-body) states by children and their caregivers is essential for healthy autonomic function, stress resilience, emotion self-regulation, relationships, and learning (4, 15–17). When adults interact with children, they communicate their own emotional states nonverbally. Children who have experienced excess stress, trauma, neglect, or disability tend to react more intensely and have more difficulty restoring emotional balance (9, 18). Educational settings provide opportunities for staff to reduce adverse effects of stress, trauma, and disabilities on children through positive co-regulation using simple, breathing exercises that support emotion self-regulation. Evidence supports the following mechanisms hypothesized to underlie the effects of BBM on psychophysiological states:

Abbreviations: BBM, Breath-Body-Mind; BBMIC, Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course; BBMTTL-1, Breath-Body-Mind Teacher Training Level-1; BHSCT, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust; cpm, cycles per minute; EFI, Exercise Induced Feelings Inventory; EV, Event Load; PNS, parasympathetic nervous system; PSS, Perceived Stress Scale; PV, Personal Vulnerability; RISE NI, Regional Integrated Support for Education, Northern Ireland; SEND, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities; SNS, sympathetic nervous system; SOS-S, Stress Overload Scale-Short.

- 1. Changing the pattern of breathing changes afferent interoceptive messages from the respiratory system to central regulatory areas, including the limbic system, hypothalamus, thalamus, and insular, prefrontal, and anterior cingulate cortices (14, 16, 17, 19).
- 2. Slow breathing, particularly Coherent Breathing, balances the autonomic nervous system by reducing overactivity of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and boosting underactivity of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) (13).
- 3. Reducing SNS overactivity reduces energy expenditure. Increasing PNS activity restores energy reserves.
- 4. Breathing entrains the electrical activity of the brain. Voluntarily controlling breathing increases entrainment in critical areas such as insular cortex and amygdala (20, 21).
- 5. Slow breathing, such as Coherent Breathing, activates the social engagement system and enhances feelings of safety, trust, empathy, and connection (22–24).
- 6. Activating the vagus nerves by slow breathing may increases oxytocin release (4, 16).

Both RISE NI and the Breath-Body-Mind Foundation, a not-forprofit 501(c)3, evaluate programs and identify ways to improve outcomes. The objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Evaluate the effects of the Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course on COVID-related stress among employees of RISE NI;
- 2. Reduce the risk of adverse effects from COVID-related stress;
- 3. Evaluate the effects of BBMIC on indicators of psychophysiological states and the consistency with hypothesized underlying mechanisms of action.

Materials and methods

Approval

RISE NI regional management approved the BBM training and service evaluation. Each manager obtained approval from their respective trusts. They determined that BBM Programs and Evaluations were part of service evaluation/service development, i.e., they did not meet criteria for research as defined by the National Health Services (NHS) UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research, based on the Research Ethics Service. Consequently, BBM Programs and Evaluations did not require ethical approval from NHS Health Research Authority or Research Ethics Committee (25). Nevertheless, BBM provided RISE management with their informed consent form (see Supplementary Appendix A) which they approved.

Recruitment

An email about BBMIC was sent to the RISE coordinators who advised their teams of the training. From among staff who volunteered to participate, team managers chose participants representing each discipline and forwarded the names to the BHSCT manager. The intent was for BBMIC training to maintain the transdisciplinary nature of the service. Initially, 40 places were allocated: 7 for each of 4 HSCTs and 12 for BHSCT. Unfilled places were offered first to the 4 HSCTs and last to BHSCT. The final allocation was: BHSCT 23; South Eastern HSCT 4; Southern HSCT 4; Northern HSCT 3; Western HSCT 5.

Informed consent

Consent to participate in the program, test measures, and for publication, was obtained the week prior to BBMIC (see Supplementary Appendix A Consent Form). Team managers explained to staff the Informed Consent form, risks and benefits, the evaluation, confidentiality, the right to withdraw, and the potential for further BBM Training. Staff had an opportunity to have their questions answered. Staff registration to participate was considered consent.

Participants

The participants, 39 adult women between ages 23 and 55 years, professional staff of the five HSCTs of RISE NI, included: speech and language therapists, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, clinical psychologists, behavior therapists, and therapy assistants. One male registered to participate, but he withdrew before BBMIC leaving an all-women group.

Data collection and analysis

Data was collected between December 16, 2020 and April 14, 2021. Dependent measures were taken at four time points, pre-BBMIC training (T1), post-3 days of BBMIC (T2), post 6 weeks of solo and group practice (T3), and 11 weeks post training (T4). After BBMIC, some graduates (n=22) participated in BBM Teacher Training Level-1, yielding additional data at T4 (see Figure 1).

Test scores were obtained online using questionnaires generated and collected through Surveymonkey.com. To maintain confidentiality and test security, each participant was assigned a unique Identification Code (ID) emailed to them individually by the BBM research team. RISE NI administrators and sponsors were blind to the match between IDs and individual participants and could not access their responses. To protect employee privacy, all tests were coded (no names or other identifying information appeared on test documents). The Master Code List was kept by Dr. Gerbarg, who was not affiliated with RISE, on a separate, secured memory stick. Since the study as a "low stakes" personal employee development opportunity, we did not anticipate any response tampering, multiple submissions or substitutions. The rater and data analyst were blind to participant IDs.

The RISE NI training contract did not allow time or funding to train more than one group, hence, the single group design. Comparison groups and randomized were not possible. Participants were a convenience sample of supervisor-nominated employees who volunteered to participate without additional pay beyond their usual salaries. BBMIC was taught during normal work hours.

The data collection plan was informed by the following assumptions and intentions:



T3 testing. Because one person missed T1 testing, their scores were not included in the statistical analysis.

- 1. Given the nature of their work and work-related changes necessitated by the COVID-19 pandemic, this sample of RISE NI staff would have higher-than-normal psychological stress.
- On average, participation in BBMIC would be associated with measurable, meaningful, statistically significant improvements in perceived stress, engagement, revitalization, tranquility, physical exhaustion, and stress overload.
- On average, participation in BBMIC would be associated with measurable improvements in indicators of positive change in psychophysiological states, such as tension, calmness, mood, sleep, energy, mental clarity and focus, friendliness, empathy, and body pain.
- Having experienced personal relief and emotional healing, some participants would volunteer for a train-the-trainer program to learn how to incorporate BBM practices into their work.
- 5. The data would provide a formative evaluation of BBMIC to use to improve the training.

The data analysis plan was to measure baseline participant stress prior to BBMIC. Using the dependent measures we applied a General Linear Model (GLM) matched-pair, within-subjects, repeated measures design, a standard analytic approach, to test the level of change in each participant (26). Three conditions were set up for the factor "Time": pretest (T1); post-3 days of BBMIC (T2); and after 6 weeks of solo and group practice (T3). SPSS uses Mauchly's test for sphericity. The Bonferroni method was used for *post hoc* analysis.

Practice logs were analyzed to understand the degree to which the amount of group practice and at-home practice might correlate with changes in dependent measures. As in many studies of busy professionals, a drop-off in practice was anticipated. The pattern of those who left the program was analyzed using a *t*-test comparison of leavers vs. stayers to better understand potential biases in the overall result. In addition, we collected a matched set of measurements for those registered for Teacher Training Level 1 (TTL-1). The pre-test for TTL-1 served as an 11 weeks extension of post-time to measure persistence of effects. Effect size of changes were measured in the

means of the key to matched sets of dependent measures calculating Cohen's d.

We summarized the Program Evaluation questionnaire responses which assessed participants' satisfaction with the training and their suggestions for improving BBMIC.

Test measures

The *Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)* is a widely used, validated measure of perceived stress with reduced stress indicated by a lower score (27). Participants rate how often they have experienced stress-related symptoms over a period of at least 1 month on 10 items on a scale from 0 (never) to 4 (very often). Internal reliability has been estimated at α =0.78 (28). In addition, Cohen et al. report evidence of concurrent and predictive validity showing the results of various samples where the PSS correlated significantly with the Number of [stressful] Life Events, Impact of [stressful] Life Events, depressive symptomatology, and Health Center Utilization (27). PSS scores in normative samples have been published (28).

The *Exercise Induced Feeling Inventory* (*EFI*) has been shown to be sensitive to mood changes associated with yoga interventions (29, 30). Participants are asked to describe "how you feel at this moment in time" on a scale from 0 (do not feel) to 4 (feel very strongly). The EFI consists of 12 items grouped into 4 subscales: Positive Engagement, Revitalization, Tranquility, and Physical Exhaustion. Improvement in the first three subscales is indicated by a higher score and for the last subscale by a lower score. Estimates for internal reliability of EFI subscales range from $\alpha = 0.74$ to $\alpha = 0.91$ (29, p. 415). The subscales demonstrate good concurrent and discriminant validity with existing measures of mood and affect (29, p. 417). The data also suggest that EFI is highly sensitive to changes in feeling states that occur with exercise (29, p. 419).

The Stress Overload Scale-Short (SOS-S) is comprised of 30 items designed to measure "stress overload," a state described in stress theories as occurring when demands overwhelm resources (31). A 5-point Likert scale (1 = not at all, 5 = a lot) indicates subjective feelings and thoughts experienced over the prior week. Two factors underly stress overload: Personal Vulnerability (PV) and Event Load (EL), measured by two distinct but correlated subscales. Higher total scores indicate higher levels of stress overload. SOS-S internal consistency is excellent (Cronbach's alphas > 0.94 for both subscales and the measure as a whole). Test-retest reliability is good (coefficients averaging 0.75 over 1 week). Significant correlations with other measures of stress and illness demonstrate construct validity. Criterion validity has been shown in prediction of illness and abnormal cortisol responses following a stressful event (32). Amirkhan also suggests a "categorical scoring option" for separating participants into risk categories using norm sample group means as dividing points on the Personal Vulnerability (μ PV = 9.15) and Event Load (μ EL = 12.15) subscales. Those scoring in the High EL-High PV category were found to be at highest risk for developing a stress-related health condition.

Indicators of Psychophysiological State is a subjective non-validated self-assessment of 22 items, created by authors Gerbarg and Brown to document changes in psychophysiological state that reflect stress responses, emotional state, and perceptions of oneself, other people, and the environment, as delineated in the Polyvagal Theory of Stephen Porges and discussed below (15, 16, 33). Items are based on awareness

of physical sensations (*interoception*), energy, emotions, cognitive functions, attention, and aspects of social engagement, including awareness of others, attitude towards others, connectedness, and empathy. Some items are similar to those in the Body Perception Questionnaire Short Form, a validate measure develop by Porges (34, 35).

Compliance with the recommended practice time was assessed using home Practice Logs submitted by participants and attendance records kept by BBM teachers during weekly group practice sessions.

Qualitative Data: Following BBMIC, participants were asked three open-ended questions at T2: (1) What did you like the most about BBMIC?, (2) What can be improved in the BBMIC?, and (3) How can BBM practices be helpful to students?

Intervention: Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course

BBMIC includes a 12 h manualized training provided live online 4h/day for 3 consecutive days followed by 6 weeks of once-a-week online group practice (45 min per session) and daily home practice (recommended 20 min per day of coherent breathing with some movement practices). This course teaches participants how to become more aware of their own psychophysiological states and how to use BBM techniques to balance their own stress response systems (sympatho-vagal balance). By developing self-awareness and regulation of their own psychophysiological state, participants become better able to co-regulate the emotional states of others. In collaboration with Jyoti Manuel,¹ methods for working with children with special needs were incorporated into the BBMIC.

In BBM programs, Coherent Breathing, the foundational practice, is used alone and with attentional focus, synchronized movements, visualization during Breath Moving, music, and audio track or voice pacing. To optimize relaxation, participants are encouraged to be in a comfortable, supported position and to exert as little effort as possible during Coherent Breathing paced at 5–6 cpm (cycles per minute). This gentle cyclical breathing (without breath pauses or holds) has calming effects, reduces SNS activity, increases PNS activity, lowers blood pressure, and induces synchronized alpha waves across large areas of cerebral cortex (17, 19, 20, 36–39). In the resulting psychophysiological state, the individual feels both calm and alert.

Each day had 3 Rounds that included: activating practices, such as tapping the body to music or "Ha" breath (no more than 1 or 2 min); autonomic balancing practices that coordinate breathing with movement, for example, breathing at 5 cpm while making synchronized arm circles; two deep relaxing sighs, a brief top-down muscle relaxation; Coherent Breathing (or resonant breathing) paced at 5 cpm, starting with 7 min and working up to 20 min; and Breath Moving (imagining the movement of breath inside the body in a sequence of circuits) (See Supplementary Appendix B – Table B1 Schedule and Table B2 Description of Practices). This can be followed by a bottom-up body scan, soft relaxing music, or Open Focus Attention Training (40, 41). The practice finishes with a few minutes of rest, lying down if possible.

¹ https://www.specialyoga.co.uk

Results

Participants

After baseline tests were obtained from 39 RISE NI employees, the only male in the group dropped out. Subsequently, 38 female employees (administrators and front-line workers) from the five district offices of RISE NI participated in BBMIC. Their ages ranged from 23 to 55 years. Among the 38 participants included in the statistical analysis were: 8 behavioral specialists, 8 occupational therapists, 7 speech and language therapists, 5 physiotherapists, 7 therapy assistants, 2 social workers, and 1 clinical psychologist. These included 8 Team Leaders. Figure 1 tracks the number of participants who completed tests at each time point and the reasons for study dropouts.

Assessment measures: results and analysis

Perceived stress scale

Using Welch Modified Two Sample *t*-Test in R-Studio (Version 1.2.5019 BSDA library), showed that at baseline (T1), PSS mean score of the 38 women participants (PSS = 18.3 ± 6.108 SD) was significantly higher (p < 0.0001) than the estimated population mean in a PSS norming sample of 1,406 women ($\mu = 13.7 \pm 6.6$ SD) (28). Participants who chose to participate in BBM Teacher Training Level-1 (n = 21) completed the PSS 11 weeks post BBMIC during the week before teacher training. A matched pair *t*-test comparing the PSS BBMIC baseline (T1) mean of 18.19 with the pre-BBMTTL1 (T4) mean of 15.67 was statistically significant (p < 0.046) with an effect size estimate using Cohen's d = 0.46 in the moderate range.

Impact of the BBMIC training on dependent measures

Stress overload scale-short

The pretest (T1) estimated marginal means of the *Personal Vulnerability* (PV) subscale of the SOS-S was 10.69 (n=38) and decreased significantly to 9.69 after BBMIC. When subjected to a Multivariate Repeated Measures analysis of Covariance, the dependent variables yielded an F=8.668 with df=12 and p<0.001. Pairwise Comparisons of the marginal means across the 3 time periods for SOS-S Personal Vulnerability (n=29) (see Figure 2A) shows the initial decrease from the T1 mean of 10.69 to the T2 mean of 9.69 in not statistically significant (p<0.287), but the T1 mean compared to the T3 mean of 7.97 is significant (p<0.001). The T1 PSS total score was used as a covariate with a value of 18.138. In a similar analysis of the SOS-S *Event Load* subscale the Pairwise Comparisons of the marginal means (n=38) (see Figure 2B) shows a significant drop from 15.69 (T1) to 13.38 (T2) (p<0.028). The decrease in marginal means from 15.69 (T1) to 10.90 (T3) is also statistically significant (p<0.001).

The SOS-S can be analyzed by placing each participant's scores on a 2 × 2 matrix (Figure 2C) with Event Load as the vertical axis and Personal Vulnerability on the horizontal. The graph divides into 4 categories by a vertical line drawn at the Personal Vulnerability population norm (μ_{PV} =9.15) and a horizontal line drawn at the Event Load population norm (μ_{EL} =12.29). The resulting quadrants sort participants into "Challenged," "High-Stress," "Low- Stress" or "Fragile" categories. The pretest (T1) SOS-S identified 17 of the 38 participants (45%) in the High Stress category (32). In Figure 2C data points for participants who later dropped out of the study "Leavers" are designated by yellow triangles (n=9). Those who stayed appear as blue circles (n=29). A blue circle over a yellow triangle indicates a score (data point) that is the same for one Stayer and one Leaver. Figure 2D shows SOS-S at T3 (n=29) when only 5 of the 29 (17%) were identified as "High Stress." Thus, the percentage of participants at high risk for developing a stress-related disorder at T1 decreased substantially from 45 to 17% at T3.

Exercise induced feelings inventory

Pairwise comparisons of marginal means for the EFI subscales (n=29) are shown in Figure 3:

3A. EFI Positive Engagement means showed statistically significant increases from 6.27 (T1) to 7.98 (T2) (p < 0.001), but dropped to to 6.69 (T3) which was still significantly better that at T1 (p < 0.037).

3B. EFI Revitalization Scale means showed a statistically significant increase from 2.86 (T1) to 5.62 (T2) (p < 0.001), but dropped slightly to 5.31 (T3), which was still significantly better than at T1 (p < 0.001). The difference of 0.31 between T2 and T3 is not significant (p < 1.0).

3C. EFI Exhaustion Scale means showed statistically significantly decreases from 6.45 (T1) to 4.45 (T2) (p < 0.018) and 4.0 (T3) (p < 0.014).

3D. EFI Tranquility Scale means showed statistically significant increase from 4.38 (T1) to 7.27 (T2) (p < 0.001) and stayed relatively unchanged to 7.03 (T3) (p_{T2-T3} < 1.0).

Subjective changes in indicators of psychophysiological state

Participants rated the level of improvement they experienced after the first 3 days of BBMIC (T2) on a 7-point Likert-type scale, which was collapsed into five categories by combining "strong" with "very strong improvement" scores, as well as combining "modest" with "moderate improvement" (see Figure 4). No subjects reported "no improvement." Therefore, that category was dropped, leaving four categories. On average, including all items, approximately 10% of respondents felt that an item was not a problem for them; about 22% reported slight improvement; 41% modest to moderate improvement; and 28% strong to very strong improvement in 22 indicators of psychophysiological states (n=36). For example, calmness and peacefulness are associated with feelings of safety and higher PNS activity versus tension, worry, and anger, which are associated with feeling threatened and defensive states of higher SNS system activity (15, 16, 19).

Compliance

All participants who completed BBMIC were asked to keep a log of the time they spent each day practicing BBM techniques on their own (Solo) and in Group Practice Sessions led by BBM senior instructors throughout the 6 weeks period of practice. The goal for 100% compliance was 20 min/day solo practice (20 min/day × 6 days/ wk. × 6 wks = 720 min) plus one 45 min group practice session per week (45 min/wk. × 6 wks = 270 min). Of the 38 participants, 34 submitted practice logs weekly through SurveyMonkey (see Table 1).



FIGURE 2

Stress Overload Scale-Short (SOS-S). **(A)** Pretest (T1) estimated marginal means of the Personal Vulnerability (PV) subscale was 10.69 and decreased to 9.69 at T2. Six weeks later (T3) PV score decreased significantly to 7.97 (p<0.001), below the normative mean score (dashed line). The T1 Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) total score was used as a covariate, value=18.138. **(B)** Pretest (T1) estimated marginal means of the Event Load (EL) subscale was 15.69 and decreased significantly to 13.38 (p<0.028) at T2. SOS-S estimated marginal means decreased significantly to 10.90 (p<0.001) at T3 and was below the normative mean score (dashed line). The T1 PSS total score was used as a covariate, value=18.138. **(C)** A scatterplot of Baseline (T1) scores shows Event Load on the vertical axis and Personal Vulnerability on the horizonal axis. Dashed lines represent the normative population mean scores (μ_{PV} =9.15) and (μ_{EL} =12.29). The resulting four quadrants indicate characterizations as Challenged (Low Risk), Low Stress (Low Risk), Fragile (Low Risk) and High Stress (High Risk). Blue circle=1 subject who stayed in the study; Yellow diamond=1 subject who dropped out. **(D)** 6 weeks post (T3) matrix with Event Load on the vertical axis and Personal Vulnerability on the horizonal axis. Dashed lines are at the normative population mean scores (μ_{PV} =9.15) and (μ_{EL} =12.29). Blue circle=1 subject; Blue circle with black border=2 subjects with the same score.



EFI Subscales Estimated Marginal Means over time. (A) Positive Engagement. (B) Revitalization. (C) Physical Exhaustion. (D) Tranquility. The three time points are pretest baseline (T1), 3 days posttest (T2), and 6week posttest (T3). The initial improvement in engagement from T1 to T2 was not sustained at T3. However, statistically significant improvements from T1 to T2 in revitalization, physical exhaustion, and tranquility were maintained at T3.

Based on the mean practice times reported, participants met 85% of the goal for Group Practice; 44% of the goal for solo practice; and overall 55% of the total practice goal.

Qualitative data

A total of 106 comments submitted by 34 of the participants were organized into eight themes for each question. The most frequent responses were as follow:

- 1. What did you like the most about BBMIC? Breathing techniques 25%; scientific background and examples 11%; practicality, applicability, and easiness of techniques 11%; environment/organization of the course 9%; time for self- care 7%; tapping 7%; other.
- 2. What can be improved in the BBMIC? Move lectures to day-1 19%; more breakout rooms 14%; smaller work groups 8%; in-person workshops 8%; other.

3. How can BBM practices be helpful to students (see Figure 5). Better focus 24%; calm and relax 24%; stress/anxiety and anger management 18%; self-regulation 11%; more alert and aware 10%; positivity 5%; other.

Adverse reactions

Participants were encouraged to report any adverse experiences during BBMIC group sessions and home practice. During each session the BBM teachers did "check-ins" by asking the participants how they were feeling and encouraging them to share positive and negative experiences related to the practices. In addition, visually monitoring students enabled teachers to observe how they were doing the breath practices and any signs of tension, distress, or discomfort.



FIGURE 4

Subjective Changes in Indicators of Psychophysiological State from Baseline (T1) to 3days posttest (T2): The vertical axis lists psychological and physical items, including qualities, functions, and states that reflect or are strongly associated with psychophysiological states. Each bar shows the proportion (%) of participants who rated each item on a scale of severity condensed into four categories from left to right: "not a problem," "slight improvement," "modest to moderate improvement," or "strong to very strong improvement."

	Mean practice time over 6 weeks $n = 34$								
	Mean group Practice minutes	Mean total Practice minutes							
Practice goal	270	720	990						
Reported practice	230.3	316.4	546.7						
Mean % of practice goal completed	85%	44%	55%						

TABLE 1 Group mean practice times and compliance with practice goals.

During the 6 weeks of practice from T2 to T3, participants reported their group practice time and solo practice time, which were combined for total practice time in minutes. The group mean reported practice time compared to group practice goals yielded the compliance as the percent (%) of practice goal completed.

No serious or persistent adverse reactions occurred. On the first day of learning Coherent Breathing, several participants reported that they felt uncomfortable as though they could not prolong their breath enough. However, by the second day, all but a few were breathing more comfortably at 5 cpm. Some experienced sad feelings transiently. Several participants had recently lost close relatives or friends and were in grief. They took time out as needed. One woman could not reduce her respiratory rate below 20 cpm. She was referred for medical evaluation. A few participants noted transient muscle aches as tension was released. Most reported feeling better physically and emotionally by the end of each BBMIC session. One participant with asthma and allergies



be Helpful to Students? Each sector of the pire represents a way in which the participants thought that students could benefit from BBM practices. The numbers show how many participants made a comment related to each sector and the percentage (%) of the total comments they represented.

found it stressful to slow her respiratory rate to 5 cpm. Instead, she was given an audio track to pace her breath at 6 cpm which was more comfortable. Most people find that over time Coherent Breathing improves asthma, but when they are having acute asthma symptoms, they may not be able to breathe at 5 cpm and trying to do so may exacerbate their difficulties. This can

be prevented by instructing them to use Breath Moving during Coherent Breathing and, if necessary, by breathing at a slightly faster rate.

Individuals recovering from COVID are instructed to do coherent breathing lying in prone position and to breathe very gently at a rate that does not cause any strain. They are also taught to do the other breath practices very gently and rest when needed. One pregnant participant was uncomfortable sitting. She was instructed to lie down during Coherent Breathing. She was advised not to do breath holds, forceful breaths, or rapid breathing.

Discussion

Background and context

COVID effects on the regional integrated support for education Northern Ireland

Healthcare agencies, like RISE NI, have been subjected to increased levels of psychological stress since the COVID-19 pandemic began (12, 42). As conscientious caregivers, they felt responsible not only for the wellbeing of the children and families they serve, but also for their own families. Moral distress, a precursor to moral injury, can occur when staff cannot provide the needed services, for example, during the COVID pandemic (43). Evidence suggests that in agencies providing services for children with disability or developmental delay, the four main factors that impact the effectiveness of workers in providing services are: engagement with the workplace, engagement with clients, professional capacity, and staff wellbeing (44).

The effects of COVID on children and families in Northern Ireland

A study led by the National Children's Bureau highlighted the impact of the COVID pandemic on children and youth with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), their families, and those who support them (18). The report noted: (1) fear, insecurity, and worry about the health of their children and themselves, (2) social isolation and loneliness, already problematic for children with SEND, was exacerbated by the closing of schools and other activities as well as quarantine requirements, (3) loss of support from caregivers and support workers from other agencies who could no longer do home visits, (4) loss of learning and development during school lockdowns or changes in how schools functioned, and (5) worsening of stress on the already strained services.

Working under such adversity affects stress response systems and leads to psychophysiological states of defense, as evidenced by the baseline data which showed high levels of perceived stress, stress overload, and physical exhaustion, as well as low levels of tranquility, energy, mood, and social engagement. Many of these manifestations of the stress-related psychophysiological states are associated with impaired effectiveness at work and at home, poorer quality of life, ill health and increased vulnerability to stress-related disorders.

Neurophysiological theories: the Polyvagal theory and the Vagal-GABA theory

According to the Polyvagal Theory of Stephen Porges, we can perceive the environment as safe ("green zone"), unsafe ("orange zone"), or life threatening ("red zone"). When we feel safe, the myelinated fibers of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) (within the vagus nerves) are orchestrating an autonomically balanced psychophysiological state of elevated heart rate variability (an indicator of health and longevity), social engagement and non-defensiveness, wherein our emotions are well regulated, and we are able to trust, bond, love, be intimate, self-soothe, heal, feel empathy and compassion, and cooperate with others (15, 16, 45).

When we feel threatened (unsafe), the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) becomes more dominant, inducing a psychophysiological state of defense in which heart rate variability is low, social engagement declines, and we become mobilized for fight or flight. This behavioral activation is necessary for survival, but is accompanied by emotion dysregulation, anger, fear, mistrust, hypervigilance, and overreactivity (4, 16). In a situation perceived as life-threatening, when we can neither fight nor escape, the nervous system may default to the evolutionarily older unmyelinated vagal pathways associated with a state of low heart rate variability wherein the social engagement network cannot function. In addition, this can lead to freeze reactions, disconnection, dissociation, or numbing.

The neurophysiological theory of mechanisms contributing to the effects of voluntarily regulated breathing exercises articulated by Brown and Gerbarg (4, 14, 39) hypothesizes that:

- 1. Changing the pattern of breathing changes afferent interoceptive messages from the respiratory system (mechanoreceptors, chemoreceptors, and baroreceptors) that ascend through the vagus nerves to brainstem nuclei and from there to the main central regulatory areas, including the limbic system, hypothalamus, thalamus, interoceptive (insular) cortex, prefrontal cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex (16, 17, 46–49).
- 2. Slow breath exercises, particularly Coherent Breathing, balances the autonomic nervous system by reducing the overactivity of the sympathetic branch, as occurs in anxiety disorders and PTSD, and by boosting the underactivity of the parasympathetic branch (13, 38, 50, 51). This is consistent with the changes perceived stress and psychophysiological state.
- 3. When the sympathetic nervous system is over-active it consumes more energy and generates more free radicals as byproducts. Reducing sympathetic system overactivity reduces this excess energy expenditure. The parasympathetic system is responsible for restoring energy reserves. Increasing parasympathetic system activity restores the depleted energy reserves. The net result is increased energy and decreased exhaustion. Participant reporting of significant improvements in exhaustion at T2 and T3, despite the fact that their workloads and stressors were virtually the same at all test points are consistent with hypothesis #3.
- 4. The Vagal-GABA Theory of Inhibition hypothesizes that slow coherent breathing increases levels of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), the main inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain. Furthermore, increased GABA transmission from the prefrontal cortex and insular cortex could inhibit the overactivity that occurs in the amygdala in anxiety disorders and PTSD (52). A Mass Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS) study showed increased levels of GABA in the thalamus of patients with Major Depression who participated in a 12 week program

of yoga and Coherent Breathing at 5 cpm (52). Test results showing improvements in tension, worry, calmness, mood, peacefulness, sleep, and tranquility are consistent with improved emotion regulation and inhibition of amygdalar over-reactivity.

- 5. Breathing entrains the electrical activity of the brain. Voluntarily controlling the breath pattern further increases the entrainment in critical areas such as the insular cortex and amygdala (20, 21). Slow breathing induces synchronous alpha waves across broad areas of the cerebral cortex, consistent with a state of calm attention and awareness, as indicated on the Subjective Indicators of Psychophysiological States.
- 6. Slow breathing, such as Coherent Breathing, activates the social engagement system and enhances feelings of safety, trust, friendliness, empathy, connection, and bonding (4, 22–24), as documented by the Subjective Indicators of Psychophysiological States.
- Slow gentle breath practices may increase levels of oxytocin, enhancing feelings of closeness, trust, safety, bonding, and love (4, 16, 53) that are consistent with items on the Subjective Indicators of Psychophysiological States.

Breath-Body-Mind practices may improve both stress resilience and trauma recovery through: (1) strengthening and activating the myelinated pathways of the PNS such that the individual develops greater ability to sustain the feeling of safety and calmness, even under multiple prolonged stressors and (2) learning to activate the PNS while reducing overactivity of the SNS, providing a means to calm down and shift out of the perceived threat "orange zone" and back into the feeling of safety "green zone" (15, 16, 19).

Breath-Body-Mind affects psychophysiological states during and after mass disasters

In mass disasters and in clinical studies, BBM practices have significantly reduced symptoms of anxiety disorders, stress, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder, including in populations affected by mass disasters, for example, the 2001 New York World Trade Center attacks; Gulf Horizon oil spill; military service; war and genocide in South Sudan, Rwanda, Myanmar, and Ukraine; kidnapping, and trafficking in Nigeria and South Sudan (54-57). BBM programs are specifically designed for situations in which a small number of caregivers with a limited amount of time must serve a large population of individuals experiencing stress, trauma, disaster, or illness such as COVID-19. Traditional mind-body programs offer hundreds of worthwhile practices, but these may require months or years of training. In contrast BBM has distilled sets of simple, relatively short practices that are safe and effective for most people, can be easily modified for those with physical or mental conditions, are accepted across cultures and ethnicities, require no equipment or supplies, and can be delivered by community extenders.

In 2002, Jyoti Manuel founded Special Yoga, a program for children with special needs, disabilities, developmental disorders, and/or trauma. She has worked for the National Health Service (NHS) and education authorities, providing in-house training and programs in schools, and through clinical teams of occupational therapists, physiotherapists, and other specialists. In 2019, Manuel began BBM training and eventually became a BBM Level-4 teacher. She found that the breath-centered practices were easily adapted and rapidly effective for the children she treats. Manuel, Gerbarg, and Brown integrated Special Yoga with BBM techniques for children with learning disabilities and other special needs and for the wider population of children and families affected by the COVID pandemic, stress, war, and trauma. Manuel contributed her knowledge and experience to the development of the child curriculum of BBM training and she co-taught RISE NI staff during the BBM courses.

The neurophysiological platforms affected by BBM techniques support restoration of autonomic balance (reduce the overactivity of the SNS and increase the underactivity of the PNS), the sense of safety, and interoception (perceptions of sensations arising from inside the body). Furthermore, evidence suggests that these changes activate the social engagement and Bonding systems and reduce defensive behaviors (15, 16, 45). Also, the breath and movement exercises can improve respiratory function, endurance, blood pressure, and inflammation (58, 59).

Participation in BBMIC was associated with significant improvements on PSS, SOS-S, EFI, and Subjective Indicators of Psychophysiological State. These changes were in the expected direction of positive improvement, based on previous studies. They are also consistent with a shift from a defensive state of increased sympathetic tone and decreased parasympathetic tone, described by Porges as the "Orange Zone" to a state of feeling safe (non-defensive) with increased parasympathetic tone and reduced sympathetic tone, the "Green Zone" (15, 16). Based on their personal experience of the changes that occurred during BBMIC, the RISE staff anticipated that the practices would benefit their students in comparable ways: calm and relax; better focus; stress/ anxiety and anger management; self-regulation; and more alert and aware.

This study met its three objectives:

- 1. The study evaluated the effects of the BBMIC on COVIDrelated stress in RISE NI staff.
- 2. Participation in the BBMIC was associated with significant improvements on standardized measures of stress, PSS and SOS-S. The SOS-S matrix demonstrated substantial reduction in the number of participants who were at high risk for developing a stress-related condition, thereby reducing their risk of adverse effects from COVIDrelated stress;
- 3. The study evaluated and quantified the degree of subjective improvement on 22 indicators of psychophysiological states following BBMIC. The PSS, SOS-S, and EFI subscale items are also associated with psychophysiological states, adding evidence of improvement on standardized tests. The positive direction of all of these changes is consistent with the hypothesized underlying mechanisms of action.

Study strengths

Study strengths included the use of manualized, previously tested BBM interventions taught by experienced faculty (Dr.

Brown, Dr. Gerbarg, Jyoti Manuel, and BBM senior teachers). Another strength was the use of codes to preserve participant confidentiality (particularly in their workplace) and blinding of those who collected and analyzed the data. The faculty were trained and led by Dr. Brown and Dr. Gerbarg who created the BBM programs and who have taught BBM for over 15 years to disaster survivors and others with stress, trauma, and stress-related physical conditions. To provide high quality, consistent teaching, all BBM assistant faculty were trained and certified in BBM Levels 3 or 4 by Dr. Brown and Dr. Gerbarg. Additionally, thrice daily meetings enabled the teachers to discuss the participants and receive guidance and supervision from Drs. Brown and Gerbarg. Thus, problems could be addressed quickly. Individual coaching was provided as needed for participants who had difficulty performing the practices.

Study limitations

This study of professional healthcare employees had no control group. A randomized controlled study is needed to compare the impact of BBMIC on employees with a similar group who did not participate in the intervention. One cannot dismiss the possible effects of time away from work duties, interaction with BBM faculty, and group interaction. It is also possible that environmental conditions improved, reducing the load of stressors. This is unlikely because the COVID pandemic did not abate during the study, nor was there relief from the workload or psychosocial pressures.

The selection process may have favored employees who were more motivated to learn mind-body practices. Future studies could explore whether participant motivation correlates with responses to BBMIC.

Because the participant group was small, larger studies are needed to validate and extend the findings; studies in other settings are needed to expand generalizability. The one male who signed up for the study dropped out before the intervention. Inclusion of a larger proportion of males would address the possibility of genderrelated differences in response. Studies are also needed for more ethnically diverse populations.

All measures were subjective. The use of biological measures in future studies could provide objective evidence of changes in psychophysiological states, for example, measures of resting pulse, blood pressure, respiratory sinus arrhythmia or heart rate variability, cortisol levels, or inflammatory markers. Brain scan studies, including connectivity, would deepen our understanding of the neural mechanisms involved.

BBM is an interactive multi-component program that includes sequences of breathing, movement, Open Focus attention training, interoceptive awareness (akin to mindfulness), and group processes. Given that each exercise is chosen for its specific effects, one cannot clearly differentiate the relative contribution of the components to the overall effect.

Future directions

This study evaluated the effects of BBMIC on professional staff only. The next step would be to study how the program affects the way staff perform their jobs and the effects on children and families receiving care. Studying the effects of improvements in staff selfregulation on the children and the role of co-regulation in the children's responses would be worthwhile. The negative impact of COVID-related psycho-social stressors on children's mental health, social–emotional development, and, particularly for those with special needs, those affected by trauma, and marginalized students, cannot be overstated.

Voluntarily controlled breath practices open a portal to interoceptive communication networks which upregulate or downregulate brain functions. Breath practices can be used as non-invasive probes to explore changes in connectivity and neurotransmitter levels, shedding light on neurophysiological events that underly the observed clinical responses (60). It is possible to prescribe specific breath practices that integrate easily into treatments for a wide range of mental and physical disorders, as well as for prevention and performance enhancement. The practices used for everyday stress can be used for mass disasters to support better functioning and recovery.

Conclusion

Breath-Body-Mind programs have been shown to reduce symptoms of anxiety, depression, and PTSD in survivors of mass disasters internationally. The COVID pandemic caused acute and chronic psychological stress for healthcare workers, who experienced increased workloads while they and their families were suffering from COVID-related stressors. The stress was exacerbated by reductions in staff due to illness, family needs during school closures, worsening problems of children with disabilities and other special needs, and loss of other support services.

The staff at RISE NI showed elevated levels of stress on two standardized measures. Baseline data were consistent with states of defensiveness, fear, worry, and exhaustion. Completion of the Breath-Body-Mind Introductory Course (BBMIC) was associated with improvements in measures of stress, personal vulnerability, sense of work overload, revitalization, tranquility, physical exhaustion, mood, sleep, and indicators of positive, emotionally meaningful relatedness, including feelings of connectedness, kindness and empathy. These changes are consistent with the hypothesized psychophysiological shift from feeling unsafe (increased sympathetic activity) to feeling safe (increased parasympathetic activity). In accord with polyvagal theory, the state of feeling safe supports the social engagement system, including the ability to feel trust, close, connected, and empathic. These essential components of stress resilience are also necessary for optimal co-regulation and work performance during interactions with co-workers, children, and families, particularly during times of prolonged, increased stress, such as the COVID pandemic, war, population displacements, and other mass disasters.

Breath-centered mind-body programs, such as Breath-Body-Mind, may support staff recovery from COVID-related and other stressors. In effect, the BBMIC served to counteract adverse effects of COVID-related psychological stress on mental and physical health. Training healthcare employees in BBM may serve a preventive role by enhancing their abilities to tolerate stress and maintain their own wellbeing in a more robust psychophysiological

10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1199819

state. Further research is needed to validate and extend these promising findings towards the development of breath-centered individual and group treatments.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://dataverse.harvard.edu/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DVN/NO0VGP.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

Funding was provided through the Belfast Health and Social Care Trust (BHSCT) of Northern Ireland. BHSCT only paid for the Breath-Body-Mind teachers and technical staff to provide the BBMIC to its employees. PG, RB, and VC provided their time *pro bono* to do the evaluation and prepare the paper for publication.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Jyoti Jo Manuel, Founder of Special Yoga, who contributed to the content of the BBMIC, specifically

References

1. Adiukwu F, de Filippis R, Orsolini L, Gashi Bytyçi D, Shoib S, Ransing R, et al. Scaling up global mental health services during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Psychiatr Serv*. (2022) 73:231–4. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.202000774

2. Hill JE, Harris C, Danielle LC, Boland P, Doherty AJ, Benedetto V, et al. The prevalence of mental health conditions in healthcare workers during and after a pandemic: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Adv Nurs*. (2022) 78:1551–73. doi: 10.1111/jan.15175

3. Currie K, Gupta BV, Shivanand I, Desai A, Bhatt S, Tunuguntla HS, et al. Reductions in anxiety, depression and insomnia in health care workers using a non-pharmaceutical intervention. *Front Psych.* (2022) 13:983165. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.983165

4. Gerbarg PL, Brown RP, Streeter CC, Katzman M, Vermani M. Breath practices for survivor and caregiver stress, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder: connection, co-regulation, and compassion. *OBM Integr Complement Med.* (2019):4. doi: 10.21926/ obm.icm.1903945

5. Rouhbakhsh A, Badrfam R, Nejatisafa AA, Soori M, Sharafi SE, Etesam F, et al. Health care Professionals' perception of stress during COVID-19 pandemic in Iran: a qualitative study. *Front Psych*. (2022) 12:804637. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.804637

6. D'Alessandro AM, Ritchie K, McCabe RE, Lanius RA, Heber A, Smith P, et al. Healthcare workers and COVID-19-related moral injury: an interpersonally-focused drawing upon her expertise in working with children with special needs. This made the intervention even more relevant to the staff of RISE NI. She emphasized the importance of self-regulation by the caregiver to enable co-regulation in working with children. They also want to thank the BBM teachers who volunteered and worked extra hours to support the participants through the learning process.

Conflict of interest

PG and RB have written books and book chapters about Complementary and Integrative Medicine, including breath-centered mind-body practices. They sometimes receive financial remuneration or honoraria for teaching mind-body practices. They are Co-Founders and members of the Board of Directors of the Breath-Body-Mind Foundation, a not-for-profit 501(c)3 that provides pro bono crisis relief programs for survivors of mass disasters, scholarships for applicants who cannot afford to pay for training, and grants for research projects.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1199819/ full#supplementary-material

approach informed by PTSD. Front Psych. (2022) 12:784523. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2021.784523

7. Hurwitz S, Garman-McClaine B, Carlock K. Special education for students with autism during the COVID-19 pandemic: "each day brings new challenges". *Autism.* (2022) 26:889–99. doi: 10.1177/13623613211035935

8. Colvin MKM, Reesman J, Glen T. The impact of COVID-19 related educational disruption on children and adolescents: an interim data summary and commentary on ten considerations for neuropsychological practice. *Clin Neuropsychol.* (2022) 36:47–71. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2021.1970230

9. Meherali S, Punjani M, Louie-Poon S, Rahim KA, Dad JK, Salam RA, et al. Mental health of children and adolescents amidst COVID-19 and past pandemics: a rapid systematic review. *Int J Envir Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:3432. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph18073432

10. Kwon CY, Lee B. Systematic review of mind-body modalities to manage the mental health of healthcare workers during the COVID-19 era. *Healthcare*. (2022) 10:1027. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10061027

11. Halms T, Strasser M, Kunz M, Hasan A. How to reduce mental health burden in health care workers during COVID-19?-A scoping review of guideline recommendations. *Front Psych.* (2022) 12:770193. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.770193

12. Ibañez L, Roman P. Emotional and psychological implications for healthcare professionals in disasters or mass casualties: a systematic review. *J Nurs Manag.* (2022) 30:298–309. doi: 10.1111/jonm.13474

13. Zaccaro A, Piarulli A, Laurino M, Garbella E, Menicucci D, Neri B, et al. How breath- control can change your life: a systematic review on psycho-physiological correlates of slow breathing. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2018) 12:353. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2018.00353

14. Gerbarg PL, Brown RP. Neurobiology and neurophysiology of breath practices in psychiatric care. *Psychiatr Times*. (2016) 33:22–5.

15. Porges SW. The polyvagal theory: Neurophysiological foundations of emotions; attachment; communication; self-regulation. New York, NY: WW Norton & Company (2011) ISBN: 978–0–393-70700-7.

16. Porges SW, Carter S. Polyvagal theory and the social engagement system. Neurophysiological bridge between connectedness and health In: PL Gerbarg, RP Brown and PR Muskin, editors. *Complementary and integrative treatments in psychiatric practice*. Washington D.C.: American Psychiatric Association Publishing (2017). 221–41. ISBN: 9781615370313

17. Craig AD. Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2003) 13:500–5. doi: 10.1016/s0959-4388(03)00090-4

18. National Children's Bureau. Impact of COVID-19 on children and Young people with SEND in Northern Ireland. (2021) Available at: https://www.ncb.org.uk/about-us/ media-centre/news-opinion/insights-impact-covid-19-children-and-young-peoplesend-northern (Accessed July 19, 2021).

19. Brown RP, Gerbarg PL. Breathing techniques in psychiatric treatment: stress, anxiety, depression, attention, relationships, trauma, and mass disasters In: PL Gerbarg, RP Brown and PR Muskin, editors. *Complementary and integrative treatments in psychiatric practice*. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association Publishing (2017). 241–50. ISBN: 9781615370313

20. Herrero JL, Khuvis S, Yeagle E, Cerf M, Mehta AD. Breathing above the brain stem: volitional control and attentional modulation in humans. *J Neurophysiol.* (2019) 119:145–59. doi: 10.1152/jn.00551.2017

21. Hsu S-M, Tseng C-H, Hsieh C-W. Slow-paced inspiration regularizes alpha phase dynamics in the human brain. *J Neurophysiol.* (2020) 123:289–99. doi: 10.1152/jn.00624.2019

22. Geisler FCM, Kubiak T, Siewert K, Weber H. Cardiac vagal tone is associated with social engagement and self regulation. *Biol Psychol.* (2013) 93:279–86. doi: 10.1016/j. biops ycho.2013.02.013

23. Lischke A, Pahnke R, Mau-Moeller A, Behrens M, Grabe HJ, Freyberger HJ, et al. Inter-individual differences in heart rate variability are associated with inter-individual differences in empathy and alexithymia. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:229. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.00229

24. Miller JG. Physiological mechanisms of prosociality. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2018) 20:50–4. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.08.018

25. National Health Service. Health Research Authority (HRA). (2021) Available at: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/approvals-amendments/what-approvals-do-i-need/ (Accessed February 02, 2019).

26. Field A. *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. 5th* ed. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications, Inc. (2018).

27. Cohen S, Kamark T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of stress. J Health Soc Behav. (1983) 24:385–96. doi: 10.2307/2136404

28. Cohen S. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States In: S Spacapan and S Oskamp, editors. *The social psychology of health*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, Inc (1988). 31–67. ISBN-13: 978–0803931626

29. Gauvin L, Rejeski WJ. The exercise-induced feeling inentory: development and initial validation. J Sport Exerc Psychol. (1993) 15:403–23. doi: 10.1123/JSEP.15.4.403

30. Streeter CC, Gerbarg PL, Whitfield TH, Owen L, Johnston J, Silveri MM, et al. Treatment of major depressive disorder with Iyengar yoga and coherent breathing: a randomized controlled dosing study. *J Altern Complement Med.* (2017) 23:201–7. doi: 10.1089/acm.2016.0140

31. Amirkhan JH. Stress overload: a new approach to the assessment of stress. Am J Community Psychol. (2012) 49:55–71. doi: 10.1007/s10464-011-9438-x

32. Amirkhan JH, Urizar GG, Clark S. Criterion validation of a stress measure: the stress overload scale. *Psychol Assess.* (2015) 27:985–96. doi: 10.1037/pas0000081

33. Brown RP, Gerbarg PL. *The healing power of the breath. Simple techniques to reduce stress and anxiety, enhance concentration, and balance your emotions.* Boulder, CO: Shambhala Publications (2012) ISBN: 978-I-59030-902-5.

34. Cabrera A, Kolacz J, Pailhez G, Bulbena-Cabre A, Bulbena A, Porges SW. Assessing body awareness and autonomic reactivity: factor structure and psychometric properties of the body perception questionnaire-short form (BPQ-SF). *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2017) 27:e1596. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1596

35. Porges SW. *Body Perception Questionnaire*. College Park, MA: University of Maryland (1993) Available at: (Accessed January 02, 2020)https://www.stephenporges.com/body-scales.

36. Joseph CN, Porta C, Casucci G, Casiraghi N, Maffeis M, Rossi M, et al. Slow breathing improves arterial Baroreflex sensitivity and decreases blood pressure in

essential hypertension. *Hypertension*. (2005) 46:714–8. doi: 10.1161/01. HYP.0000179581.68566.7d

37. Steffen PR, Austin T, DeBarros A, Brown T. The impact of resonance frequency breathing on measures of heart rate and heart rate variability, blood pressure, and mood. *Front Public Health.* (2017) 5:222. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00222

38. You M, Laborde S, Zammit N, Iskra M, Borges U, Dosseville F. Single slow-paced breathing session at six cycles per minute: investigation of dose-response relationship on cardiac vagal activity. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:12478. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph182312478

39. Brown RP, Gerbarg PL. Sudarshan Kriya yogic breathing in the treatment of stress, anxiety, and depression: part I – neurophysiologic model. *J Altern Complement Med.* (2005) 11:189–201. doi: 10.1089/acm.2005.11.189

40. Fehmi L, Robbins J. The open-focus brain: harnessing the power of attention to heal mind and body. Boston: MA, Trumpeter Books (2007) ISBN: 978-I-59030-612-3.

41. Fehmi LG, Shor SB. Open focus attention training. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2013) 36:153–62. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2013.01.003

42. Hao Q, Wang D, Xie M, Tang Y, Dou Y, Zhu L, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of mental health problems among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Front Psych.* (2021) 12:567381. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.567381

43. American Psychiatric Association. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic guidance document. Moral injury during the COVID-19 pandemic. APA Committee on the psychiatric dimensions of disaster and COVID-19. Available at: https://www.psychiatry.org/File%20Library/Psychiatrists/APA-Guidance-COVID-19-Moral-Injury.pdf.

44. Young D, Gibbs L, Gilson K-M, Williams K, Reddihough D, Tracy J, et al. Understanding key worker experiences at an Australian early childhood intervention service. *Health Soc Care Community*. (2021) 29:e269–78. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13350

45. Critchley HD, Garfinkel SN. Interoception and emotion. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2017) 2017:7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.copysyc.2017.04.020

46. Porges SW. Polyvagal theory: a science of safety. *Front Integr Neurosci.* (2022) 16:871227. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2022.871227

47. Craig AD. Interoception & emotion a neuroanatomical perspective In: M Lewis, JM Haviland-Jones and LF Barrett, editors. *Handbook of emotions. 3rd* ed. New York, NY: The Guilford Press (2008). 272–92. ISBN: 9781462525348

48. Philippot P, Gaetane C, Blairy S. Respiratory feedback in the generation of emotion. *Cognit Emot.* (2002) 16:605–27. doi: 10.1080/02699930143000392

49. Liu J, Yu J. Spectrum of myelinated pulmonary afferents (II). Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. (2013) 305:R1059-64. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00125.2013

50. Beauchaine TP, Gatze-Kopp L, Mead HK. Polyvagal theory and developmental psychopathology: emotion. *Biol Psychol.* (2007) 74:174–84. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsycho.2005.08.008

51. Song HS, Lehrer PM. The effects of specific respiratory rates on heart rate and heart rate variability. *Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback*. (2003) 28:13–23. doi: 10.1023/a:1022312815649

52. Streeter CC, Gerbarg PL, Brown RP, Scott TM, Nielsen GH, Owen L, et al. Thalamic gamma aminobutyric acid level changes in major depressive disorder after a 12 week Iyengar yoga and coherent breathing intervention. *J Altern Complement Med.* (2020) 26:190–7. doi: 10.1089/acm.2019.0234

53. Jayaram N, Varambally S, Behere RV, Venkatasubramanian G, Arasappa R, Christopher R, et al. Effect of yoga therapy on plasma oxytocin and facial emotion recognition deficits in patients of schizophrenia. *Indian J Psychiatry*. (2013) 55:409–13. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.116318

54. Gerbarg PL, Wallace G, Brown RP. Mass disasters and mind-body solutions: evidence and field insights. *Int J Yoga Therap.* (2011) 2:23–34.

55. Gerbarg PL, Brown RP, Mansur S, Chapter SK. Survivors of mass disasters: breath-based mind-body interventions and global platforms In: S Okpaku, editor. *Innovations in global mental health*. Switzerland: Springer (2021). 1557–79. ISBN: 978-3-030-57296-9

56. Gerbarg PL, Brown RP. Online mind-body trauma relief for Ukrainians. *Glob Ment Health Psychiatry Rev.* (2022) 3:19–20.

57. Gerbarg PL, Brown RP. Mind-body interventions to reduce coronavirus pandemic stress and support long-term recovery. J Acupunct Tradit Med. (2021) 4:1–5.

58. Lehrer P, Kaur K, Sharma A, Shah K, Huseby R, Bhavsar J, et al. Heart rate variability biofeedback improves emotional and physical health and performance: a systematic review and Meta analysis. *Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback*. (2020) 45:109–29. doi: 10.1007/s10484-020-09466-z

59. Gerbarg PL, Jacob VE, Stevens L, Bosworth BP, Brown RP, Scherl EJ, et al. The effect of breathing, movement, and meditation on psychological and physical symptoms and inflammatory biomarkers in inflammatory bowel disease: a randomized controlled trial. *J Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2015) 21:2886–96. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0000000000568

60. Streeter CC, Gerbarg PL, Saper MD, Ciraulo DA, Brown RP. Effects of yoga on the autonomic nervous system, gamma-aminobutyric-acid, and allostasis in epilepsy, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Med Hypotheses.* (2012) 78:571–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2012.01.021



OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Charlie Falguera, University of the Philippines Manila, Philippines Abd Nasir, Airlangga University, Indonesia Alla Hemi, Bar-Ilan University, Israel Zia UI Mustafa, University of Science Malaysia, Malaysia

*CORRESPONDENCE Caroline Cohrdes ⊠ cohrdesc@rki.de

RECEIVED 29 March 2023 ACCEPTED 22 May 2023 PUBLISHED 12 June 2023

CITATION

Cohrdes C, Pryss R, Baumeister H, Eicher S, Knoll N and Hölling H (2023) Support- and meaning-focused coping as key factors for maintaining adult quality of life during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany. *Front. Public Health* 11:1196404. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1196404

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cohrdes, Pryss, Baumeister, Eicher, Knoll and Hölling. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Support- and meaning-focused coping as key factors for maintaining adult quality of life during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany

Caroline Cohrdes ^{1*}, Rüdiger Pryss ², Harald Baumeister ³, Sophie Eicher¹, Nina Knoll ⁴ and Heike Hölling ¹

¹Mental Health Research Unit, Department of Epidemiology and Health Monitoring, Robert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany, ²Institute of Clinical Epidemiology and Biometry, University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany, ³Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, ⁴Division of Health Psychology, Department of Education and Psychology, Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Introduction: During the COVID-19 pandemic, questions about both consequences and helpful strategies to maintain quality of life (QoL) have become increasingly important. Thus, the aim of this study was to investigate the distribution of coping factors during the COVID-19 pandemic, their associations with QoL and the moderating role of certain sociodemographic characteristics.

Methods: Analyses were based on cross-sectional self-reports from German adult participants (N = 2,137, 18-84 years, 52.1% female) of the CORONA HEALTH APP Study from July 2020 to July 2021. Multivariate regression analyses were used to predict (a) coping factors assessed with the Brief COPE and (b) QoL assessed with the WHOQOL-BREF while taking measurement time, central sociodemographic, and health characteristics into account.

Results: During the COVID-19 pandemic, German adults mostly pursued problem- and meaning-focused coping factors and showed a relatively good QoL [Mean values (M) from 57.2 to 73.6, standard deviations (SD) = 16.3-22.6], except for the social domain (M = 57.2, SD = 22.6), and with a decreasing trend over time (β from -0.06 to -0.11, ps < 0.01). Whereas, escape-avoidance coping was negatively related to all QoL domains ($\beta = -0.35$, p < 0.001 for psychological, $\beta = -0.22$, p < 0.001 for physical, $\beta = -0.13$, p = 0.045 for social, $\beta = -0.49$, p < 0.001 for environmental QoL), support- and meaning-focused coping showed positive associations with various QoL domains (β from 0.19 to 0.45, ps < 0.01). The results also suggested differences in the pursuit of coping factors as well as in the strength of associations with QoL by sociodemographic characteristics. Escape-avoidance-focused coping was negatively associated with QoL levels in older and less educated adults (simple slopes differed at ps < 0.001), in particular.

Conclusions: The results demonstrated what types of coping may be helpful to avoid QoL deterioration (i.e., support- and meaning-focused coping) and provide implications for future universal or targeted health promotion (i.e., older or less educated adults who lack social or instrumental support) and preparedness in the face of unknown challenging societal situations similar to that of the COVID-19 pandemic. Cross-sectional trends of enhanced use of escape-avoidance-focused

coping and QoL deterioration point toward a need for increased attention from public health and policy.

KEYWORDS

WHOQOL-BREF, quality of life, Brief COPE, coping, moderation, sociodemographic characteristics, public health promotion, COVID-19

1. Introduction

Based on the initial conceptual work of Lazarus and Folkman (1), individuals pursue distinct types of coping in response to stressful life events, where coping is defined as the (cognitive or behavioral) effort to adapt to adverse situations that are evaluated as personally harmful and exceeding a person's resources. Following this idea, initial coping research has focused on two different types of coping in response to a stressor: problem-focused coping, which is the attempt to actively manage or alter the current problem, and emotion-focused coping, which is the striving to regulate negative emotions raised by the current problem (1, 2). Later research has extended and complemented the conceptual framework by introducing the so-called meaning-focused coping [i.e., positive orientation and effort to find coherence and meaning in the current problem; (3-5)] and support-focused coping (i.e., seeking instrumental or emotional support) as a third and fourth type that individuals use to cope with current problems (4, 6). Such kind of four-factor solutions correspond with the original work of Carver (2) and a number of investigations of the Brief Coping Orientation of Problem Experience (Brief COPE) questionnaire (7, 8), as used in the present study.

However, it should be noted that a significant amount of studies found other ways of summarizing the coping factors of the Brief COPE inventory (9–11). In coping research, there are relatively diverse opportunities of summarizing and grouping coping factors of higher order in general, not least because of differing contextual or methodological approaches and measurement instruments (12, 13). Thus, it is questionable if coping efforts in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic are similar to other stressful life events and can be replicated or integrated into existing coping structures.

1.1. Coping during the COVID-19 pandemic

During the COVID-19 pandemic, as in other stressful life situations, adaptive coping ability offers the potential to decrease the risk of long-lasting negative consequences on health and wellbeing (14). Results from recent studies indicate that the general population has already been struggling with their psychological (15), social (16), and environmental wellbeing (17) due to COVID-19-related restrictions and long-term consequences on daily life (18). In Germany, after a temporary decrease during the first lockdown, there was an ongoing increasing trend of certain psychopathological symptoms and poor self-rated mental health over time (19). Information on the pursuit and efficacy of coping factors to reduce and prevent adverse effects on the general population in the long run is thus urgently needed (20–22). This becomes particularly apparent when considering that programs aiming at the universal promotion of coping skills are still seldom and rather group-specific (23) even though there is promising evidence on its potential efficacy in terms of population mental health (24).

Studies summarizing past evidence from stressful life events suggest that certain types can be more helpful than others and that people may differ in their situational application of such (25, 26). Across various stressors, coping factors reflecting active and focused efforts toward problem solution (problem-focused) and a positive orientation (meaning-focused) were predominantly associated with better health and wellbeing, whereas escapeavoidance-focused coping (emotion-focused) showed the opposite pattern (27-29). However, exceptional situations do not appear to allow the application of certain coping factors, such as when confronted with unfamiliar and overwhelming situations or lack of control, hampering the effort of problem-focused coping factors that aim to actively solve a problem (5, 27). Accordingly, other coping factors, such as acceptance or positive reappraisal (meaningfocused) and seeking instrumental or emotional support (supportfocused), may become even more important for positive health and wellbeing outcomes (5, 27).

Accordingly, individuals who reappraised the lockdown situation as a chance to rest or pursue hobbies, promote a healthy lifestyle (meaning focus), or seek social or instrumental support reported high life satisfaction and psychological wellbeing (14, 30). Furthermore, early observations revealed a less pronounced use of problem-focused coping and a relatively high use of emotionfocused coping during the COVID-19 pandemic (31). As in other stressful situations, emotion-focused coping, which is often operationalized as avoidance or denial, showed associations with decreased psychological wellbeing across different countries (20, 32, 33). However, the majority of these studies have focused on symptoms of psychopathology or psychological wellbeing and other wellbeing domains have received less attention. In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, financial constraints, and workand family-related challenges have been identified as additional major issues over long periods, underscoring the importance of considering the burden in the environmental and social life domains as well (34, 35).

1.2. Differences in coping based on sociodemographic factors

Regarding age-related differences in general, one pattern that was relatively robust in previous studies constitutes a decline in problem- and support-focused coping with older age (36, 37). Research on age differences in emotion-focused coping, on the other hand, yielded mixed results (37, 38). The inconclusive findings are likely related to different forms of operationalization of emotion-focused coping (12).

From a theoretical perspective, two main mechanisms are considered to explain age-related differences in coping. The first position assumes that coping varies inherently as a function of age (developmental interpretation), and the second position proposes that coping varies based on the type of situations one must face at different stages of life (contextual interpretation) (38, 39). Both theoretical approaches were complemented by the idea that individuals develop a preference for certain coping factors over time that correspond with personality and have proven to be effective in past situations (40). Against this background, an investigation of coping factors in contexts that are neither agespecific nor comparable to previous experiences appear particularly important to provide more insights into age-related aspects, such as during the current COVID-19 pandemic.

Actual findings of the COVID-19 pandemic suggest a higher risk of burden but also more efficient coping of older adults than younger adults due to less stress reactivity (41). Verhage et al. (42) recently identified acceptance and positive reframing as central coping factors among older adults, emphasizing a meaning focus. However, older adults also reported critically following mitigation measures to avoid an infection, which can be interpreted as higher acceptance of medical appropriateness and a problem-focused coping approach (42).

Besides age, individuals' sex has been discussed as a major source of between-person variation in the pursuit of coping factors across various situations (37, 43). As suggested by the socialization hypothesis (44), men are assumed to cope more actively and instrumentally, while women are assumed to cope more passively and emotionally. Men and women are also considered to differ in the respective situations with which they must cope (39) and in the biological basis of hormonal activity that explains sex differences in coping behaviors (summarized as "fight-or-flight" for males and "tend-and-befriend" for females; (6). Consistent with theoretical predictions, women most frequently reported more social supportseeking strategies than men (43, 45), and some evidence also suggests a more frequent use of emotion-focused strategies (45, 46). Evidence on sex differences in problem-focused coping is mixed (43, 45). However, because gender roles are constantly progressing, differences in preferences for coping factors might also change and require ongoing investigation (47).

Furthermore, the educational level is associated with health behaviors (48) and subjective perceptions regarding psychological, physical, social, and environmental wellbeing (49, 50). Individuals with higher levels of education may have more competencies, for instance, in terms of stress regulation (51) or help-seeking behavior (52), and greater access to relevant resources, such as healthrelated knowledge or well-paid jobs (48, 50). However, the role of educational levels for the use and efficacy of coping factors has not yet attracted sufficient scientific attention, particularly in the general population. Currently, increasing evidence suggests that both the educational level and health knowledge affected people's attitudes and behaviors when handling the COVID-19 pandemic (53, 54). Thus, factors and correlates of coping with the COVID-19 pandemic may also differ as a function of people's educational levels and have implications for public health prevention, but require further investigation.

1.3. The present study

Evidence on the factors individuals used to cope during the COVID-19 pandemic and associated restriction measures are still fragmentary but very important (22). Currently (May 10th, 2023), the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany is in the stage of leveling off after the sixths wave and has been demanding on people for a long time. Accordingly, the present study addressed the following exploratory questions (E) and hypotheses (H) to draw conclusions for future response and preparedness in similar demanding societal situations:

- 1) To what extent did people use different coping factors over a period of time characterized by different stages of the COVID-19 pandemic? Based on previous knowledge, we expected a generally high prevalent use of meaningfocused coping (H1) and aimed to explore the use of other coping factors (E1).
- 2) Did the pursuit of diverse coping factors differ among people grouped by relevant sociodemographic characteristics (age, sex, and educational level)? By considering previous indications of differences in coping, we expected that older age is associated with less problem-focused and support-focused coping, but higher meaning-focused coping (H2), whereas age differences in the use of escape-avoidance-focused coping require further exploration (E2a). Based on previous conflicting results, we aimed to gather further insights into possible differences in the frequency of problem-focused coping efforts between women and men (E2b). In addition, we explored whether individuals with low education may have used escapeavoidance-focused coping more often than those with high education (E2c).
- What types of coping factors were positively related to 3) wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic and may thus offer entry points for the maintenance of wellbeing in the general population? Since research has focused mainly on psychological wellbeing, we have broadened this perspective by adding physical, social and environmental wellbeing as outcomes. After considering findings from studies assessing other critical life events, we expected positive associations between meaning-focused coping and negative associations between escape-avoidance-focused coping and wellbeing (H3), whereas the roles of problem- and support-focused coping are currently unclear and need to be clarified (E3).
- 4) Did associations between coping factors and wellbeing differ among people stratified by relevant sociodemographic characteristics (age, sex and educational level) during the COVID-19 pandemic? Due to a lack of knowledge, we explored whether certain sociodemographic characteristics are moderators of these associations (E4).

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1196404

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Sample and procedure

The present research is part of the CORONA HEALTH App study, an observational app-based survey on psychological and physical health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic that started in July 2020 (55). The present analyses will use cross-sectional self-report data collected from July 2020 to July 2021, including a phase of relaxation after the second wave during the summer in 2020 (July till October 2020), intensification of restriction measures to combat the spreading of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany with the beginning of the third wave (November 2020 till January 2021: partial lockdown with restrictions on social contacts and traveling; Home office directive; closing of stores in the service sector and gastronomy; cancellation of all entertainment and leisure events; January till April 2021: lockdown; additional obligation to wear an FFP-2 mask in all public places and on public transport, proof of a negative Corona test upon entry into Germany), followed by stepwise relaxation of restriction measures and infection rates from April until July 2021. Participation was voluntary and without reimbursement but restricted to adults 18 years and older. Each participant provided informed consent. The CORONA HEALTH App study was conducted in accordance with the German medical products law and the data protection officer of the University of Würzburg, Germany. The procedures used in this study were in accordance with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments and was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Würzburg, Germany (No. 130/20-me).

2.2. Measures

2.2.1. Coping

Participants answered the German Brief COPE Inventory (2, 56) consisting of two items for each of the fourteen subscales. The instruction was to "please now assess to what extent the following statements apply to your thinking and acting since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic." Each statement was rated on a 4-point rating scale from "I have not been doing this at all" to "I have been doing this a lot." Although data-driven approaches reinforce the multidimensional conceptualization of coping, avoiding predetermined higher-order factors and using hierarchical factor analyses in every new investigation is recommended (12). Consequently, categorizations of coping differ somewhat in the coping research field with respect to the particular context and a situational or dispositional focus (56, 57). As recommended by Carver (2), Skinner et al. (12), and as performed by Knoll et al. (56), we therefore summarized the 14 subscales (often referred to as "strategies") to latent factors by performing both exploratory principal component analyses (PCA) with oblique rotation and subsequent confirmatory factor analyses (CFA) with the R package lavaan (58) based on random half split samples. A detailed description can be obtained from the Supplementary material 1. The final model with four latent coping factors (i.e., problem-focused, support-focused, escape-avoidance-focused, and meaning-focused) suggested good fit with $\chi^2_{(45)} = 2,105.86$. p < 0.001, CFI = 0.96, TLI = 0.94. RMSEA = 0.05, SRMR = 0.03 and showed great overlap with the original conceptual work of Carver (2) as well as prior studies with German-speaking samples (56, 59). We built coping factors analogous to the method used by Knoll et al. (56) by calculating the mean of subscales, ranging from min = 1 to max = 4. Internal consistencies were $\alpha = 0.76$ for problemfocused coping (Active Coping and Planning subscales), 0.83 for support-focused coping (Emotional Support and Instrumental Support subscales), 0.73 for escape-avoidance-focused coping (Denial, Substance Use and Self-Blame subscales) and 0.73 for meaning-focused coping (Positive Reframing, Humor, and Accepting subscales).

2.2.2. Quality of life (QoL)

We used the German version of the WHOQOL-BREF questionnaire as an indicator for quality of life (60, 61), a standardized well-established 26-item instrument comprising the four subscales of psychological (e.g., "To what extent do you feel your life to be meaningful?") physical (e.g., "How satisfied are you with your capacity for work?"), social (e.g., "How satisfied are you with the support you get from your friends?") and environmental wellbeing (e.g., "Have you enough money to meet your needs?") answered on a 5-point rating scale. Consistent with the scoring, values were transformed into scales ranging from 0 to 100 with a mean of 50, with higher values indicating better QoL. Internal consistencies were $\alpha = 0.85$ for psychological QoL, 0.87 for physical QoL, 0.72 for social QoL, and 0.80 for environmental QoL.

2.2.3. Educational level

Participants were asked to indicate their highest educational degree, and answers were categorized into three levels: low (no school-leaving certificate or graduation after 9 years), moderate (vocational baccalaureate diploma or similar), or high (high school graduation) in accordance with the Comparative Analyses of Social Mobility in Industrial Nations Index [CASMIN; (62)].

2.2.4. Health status

We used three items as indicators of the participant's current health status, the presence of a chronic long-term illness [no = 0, yes = 1, Mini European Health Module; (63)], a (lifetime) medical diagnosis of mental disorder (no = 0, yes = 1), and a current or past COVID-19 infection based on a medically proven positive test (no = 0, yes = 1).

2.2.5. Measurement time

The eligible participation in this study amount to a total of 2,137 over the period of 1 year. To address the time of data collection in our analyses, we have aggregated the cross-sectional points in time on a monthly basis and included them as a metric variable in our analyses. The average number of participants by month was n = 365 (SD = 296.85).

2.3. Statistical analyses

Analyses were performed with R statistics (64). First, we performed multivariate regression analyses with robust standard errors to investigate differences in the use of coping factors. The four latent factors were regressed on the participant's age, sex, educational level, health status (chronic condition, mental disorder, and COVID-19 infection), and measurement time (aggregated by month). Next, we performed a second multivariate regression analysis with robust standard errors to investigate differences in associations between coping factors and the four QoL domains in various German adult population groups. The health status indicators and the measurement time were entered as control variables, and the four coping factors, sociodemographic characteristics, and their interactions were entered as predictors of the four QoL domains. Significant interactions were probed with simple slope analyses using the R statistics interactions package (65). Finally, we performed post-hoc power analyses for both multivariate regression models with the R statistics pwr package (66).

3. Results

The present analyses are based on a convenience sample of N = 2,156 participants. Inspection of the plausibility of answers (e.g., correspondence between similar items) careless responding (straight-lining and intraindividual response variability) and extreme outliers (Mahalanobis distance, Cook's distance) led to the exclusion of 19 participants. Thus, the final sample consisted of 2,137 participants (52.1% female, 47.3% male, 0.7% transgender; mean age = 40.98, SD = 13.62). Descriptive statistics as presented in Table 1 include male, female and transgender persons. For robust multivariate regression analyses (Tables 2, 3) including investigations of sex interactions, the 15 transgender participants were excluded due to statistical problems associated with the small group size, resulting in N = 2,122 participants (47.5% female, 52.5% male; mean age = 41.03 years, SD = 13.23 years). No values were missing, except for five not assignable educational degrees (acquired abroad), which were excluded case wise.

3.1. Use of coping factors

On average, participants reported the use of problem- and meaning-focused coping factors most frequently, while escapeavoidance-focused coping was reported least frequently. The results also suggest several differences in the pursuit of coping factors among different German adult population groups (see Table 2). An older age was associated with a less frequent use of coping factors in general, except for meaning-focused coping. Men reported problem- and support-focused coping less frequently than women, and individuals with a low educational level used factors of problem-, support-, and meaning-focused coping less frequently, whereas they reported a more frequent use of escape-avoidance-focused coping than individuals with a moderate or high educational level. In addition, the participant's health status was related to the use of diverse coping factors: The self-reported diagnosis of a mental disorder was related to less use of meaning-focused coping and a more frequent use of escape-avoidance-focused as well as support-focused coping; individuals with a chronic condition more frequently reported escape-avoidance coping; a current or past COVID-19 infection was associated with more escape-avoidance and support-focused coping. The measurement time was unrelated to coping efforts, except for a positive association with escape-avoidance coping. Supplementary Figure 1 in the SUP shows the use of coping factors averaged across time.

Effect sizes for associations between the considered sociodemographic or health characteristics and coping factors were small to moderate, as was the proportion of explained variance, ranging from 4% (problem-focused coping) to 17% (escape-avoidance-focused coping; see Table 2).

3.2. Associations between coping factors and quality of life domains

Overall, participants' QoL was relatively high, as suggested by mean values considerably exceeding the average norm value of 50 scheme (60, 61), except for the comparatively lowest value of the social domain (Table 1). Controlling for measurement time, relevant general health and sociodemographic characteristics, coping factors substantially contributed to the explanation of variance in participants' QoL levels. In particular, escapeavoidance-focused coping was relatively strongly associated to poor QoL in all four domains (see Tables 3, 4). Additionally, supportfocused coping was moderately related to higher psychological and social QoL levels and meaning-focused coping to higher psychological as well as environmental QoL levels. Coping factors, measurement time, general health and sociodemographic factors explained 45% of the variance in psychological QoL, 40% of the variance in physical QoL, 20% of the variance in social QoL, and 32% of the variance in environmental QoL (Tables 3, 4).

Older participants had better psychological and environmental QoL than younger adults, and male participants showed better psychological and physical QoL but worse social QoL than female participants. The educational level was positively associated with physical and environmental QoL, and individuals with high education scored better than those with low education. Moreover, a chronic somatic condition or mental disorder were negatively associated with each of the four QoL domains, whereas a COVID-19 infection was unrelated to QoL. Later measurement time was related to lower QoL levels (Tables 3, 4).

3.3. Moderation effects of age, sex, and educational level on the associations of coping factors with QoL

Participants' age moderated associations between several coping factors and QoL domains (Supplementary Figure 2 of the SUP). In particular, the more older adults used escape-avoidance-focused coping, the lower was their psychological, social and

		Coping style <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)				Quality of life <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)					
	Ν	Prob	Sup	Esc	Mea	Psy	Phy	Soc	Env		
Age group											
18-29	494	2.54 (0.62)	2.22 (0.75)	1.61 (0.55)	2.56 (0.62)	56.2 (21.4)	67.5 (18.4)	57.2 (22.5)	70.5 (16.5)		
30-44	828	2.49 (0.63)	2.06 (0.79)	1.41 (0.47)	2.44 (0.60)	60.8 (20.1)	69.0 (19.2)	57.2 (22.0)	73.4 (16.5)		
45-59	590	2.51 (0.65)	1.90 (0.67)	1.31 (0.39)	2.36 (0.63)	65.2 (23.8)	68.0 (21.8)	56.2 (23.8)	75.2 (16.6)		
60+	225	2.34 (0.64)	1.58 (0.56)	1.24 (0.35)	2.22 (0.61)	61.0 (21.1)	68.3 (20.2)	59.2 (22.1)	77.1 (15.7)		
Sex											
Female	1,009	2.59 (0.62)	2.17 (0.72)	1.46 (0.48)	2.44 (0.61)	58.2 (20.7)	65.9 (20.2)	58.0 (22.1)	72.8 (16.6)		
Male	1,113	2.39 (0.63)	1.81 (0.67)	1.35 (0.47)	2.40 (0.63)	64.3 (21.1)	71.2 (19.7)	56.4 (23.2)	74.6 (15.9)		
Transgender	15	2.43 (0.53)	2.20 (0.75)	1.59 (0.57)	2.40 (0.41)	44.7 (16.6)	52.9 (18.8)	48.9 (18.1)	64.0 (13.1)		
Educational level											
Low	146	2.34 (0.69)	1.91 (0.78)	1.65 (0.63)	2.14 (0.63)	51.2 (22.2)	56.2 (21.5)	51.3 (23.3)	61.2 (19.1)		
Moderate	842	2.42 (0.65)	1.90 (0.72)	1.40 (0.49)	2.37 (0.63)	60.2 (21.5)	66.4 (20.9)	56.1 (23.1)	71.8 (16.7)		
High	1,141	2.57 (0.60)	2.09 (0.71)	1.38 (0.43)	2.49 (0.60)	62.8 (20.2)	71.3 (18.7)	58.7 (21.9)	76.6 (14.5)		
Chronic conditi	on ^a										
Yes	961	2.48 (0.64)	2.00 (0.73)	1.45 (0.51)	2.37 (0.64)	56.0 (22.4)	59.7 (21.8)	53.0 (23.5)	69.6 (17.6)		
No	1,176	2.50 (0.62)	2.00 (0.72)	1.38 (0.44)	2.46 (0.60)	65.0 (19.0)	75.4 (15.6)	60.6 (21.3)	76.9 (14.4)		
Mental disorder	a										
Yes	842	2.50 (0.62)	2.13 (0.74)	1.55 (0.54)	2.35 (0.63)	50.4 (21.2)	57.9 (21.0)	50.7 (23.1)	68.3 (20.2)		
No	1,263	2.49 (0.64)	1.91 (0.69)	1.30 (0.39)	2.47 (0.61)	68.4 (17.6)	75.5 (15.8)	61.9 (21.0)	77.7 (13.7)		
COVID-19 infec	tion ^b										
Yes	85	2.46 (0.61)	2.37 (0.74)	1.68 (0.63)	2.39 (0.63)	52.0 (22.0)	56.2 (21.4)	54.8 (22.6)	67.4 (17.7)		
No	2,052	2.49 (0.63)	1.99 (0.72)	1.40 (0.47)	2.42 (0.62)	61.3 (21.0)	68.8 (20.0)	57.3 (22.6)	73.9 (16.2)		
Total	2,137	2.49 (0.63)	2.00 (0.72)	1.41 (0.48)	2.42 (0.62)	61.0 (21.1)	68.3 (20.2)	57.2 (22.6)	73.6 (16.3)		

TABLE 1 Sample characteristics of the 2,137 German adult survey participants (July 2020–July 2021).

^aSelf-reported lifetime diagnosis.

^bMedically proven positive COVID-19 test.

Prob, problem-focused; Sup, support-seeking-focused; Esc, escape-avoidance-focused; Mea, meaning-focused; Psy, psychological; Phy, physical; Soc, social; Env, Environmental. Coping scales min = 1 and max = 4; quality of life domains min = 0 and max = 100.

environmental QoL. Further probing of interactions with escapeavoidance-focused coping showed that simple slopes significantly differed from zero for young, middle and older age (psychological QoL: intercept = 67.88; slopes for 1 SD below the mean B = -10.24, SE = 0.49, p < 0.001; at mean age B = -11.52, SE = 0.45, p <0.001; 1 SD above the mean B = -12.80, SE = 0.63, p < 0.001; social QoL: intercept = 63.24; slopes for 1 SD below the mean B = -5.42, SE = 0.65, p < 0.001; at the mean age B = -7.56, SE = 0.56, p < 0.001; 1 SD above the mean B = -9.69, SE = 0.88, p < 0.001; environmental QoL: intercept = 76.21; slopes for 1 SD below the mean B = -5.51, SE = 0.47, p < 0.001; at the mean age B = -6.53, SE = 0.40, p < 0.001; 1 SD above the mean B = -7.56, SE = 0.60, p < 0.001). Similarly, associations between meaningfocused coping and physical QoL were significantly stronger with older age. Simple slopes differed significantly from zero for younger (1 SD below the mean B = 4.67, SE = 0.64, p < 0.001), middleaged (at the mean B = 4.91, SE = 0.45, p < 0.001) and older adults (1 SD above the mean B = 5.15, SE = 0.67, p < 0.001; intercept physical QoL: 74.40). Moreover, the results suggested an

interaction of age with support-focused coping. Although support-focused coping was related to better social QoL in younger and middle-aged adults (intercept = 63.24; slopes for 1 SD below the mean B = 4.82, SE = 0.68, p < 0.001; at the mean age B = 2.97, SE = 0.52, p < 0.001) it was unrelated for older adults (1 SD above the mean B = 1.12, SE = 0.75, p = 0.14).

The sex of participants moderated associations between problem-focused coping and psychological QoL (Supplementary Figure 3 of the SUP). The association between problem-focused coping and psychological QoL was stronger for female as compared to male participants (intercept = 67.88, female B = 6.73, SE = 0.64, p < 0.001, male B = 1.98, SE = 0.68, p < 0.001).

Furthermore, the educational level of participants moderated associations between support-focused coping as well as escapeavoidance coping and QoL (Supplementary Figure 4 of the SUP). Simple slope analyses revealed that support-focused coping was positively related to psychological (B = 3.90, SE = 0.89, p < 0.001), and social QoL (B = 7.35, SE = 1.90, p < 0.001) for individuals with

	Problem-focused coping				Support-focused coping				
	В	SE	β	p	В	SE	β	р	
Intercept	2.48	0.09		<0.001	2.39	0.07		<0.001	
Female vs. male	-0.20	0.03	-0.21	<0.001	-0.28	0.03	-0.22	<0.001	
Age	-0.15	0.05	-0.16	0.001	-0.15	0.01	-0.33	<0.001	
Low vs. moderate education	0.08	0.06	0.05	0.226	-0.01	0.07	-0.01	0.925	
Low vs. high education	0.20	0.06	0.17	0.001	0.17	0.07	0.12	0.011	
No vs. yes chronic condition ^a	-0.01	0.03	-0.01	0.944	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.452	
No vs. yes mental disorder ^a	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.892	0.16	0.03	0.20	<0.001	
No vs. yes COVID-19 ^b infection	-0.06	0.07	-0.02	0.372	0.25	0.08	0.08	0.002	
Time	-0.01	0.01	-0.02	0.252	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.074	
	Escape	avoidanc	e-focused	coping	Me	eaning-foo	cused cop	ing	
Intercept	1.78	0.07		<0.001	2.55	0.06		<0.001	
Female vs. male	-0.02	0.02	-0.01	0.366	-0.03	0.03	-0.02	0.268	
Age	-0.12	0.01	-0.16	<0.001	-0.03	0.01	-0.05	0.061	
Low vs. moderate education	-0.20	0.05	-0.14	<0.001	0.22	0.06	0.24	0.017	
Low vs. high education	-0.21	0.05	-0.21	<0.001	0.30	0.05	0.25	<0.001	
No vs. yes chronic condition ^a	0.05	0.02	0.04	0.014	-0.01	0.03	-0.01	0.659	
No vs. yes mental disorder ^a	0.22	0.02	0.16	<0.001	-0.09	0.03	-0.07	<0.001	
No vs. yes COVID-19 infection	0.17	0.06	0.05	0.009	-0.02	0.07	-0.01	0.752	
Time	0.02	0.01	0.09	<0.001	-0.01	0.01	-0.03	0.094	

TABLE 2 Differences in coping by age, sex, educational level, health status, and measurement time (N = 2,122) determined using multivariate regression analysis.

^aSelf-reported lifetime diagnosis.

^bMedically proven positive COVID-19 test.

B, unstandardized coefficients; SE, robust standard errors; β , standardized coefficient.

 R^2 for problem-focused coping was 0.04, for support-focused coping 0.14, for escape-avoidance-focused coping 0.17, and for meaning-focused coping 0.06. Coding of sex: male = 0, female = 1; educational level: low = 0, moderate = 1, high = 2; self-reported chronic condition: no = 0, yes = 1; self-reported diagnosis of a mental disorder: no = 0, yes = 1; COVID-19 infection; no = 0, yes = 1. Significant results at p < 0.05 are highlighted in boldface.

a low educational level. In contrast, for individuals with moderate and high educational levels, support-focused coping was unrelated to the respective QoL domains (psychological QoL: intercept = 67.88; slopes for moderate educational level B = -1.28, SE = 1.01, p = 0.20; high educational level B = 0.65, SE = 0.60, p = 0.28; social QoL: intercept = 63.24; slope for a moderate educational level B = 1.09, SE = 0.83, p = 0.19). One exception was a positive association between support-focused coping and social QoL for individuals with a high educational level (B = 3.22, SE = 0.66, p < 0.001). In addition, the probing of interactions revealed a stronger relation of problem-focused coping and environmental QoL with lower as compared to moderate and high educational levels (intercept = 76.21; slopes for low educational level B = 3.53, SE = 1.37, p <0.001, moderate educational level B = 1.22, SE = 0.51, p < 0.001; high educational level B = 1.55, SE = 0.40, p < 0.001).

3.4. Power analyses

Post-hoc power analyses suggested a power of 1.0 at an alpha = 0.05 for both multivariate regression analyses, as reported in

Table 2 (eight numerators and 2,124 denominators of freedom, with f^2 ranging from 0.04 for problem-focused coping to 0.20 for escape-avoidance-focused coping) and Tables 3, 4 (28 numerators and 2,004 denominators of freedom, with f^2 ranging from 0.25 for social QoL to 0.81 for psychological QoL).

4. Discussion

The present research aimed to add knowledge on the use and potential benefits of diverse coping factors in German adults facing the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as possible preventive measures and long-term consequences. We extended previous studies by including the general population and potential moderators such as the age, sex and educational level of participants, and thus our study allowed an in-depth investigation into the pursuit of four different coping factors (problem-, support-, meaning-, and escapeavoidance-focused), their associations with four quality of life domains (psychological, physiological, social, and environmental wellbeing) and interactive effects over a considerable period of time from July 2020 to July 2021.

	Psychological QoL					Physical QoL			
	В	SE	β	р	В	SE	β	р	
Intercept	67.88	1.85		<0.001	74.40	2.06		<0.001	
Female vs. male	2.18	0.39	0.05	0.003	1.77	0.74	0.06	0.017	
Age	2.46	0.39	0.12	<0.001	0.01	0.40	< 0.01	0.992	
Low vs. moderate education	1.64	1.70	0.03	0.332	4.93	1.91	0.13	0.010	
Low vs. high education	1.38	1.69	0.04	0.413	6.34	1.88	0.18	<0.001	
No vs. yes chronic condition ^a	-5.17	0.71	-0.12	<0.001	-11.59	0.74	-0.29	<0.001	
No vs. yes mental disorder ^a	-10.82	0.79	-0.25	<0.001	-9.81	0.81	-0.24	<0.001	
No vs. yes COVID-19 infection ^b	0.53	0.57	0.01	0.353	0.02	0.62	0.02	0.971	
Time	-0.55	0.12	-0.08	<0.001	-0.64	0.12	-0.10	<0.001	
Problem-focused coping	0.57	1.96	0.03	0.770	1.84	2.15	0.16	0.055	
Support-focused coping	3.32	1.57	0.19	0.004	-0.29	1.66	-0.02	0.860	
Escape-avoidance-focused coping	-7.47	1.14	-0.35	<0.001	-5.21	1.23	-0.22	<0.001	
Meaning-focused coping	5.04	1.90	0.24	0.008	2.09	1.97	0.01	0.290	
Problem-focused coping \times age	-0.71	0.43	-0.03	0.100	-1.17	0.47	-0.11	0.006	
Support-focused coping \times age	-0.63	0.40	-0.03	0.109	0.04	0.41	< 0.01	0.920	
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times age	-0.83	0.41	-0.04	0.033	-0.47	0.43	-0.03	0.303	
Meaning-focused coping \times age	0.70	0.44	0.03	0.111	1.26	0.47	0.12	0.004	
Problem-focused coping \times male	-1.84	0.95	-0.06	0.036	-1.46	0.46	-0.06	0.087	
Support-focused coping \times male	0.49	0.85	0.02	0.563	1.59	0.84	0.04	0.167	
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times male	-1.00	0.81	-0.03	0.218	-1.19	0.79	-0.04	0.131	
Meaning-focused coping \times male	-0.36	0.90	-0.01	0.685	-0.83	0.91	-0.02	0.361	
Problem-focused coping \times moderate education	1.58	2.06	0.05	0.446	0.57	2.21	0.03	0.797	
Problem-focused coping \times high education	2.61	2.04	0.09	0.302	0.26	2.17	0.03	0.904	
Support-focused coping \times moderate education	-3.22	1.68	-0.11	0.046	-0.57	1.72	-0.02	0.743	
Support-focused coping \times high education	-3.07	1.64	-0.19	0.038	-0.50	1.68	-0.01	0.764	
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times moderate education	-0.21	1.28	-0.01	0.873	<0.01	1.36	0.01	0.998	
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times high education	-0.84	1.24	-0.03	0.498	< 0.01	1.30	0.02	0.233	
Meaning-focused coping \times moderate education	-1.23	2.01	-0.04	0.539	-2.05	2.67	-0.02	0.443	
Meaning-focused coping \times high education	-0.89	1.98	-0.03	0.655	-0.94	2.43	-0.03	0.700	
R^2		0	.45			0.40			

TABLE 3 Differences in associations between coping and psychological as well as physical QoL among participants of various age, sex and educational level (N = 2,122) and while controlling for health status and measurement time, as calculated using multivariate regression analyses.

^aSelf-reported lifetime diagnosis.

^bMedically proven positive COVID-19 test.

QoL, quality of life; B, unstandardized coefficients; SE, robust standard errors; β , standardized coefficient.

Coding of sex: male = 0, female = 1; educational level: low = 0, moderate = 1, high = 2; self-reported chronic condition: no = 0, yes = 1; self-reported diagnosis of a mental disorder: no = 0, yes = 1; COVID-19 infection; no = 0, yes = 1. Significant results at p < 0.05 are highlighted in boldface.

4.1. Use of coping factors

During the COVID-19 pandemic, German adults mainly used coping factors characterized by actively addressing the current problem (problem-focus) and by focusing on positive aspects (meaning-focus). This finding is partially consistent with H1 and previous assumptions of a frequent use of meaning-focused coping in general and in situations with low predictability and controllability in particular (5, 27, 67). As addressed by E1, we found that individuals of the present study used problemand meaning-focused coping to a similar extent, in accord with other studies (18, 68). Considering that problem-focused coping efforts during the COVID-19 pandemic may manifest in following hygiene and contact restriction measures (18, 42), the present

	Social QoL				Environmental QoL			
	В	SE	β	р	В	SE	β	p
Intercept	63.24	2.38		<0.001	76.21	1.59		<0.001
Female vs. male	-2.80	0.96	-0.06	0.004	-0.53	0.65	-0.02	0.410
Age	0.59	0.49	0.03	0.232	1.89	0.32	0.12	< 0.001
Low vs. moderate education	2.15	2.12	0.05	0.311	2.97	1.47	0.09	0.043
Low vs. high education	1.53	2.09	0.03	0.467	6.08	1.42	0.19	<0.001
No vs. yes chronic condition ^a	-4.85	0.94	-0.11	<0.001	-4.76	0.62	-0.15	<0.001
No vs. yes mental disorder ^a	-7.82	1.01	-0.17	<0.001	-5.01	0.68	-0.15	<0.001
No vs. yes COVID-19 infection ^b	0.74	0.79	0.02	0.348	0.10	0.52	0.01	0.846
Time	-0.44	0.15	-0.06	0.003	-0.55	0.10	-0.11	<0.001
Problem-focused coping	-0.28	2.53	-0.01	0.912	3.32	1.49	0.20	0.026
Support-focused coping	10.18	2.80	0.45	<0.001	1.31	1.49	0.08	0.329
Escape-avoidance-focused coping	-3.84	2.29	-0.13	0.045	-7.97	1.02	-0.49	<0.001
Meaning-focused coping	-0.67	2.46	-0.03	0.784	4.40	1.54	0.27	0.004
Problem-focused coping × age	-0.38	0.63	-0.02	0.546	-0.49	0.38	-0.03	0.195
Support-focused coping \times age	-1.10	0.53	-0.06	0.038	-0.40	0.35	-0.02	0.249
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times age	-1.98	0.51	-0.09	<0.001	-0.86	0.37	-0.05	0.017
Meaning-focused coping \times age	0.78	0.56	0.04	0.164	0.43	0.38	0.03	0.265
Problem-focused coping \times male	-1.26	1.31	-0.04	0.334	-1.18	0.83	-0.05	0.154
Support-focused coping \times male	0.21	1.18	0.01	0.856	0.50	0.74	0.02	0.500
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times male	-1.28	1.04	-0.04	0.219	-0.20	0.77	-0.01	0.795
Meaning-focused coping \times male	0.23	1.16	0.01	0.844	-0.10	0.81	-0.01	0.902
Problem-focused coping \times moderate education	-0.97	2.61	-0.03	0.709	-2.68	1.59	-0.11	0.093
Problem-focused coping \times high education	0.01	2.60	< 0.01	0.997	-2.98	1.54	-0.13	0.045
Support-focused coping \times moderate education	-6.09	2.39	-0.17	0.003	-0.63	1.58	-0.03	0.689
Support-focused coping \times high education	-5.69	2.32	-0.18	0.006	-0.17	1.58	-0.01	0.913
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times moderate education	-3.34	2.28	-0.10	0.034	3.15	1.19	0.13	0.008
Escape-avoidance-focused coping \times high education	-2.81	2.26	-0.08	0.074	3.53	1.26	0.14	0.001
Meaning-focused coping \times moderate education	3.52	2.49	0.10	0.137	-2.10	1.66	-0.08	0.205
Meaning-focused coping \times high education	4.24	2.48	0.13	0.069	-1.64	1.58	-0.07	0.298
R ²		0.	20		0.32			

TABLE 4 Differences in associations between coping and social as well as environmental QoL among participants of various age, sex, and educational level (N = 2,122) and while controlling for health status and measurement time, as calculated using multivariate regression analyses.

^aSelf-reported lifetime diagnosis.

^bMedically proven positive COVID-19 test.

QoL, quality of life; B, unstandardized coefficients; SE, robust standard errors; β , standardized coefficient.

Coding of sex: male = 0, female = 1; educational level: low = 0, moderate = 1, high = 2; self-reported chronic condition: no = 0, yes = 1; self-reported diagnosis of a mental disorder: no = 0, yes = 1; COVID-19 infection; no = 0, yes = 1. Significant results at p < 0.05 are highlighted in boldface.

findings can be interpreted as corroborating these earlier findings. Similar to the results of other recent studies (18, 68), the pursuit of escape-avoidance-focused coping was comparatively low. Though the use of such strategies turned out to be particularly detrimental to QoL, especially for certain population groups, as described below. Individuals from various age groups differed in the pursuit of coping factors. As suggested by H2, an older age was associated with a less frequent use of problem- and support-focused coping. Furthermore, with older age, the use of escape-avoidance-focused coping decreased (E2a). This pattern of results has already been observed in other studies (36, 37, 69) and corresponds with

socioemotional selectivity theory [SST; (70)]. SST and subsequent work from the emotion regulation research field proposes that whenever people's sense of remaining time is limited, such as in older aged individuals, they increasingly value meaningful social relationships, which are often associated with smaller but closer social networks (71), and prioritize hedonic motivations to maintain or enhance positive affect and wellbeing (72). In contrast, younger adults tend to have open-ended time horizons that are frequently associated with larger social networks and seeking to establish new social ties that serve as important future resources (71), and contra-hedonic motivations to maintain or enhance negative affect that is occasionally beneficial, socially appropriate or instrumental in the long term (72), which in turn may lead to a greater pursuit of support-focused coping or escape-avoidancefocused coping, respectively. The negative associations between age and problem-focused coping corresponds with the idea that with older age, the application of coping factors aiming to actively solve critical events is limited due to incremental loss and reduced controllability [e.g., deterioration of the physical health status, death of close others; (73)]. Consequently, increasing age has been related to changes from an assimilative to an accommodative mode of coping, i.e., a decrease in coping factors characterized by a modification of a particular situation (e.g., active planning as in problem-oriented coping) and an increase in personal adjustment to situational constraints (e.g., acceptance and positive reframing as in meaning-focused coping) (74). In contrast to these prior findings, we did not observe age-related differences in meaningfocused coping. This finding may be an expression of equalization of coping possibilities in the face of pandemic conditions across diverse age groups, but requires further investigation. Since the findings are consistent with already observed general decreases in the number or intensity of coping factors with older age (75), the fact that only meaning-focused coping did not differ by age may also be a sign of a relatively strong pursuit of this coping style among older adults. However, the reduced pursuit of coping is not to be equated with a loss of skills. In contrast, the majority of research indicates improved coping efficiency with older age (76, 77) and can also be seen as an expression of serenity due to greater life experience and overcoming of challenges (75).

We found that female participants used support- and problemfocused factors more often than men when dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic (E2b). Thus, the results partially refute the theoretical considerations [e.g., socialization hypothesis; (44)] but substantiate other prior empirical findings (43), such as that women cope more actively within the limits of the given pandemic by engaging more frequently in protective behaviors to mitigate the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus than men (18, 53, 78). A potential next step for future studies is to include specific protective behaviors in the investigation of sex differences in coping with the COVID-19 pandemic or with other naturalistic critical events. Since the COVID-19 pandemic affects both women and men, explanations based on differences in the experience of events (39) can be excluded. Other explanatory approaches suggesting a rather biological (6) or social (44) basis for sex differences cannot be answered by this study and should be addressed in the future, for example, by including questions on gender role or biophysiological parameters.

Our results moreover support prior observations of educational differences in coping with the COVID-19 pandemic (53, 54). As addressed in E2c, individuals with lower educational levels were more likely to use escape-avoidance-focused coping and less likely to use meaning-, problem-, and support-focused coping. Possible explanations are related to insufficient knowledge, competency and (financial as well as social) resources among less educated individuals (53, 54, 79), and that may become particularly evident during the COVID-19 pandemic. Thus, health-related attitudes and knowledge (i.e., literacy) should be considered in future studies in addition to education.

4.2. Associations between coping factors and quality of life domains

The findings showed that the more individuals pursued escapeavoidance-focused coping, the lower was their QoL across all four domains, as expected in H3, and as indicated by previous evidence on maladaptive associations of escape-avoidant-focused coping with several health outcomes in general (20, 27, 33) as well as during the COVID-19 pandemic (21, 32, 80). The finding of positive associations between meaning-focused coping and QoL, substantiates its adaptive potential for wellbeing in general (5) and in the face of the current pandemic situation, in particular (21, 30, 68, 81).

In addition, support- and meaning-focused coping were positively related to psychological and social, respectively environmental QoL (E3). As already observed in adolescents and emerging adults (82), connecting with others appears to be of great importance for people's quality of life. At an early stage of COVID-19 pandemic, older adults also emphasized seeking social support as adaptive coping (81) and social capital has been identified as a central factor for stress experience irrespective of age (14, 34).

Regarding the included covariates of health status, results replicated general findings of lower QoL in individuals with somatic or mental disorders (83). A decreasing trend of all QoL domains with later measurement time found in the present study corresponds with other population-based evidence on trends of German (19) as well as other European adult mental health [e.g., Poland; (84)] and, pending further investigation, might be interpreted as long-lasting effects of the challenges associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.

4.3. Moderation effects of age, sex, and educational level on the associations between coping factors and QoL

The present findings also showed that the associations between coping factors and QoL domains were moderated by the participant's age, sex and educational level, as addressed in E4. Although support-focused coping was positively related to social QoL in younger and middle-aged adults, this association was not significant for older adults. This indicates how support seeking can be of particular benefit for young to middle-aged adults' social QoL whereas older adults with lower social QoL may either be less in need of support-focused coping or may require other strategies to enhance their social QoL. Older age is generally indicative of less pronounced seeking of social or emotional support due to motivations to maintain a relatively small selection of close social contacts (71) and to coping efficacy (73, 75). In the figurative sense, those younger and middle-aged adults who were seeking social support may have been unable to rely on close others or less efficient in their coping efforts as compared to older adults. Lack of social support has been identified as one major public health concern affecting health and wellbeing in diverse domains (85) and may have become particularly evident in the current pandemic.

In older-aged participants, associations of escape-avoidancefocused coping with psychological, social, and environmental QoL were more negative than in younger-aged participants. Thus, escape-avoidance-focused coping may have either exerted particularly negative effects on older adults or older-aged participants with low psychological, social, and environmental QoL levels may have tended to pursue maladaptive coping. Similar to support-focused coping, the use of escape-avoidance-focused coping usually tends to decrease as the age of people increases due to efficient emotion regulation skills (77). Thus, older adults who do not fit into the regularly observed pattern of enhanced emotion regulation skills may require specific public health attention.

Another finding was that physical QoL levels were most strongly related to meaning-focused coping with older age. With regard to middle-aged adults, this finding may be a sign of positive adaption to the pandemic in terms of a forced pause in a stage of life usually characterized by career and child care (86). COVID-19-related mitigation measures have been related to reduced stress levels, more family time, opportunities to rediscover hobbies, and promote a healthy lifestyle (30) that might be of great benefit for middle-aged adults. For older adults, who commonly have to deal with physical limitations to an increasing extent, it appears more likely that increased physical QoL is related to meaningfocused coping irrespective of the COVID-19 pandemic. Positive health behaviors and attitudes should be considered in future investigations to draw further conclusions.

The found interaction with the sex of participants suggests that the psychological QoL level of women was better when they used problem-focused coping more frequently. This speaks against the assumption of socialization hypothesis (44) and in favor of the current pandemic encouraging women to pursue problem-focused coping more than in other contexts (18, 53, 78). Moreover, it highlights the positive potential of problem-focused coping for achieving good QoL levels in females. Since the direction of association might also be reversed, female adults with good QoL levels might also have pursued more problem-focused coping.

Positive associations between support-focused coping and social QoL were stronger for individuals with a low educational level than for those with a high or moderate educational level. However, the active request for utilization of emotional and instrumental support in the social and societal environment implies its presence, availability, and knowledge as well as awareness of actual needs. Based on previous evidence on associations between low education and a lack of (emotion) regulation competencies, social or instrumental resources, and health literacy (48, 51, 54, 87), one may conclude that support-focused coping can serve as a buffer for such gaps and thereby may counteract QoL losses. It needs to be further evaluated if relevant information on support offers can be advertised more effectively. Moreover, associations between escape-avoidance-focused coping and psychological, social, and environmental QoL were the most negative for individuals with a low educational level. These findings are in line with other reports on risk behaviors among individuals of lower socio-economic status (48, 51) as well as other results on maladaptive coping factors during the COVID-19 pandemic (79). However, the underlying mechanisms of these associations are not yet fully understood and require more information, such as on personality and resilience, certain knowledge or competencies (e.g., health literacy). Relatively low levels of explained variance, particularly for social QoL and problem-focused coping, may also point to so far unconsidered predictors or moderators.

4.4. Limitations

Apart from the aforementioned insights, the present study has limitations that should be acknowledged. First, it employs a crosssectional design that does not allow to draw conclusions on the direction of the identified associations. Although we tested and reported results on the direction of associations from coping factors to QoL, we cannot rule out bidirectional relationships. Second, generalized and retrospective self-reports yield only a salient snapshot of coping effort and should be supplemented in the future by repeated situational interviews in concrete daily life situations. Another aspect that calls for an intraindividual longitudinal perspective on coping in the long term is that the intensity of used strategies may change in the course of the pandemic due to adaption processes (42). Based on theoretical assumptions (1), individuals may also use coping factors in sequence, for example, by initially regulating emotions and then engaging in solving the problem thereafter. Consequently, coping flexibility (26) may play a crucial role in the face of such a dynamic situation as the COVID-19 pandemic (32).

Third, there is no universal gold standard for summarizing hierarchical coping factors and theoretical as well as methodological approaches to coping are still in constant flux (12). The found four-factor structure largely corresponds with other European research using the Brief COPE inventory from before (7, 56, 88) and partly during the COVID-19 pandemic (59). However, the brief COPE is not all-embracing so that other potentially relevant coping strategies or factors were not considered in this study. Moreover, it is questionable to what extent situational adaption of the instruction ("thinking and acting since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic") can be interpreted as either state or trait coping. Additionally, three subscales had to be excluded due to ambiguity (Venting, Behavioral Disengagement, and Self-Distraction) and one subscale (Positive Reframing) was allowed to load on two factors to achieve the best fit for the present factorial structure, which can be interpreted in line with prior findings and criticism on conceptual overlap or exclusive categorization (12, 59, 80). By synthesizing existing evidence on coping structures, Skinner et al. (12) concluded that it may be

beneficial to build rather action-oriented categorizations of coping (e.g., proximity seeking) than functional (e.g., problem-focused coping) or topological (e.g., approach coping).

Last, results were based on a convenience sample and the proportions of people with low educational levels, as well as adults aged 60 years or older, were comparatively low. Although smartphones were already used comprehensively at the time, a small number of people might not have had smartphones available, possibly leading to sampling bias. Thus, the generalizability of this work is limited, as the CORONA HEALTH APP study is not representative for the German population structure, and future studies should endeavor to increase the proportion of people with a lower level of education and older age in particular.

5. Conclusions

The present findings are in accord with prior observations on coping efforts and associations with QoL during adverse life events to a relatively large extent. Thus, already identified mechanisms seem to hold true also during the COVID-19 pandemic. For instance, escape-avoidance-focused coping was associated with a reduced QoL in various domains, as observed in other challenging situations of life. Apart from that, this study extended other investigations during the COVID-19 pandemic by considering a comprehensive selection of coping, QoL, sociodemographic and health characteristics, and time of data collection. Thereby, the results yielded additional insights into population groups with enhanced risk of reduced QoL and the potentially beneficial role of certain coping factors for these groups with relevant implications for public health promotion and preparedness.

In sum, support- and meaning-focused coping factors seemed to be important in coping with the actual pandemic and maintaining QoL. Hence, in future pandemics or other naturalistic societal crises, efforts should prioritize on ensuring sufficient offers, information, and low-threshold access to social and instrumental support, such as comprehensive and easily understandable informational campaigns, increasing support hotlines, or initiating voluntary neighborhood organizations. Moreover, public health educational campaigns may help avoid maladaptation (i.e., enhanced substance abuse or denial) and promote adaptive coping factors (e.g., positive reframing or acceptance) by, for example, providing specific recommendations and examples on daily mental hygiene and emotion regulation, in terms of universal health promotion. Pending replication and further investigation, these suggestions may be particularly helpful for individuals with low educational levels, older-aged individuals at risk of lack of adaptive emotion regulation skills, or younger individuals at risk of a lack of emotional or instrumental support. In the present sample, these groups showed the greatest potential of benefit from making use of support-focused coping as well as from reducing escape-avoidance focused coping. Overall, an increasing trend of escape-avoidancefocused coping as well as reduced QoL over time point toward long-term developments in the general population that require particular attention.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Würzburg, Germany. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CC, RP, and HB devised the CORONA HEALTH APP study conception and design. RP was mainly responsible for the data acquisition and preparation procedures. CC developed the present research questions and methodology with support from SE, NK, and HH. CC performed the data analyses and wrote a first draft of the manuscript. All authors critically revised the manuscript and approved the final version to be published.

Funding

HB and RP were supported by grants the in project COMPASS. COMPASS is part of the German COVID-19 Research Network of University Medicine (Netzwerk Universitätsmedizin), funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (funding reference 01KX2021).

Acknowledgments

We thank Johannes Allgaier (University of Würzburg), Johanna-Sophie Elder (Robert Koch Institute), Fabian Haug and Julian Haug (University of Würzburg), Marc Holfelder (LA2 GmBH), Klaus Kammerer (University of Ulm), Winfried Schlee (University of Regensburg), Johannes Schobel (University of Ulm), Michael Schultz (typelover), and Carsten Vogel (University of Würzburg) for their support and contributions to the implementation of and feedback on the project.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of

their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1196404/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. Cham: Springer (1984).

2. Carver CS. You want to measure coping but your protocol' too long: Consider the brief cope. *Int J Behav Med.* (1997) 4:92. doi: 10.1207/s15327558ijbm0401_6

3. Folkman S. Positive psychological states and coping with severe stress. Soc Sci Med. (1997) 45:1207-21. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(97)00040-3

4. Folkman S, Moskowitz J. Coping: Pitfalls and promise. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2004) 55:745–74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456

5. Folkman S, Moskowitz JT. Positive Affect and Meaning-Focused Coping During Significant Psychological Stress. East Sussex: Psychology Press (2007).

6. Taylor SN, Hood JN. It may not be what you think: Gender differences in predicting emotional and social competence. *Hum. Relat.* (2011) 64:627-52. doi: 10.1177/0018726710387950

7. Hastings RP, Kovshoff H, Brown T, Ward NJ, Espinosa FD, Remington B. Coping strategies in mothers and fathers of preschool and school-age children with autism. *Autism.* (2005) 9:377–91. doi: 10.1177/1362361305056078

8. Litman JA. The COPE inventory: Dimensionality and relationships with approach- and avoidance-motives and positive and negative traits. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2006) 41:273–84. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.11.032

9. Brasileiro SV, Orsini MRCA, Cavalcante JA, Bartholomeu D, Montiel JM, Costa PSS, et al. Controversies regarding the psychometric properties of the Brief COPE: The case of the Brazilian-Portuguese version "COPE Breve". *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0152233. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152233

10. Peters RM, Solberg MA, Templin TN, Cassidy-Bushrow AE. Psychometric properties of the Brief COPE among pregnant African American women. *West J Nurs Res.* (2020) 42:927–36. doi: 10.1177/0193945920907686

11. Snell DL, Siegert RJ, Hay-Smith EJ, Surgenor LJ. Factor structure of the brief COPE in people with mild traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2011) 26:468–77. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181fc5e1e

12. Skinner EA, Edge K, Altman J, Sherwood H. Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychol Bull.* (2003) 129:216–69. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216

13. Skinner EA, Zimmer-Gembeck MJ. Ways and families of coping as adaptive processes. In: EA Skinner, MJ Zimmer-Gembeck, editors, *The Development of Coping: Stress, Neurophysiology, Social Relationships, and Resilience During Childhood and Adolescence*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. (2016). p. 27-49. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-41740-0_2

14. Wong LP, Alias H, Danaee M, Lee HY, Tan KM, Tok PSK, et al. Assessment of impact of containment during the COVID-19 epidemic and coping behaviours using newly developed assessment tools. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:787672. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.787672

15. Li LZ, Wang S. Prevalence and predictors of general psychiatric disorders and loneliness during COVID-19 in the United Kingdom. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 291:113267. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113267

16. Killgore WDS, Cloonan SA, Taylor EC, Dailey NS. Loneliness: A signature mental health concern in the era of COVID-19. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 290:113117. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113117

17. Nicola M, Alsafi Z, Sohrabi C, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, Iosifidis C, et al. The socioeconomic implications of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): A review. *Int J Surg.* (2020) 78:185–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.04.018

18. Park CL, Russell BS, Fendrich M, Finkelstein-Fox L, Hutchison M, Becker J. Americans' COVID-19 stress, coping, and adherence to CDC Guidelines. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2020) 35:2296–303. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05898-9

19. Mauz E, Walther L, Junker S, Kersjes C, Damerow S, Eicher S, et al. Time trends of mental health indicators in Germany's adult population before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Public Health.* (2023) 11:1065938. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1065938

20. Agha S. Mental well-being and association of the four factors coping structure model: A perspective of people living in lockdown during COVID-19. *Ethics Med Public Health.* (2021) 16:100605. doi: 10.1016/j.jemep.2020.100605

21. Gurvich C, Thomas N, Thomas EH, Hudaib A-R, Sood L, Fabiatos K, et al. Coping styles and mental health in response to societal changes during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Soc Psychiatry*. (2021) 67:540–9. doi: 10.1177/0020764020961790

22. Holmes EA, O'Connor RC, Perry VH, Tracey I, Wessely S, Arseneault L, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: A call for action for mental health science. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2020) 7:547–60. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30168-1

23. Langeland E, Wahl AK, Kristoffersen K, Hanestad BR. Promoting coping: Salutogenesis among people with mental health problems. *Issues Ment Health Nurs*. (2007) 28:275–95. doi: 10.1080/01612840601172627

24. Fenwick-Smith A, Dahlberg EE, Thompson SC. Systematic review of resilienceenhancing, universal, primary school-based mental health promotion programs. *BMC Psychol.* (2018) 6:30. doi: 10.1186/s40359-018-0242-3

25. Bonanno GA, Burton CL. Regulatory flexibility: An individual differences perspective on coping and emotion regulation. *Perspectiv Psychol Sci.* (2013) 8:591–612. doi: 10.1177/1745691613504116

26. Cheng C, Lau H-PB, Chan M-PS. Coping flexibility and psychological adjustment to stressful life changes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychol Bull.* (2014) 140:1582–607. doi: 10.1037/a0037913

27. Jopp DS, Schmitt M. Dealing with negative life events: Differential effects of personal resources, coping strategies, and control beliefs. *Eur J Ageing*. (2010) 7:167–80. doi: 10.1007/s10433-010-0160-6

28. Littleton H, Horsley S, John S, Nelson DV. Trauma coping strategies and psychological distress: A meta-analysis. J Trauma Stress. (2007) 20:977-88. doi: 10.1002/jts.20276

29. Moskowitz JT, Hult JR, Bussolari C, Acree M. What works in coping with HIV? A meta-analysis with implications for coping with serious illness. *Psychol Bullet*. (2009) 135:121–41. doi: 10.1037/a0014210

30. Fullana MA, Hidalgo-Mazzei D, Vieta E, Radua J. Coping behaviors associated with decreased anxiety and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 275:80–1. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020. 06.027

31. Chew QH, Wei KC, Vasoo S, Chua HC, Sim K. Narrative synthesis of psychological and coping responses towards emerging infectious disease outbreaks in the general population: practical considerations for the COVID-19 pandemic. *Singapore Med J.* (2020) 61:350–6. doi: 10.11622/smedj.2020046

32. Dawson DL, Golijani-Moghaddam N. COVID-19: Psychological flexibility, coping, mental health, and wellbeing in the UK during the pandemic. *J Context Behav Sci.* (2020) 17:126–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.07.010

33. Peters E, Hübner J, Katalinic A. Stress, coping strategies and health-related quality of life during the corona pandemic in April 2020 in Germany. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift.* (2021) 146:e11–20. doi: 10.1055/a-1275-3792

34. Jean-Baptiste CO, Herring RP, Beeson WL, Dos Santos H, Banta JE. Stressful life events and social capital during the early phase of COVID-19 in the U.S. *Soc Sci Human Open*. (2020) 2:100057. doi: 10.1016/j.ssaho.2020.100057

35. Kimhi S, Marciano H, Eshel Y, Adini B. Recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic: Distress and resilience. *Int J Disast Risk Reduct.* (2020) 50:101843. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101843

36. Chen Y, Peng Y, Xu H, O'Brien WH. Age differences in stress and coping: Problem-focused strategies mediate the relationship between age and positive affect. *Int J Aging Hum Dev.* (2018) 86:347–63. doi: 10.1177/0091415017720890

37. Meléndez JC, Mayordomo T, Sancho P, Tomás JM. Coping strategies: Gender differences and development throughout life span. *Span J Psychol.* (2012) 15:1089–98. doi: 10.5209/rev_SJOP.2012.v15.n3.39399

38. Aldwin CM. Does age affect the stress and coping process? Implications of age differences in perceived control. J Gerontol. (1991) 46:P174–80. doi: 10.1093/geronj/46.4.P174

39. Folkman S, Lazarus RS, Pimley S, Novacek J. Age differences in stress and coping processes. *Psychol Aging*. (1987) 2:171–84. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.2.2.171

40. Carver CS, Connor-Smith J. Personality and coping. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2010) 61:679–704. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100352

41. Klaiber P, Wen J, DeLongis A, Sin N. The ups and downs of daily life during COVID-19: Age differences in affect, stress, and positive events. *J Gerontol Ser B*. (2020) 2020:gbaa096. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa096

42. Verhage M, Thielman L, de Kock L, Lindenberg J. Coping of older adults in times of COVID-19: Considerations of temporality among Dutch older adults. *J Gerontol Ser B*. (2021) 2021:gbab008. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbab008

43. Tamres LK, Janicki DL, Helgeson V. Sex differences in coping behavior: A metaanalytic review and an examination of relative coping. *Personal Soc Psychol Rev.* (2002) 6:2–30. doi: 10.1207/S15327957PSPR0601_1

44. Pearlin LI, Schooler C. The structure of coping. J Health Soc Behav. (1978) 19:2-21. doi: 10.2307/2136319

45. Matud MP. Gender differences in stress and coping styles. Pers Individ Dif. (2004) 37:1401–15. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2004.01.010

46. Araya M, Chotai J, Komproe IH, de Jong JT. Gender differences in traumatic life events, coping strategies, perceived social support and sociodemographics among postconflict displaced persons in Ethiopia. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2007) 42:307–15. doi: 10.1007/s00127-007-0166-3

47. Emslie C, Fuhrer R, Hunt K, Macintyre S, Shipley M, Stansfeld S. Gender differences in mental health: Evidence from three organisations. *Soc Sci Med.* (2002) 54:621–4. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00056-9

48. Cutler DM, Lleras-Muney A. Understanding differences in health behaviors by education. *J Health Econ.* (2010) 29:1–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009.10.003

49. Cohrdes C, Mauz E. Self-Efficacy and emotional stability buffer negative effects of adverse childhood experiences on young adult health-related quality of life. *J Adolesc Health*. (2020) 67:93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.01.005

50. Ross CE, Van Willigen M. Education and the subjective quality of life. J Health Soc Behav. (1997) 38:275–97. doi: 10.2307/2955371

51. Grzywacz JG, Almeida DM. Stress and binge drinking: A daily process examination of stressor pile-up and socioeconomic status in affect regulation. *Int J Stress Manag.* (2008) 15:364–80. doi: 10.1037/a0013368

52. Steele LS, Dewa CS, Lin E, Lee KLK. Education level, income level and mental health services use in Canada: Associations and policy implications. *Healthc Policy*. (2007) 3:96–106. doi: 10.12927/hcpol.2007.19177

53. Lüdecke D, von dem Knesebeck O. Protective behavior in course of the COVID-19 outbreak—Survey results from Germany. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:572561. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.572561

54. Naser AY, Dahmash EZ, Alwafi H, Alsairafi ZK, Rajeh AMA, Alhartani YJ, et al. Knowledge and practices towards COVID-19 during its outbreak: A multinational cross-sectional study. *medRxiv*. (2020) 2020:20063560. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.13.20063560

55. Beierle F, Schobel J, Vogel C, Allgaier J, Mulansky L, Haug F, et al. Corona health—A study-and sensor-based mobile app platform exploring aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:7395. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18147395

56. Knoll N, Rieckmann N, Schwarzer R. Coping as a mediator between personality and stress outcomes: A longitudinal study with cataract surgery patients. *Eur J Pers.* (2005) 19:229–47. doi: 10.1002/per.546

57. Roesch SC, Aldridge AA, Stocking SN, Villodas F, Leung Q, Bartley CE, et al. Multilevel factor analysis and structural equation modeling of daily diary coping data: Modeling trait and state variation. *Multivar Behav Res.* (2010) 45:767–89. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2010.519276

58. Rosseel Y. lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling. *J Stat Softw.* (2012) 48:1–36. doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02

59. Hanfstingl B, Gnambs T, Fazekas C, Gölly KI, Matzer F, Tikvić M. The dimensionality of the brief COPE before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Assessment*. (2021) 2021:10731911211052483. doi: 10.1177/107319112110 52483

60. Angermeyer MC. WHOQoL-100 und WHOQoL-Bref. Handbuch für die deutschsprachige Version der WHO Instrumente zur Erfassung der Lebensqualität. [Handbook for the German versions of the WHO instruments to assess quality of life]. Göttingen: Hogrefe (2000).

61. World Health Organization. WHOQOL-BREF: Introduction, Administration, Scoring and Generic Version of the Assessment: Field Trial Version. Geneva: WHO (1996).

62. Müller W, Lüttinger P, König W, Karle W. Class and education in industrial nations. Int J Sociol. (1989) 19:3–39. doi: 10.1080/15579336.1989.11769981

63. Cox B, Van Oyen H, Cambois E, Jagger C, Le Roy S, Robine J-M, et al. The reliability of the minimum European health module. *Int J Public Health.* (2009) 54:55–60. doi: 10.1007/s00038-009-7104-y

64. R Core Team. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. (2020). Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed May 27, 2022).

65. Long JA. Interactions: Comprehensive, User-Friendly Toolkit for Probing Interactions. R Package Version 1.1.0. (2019). Available online at: https://cran.r-project.org/package=interactions (accessed May 27, 2022).

66. Champely S, Ekstrom C, Dalgaard P, Gill J, Weibelzahl S, Anandkumar A. *pwr: Basic Functions for Power Analysis. R Package Version 1.3-0.* (2016). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=pwr (accessed May 27, 2022).

67. Roesch SC, Weiner B. A meta-analytic review of coping with illness: Do causal attributions matter? *J Psychosom Res.* (2001) 50:205–19. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(01)00188-X

68. Shamblaw AL, Rumas RL, Best MW. Coping during the COVID-19 pandemic: Relations with mental health and quality of life. *Can Psychol.* (2021) 62:92–100. doi: 10.1037/cap0000263

69. Yeung D, Fung H. Age differences in coping and emotional responses toward SARS: A longitudinal study of Hong Kong Chinese. *Aging Mental Health.* (2007) 11:579–87. doi: 10.1080/13607860601086355

70. Carstensen LL, Isaacowitz DM, Charles ST. Taking time seriously: A theory of socioemotional selectivity. *Am Psychol.* (1999) 54:165–81. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.54.3.165

71. Fung HH, Carstensen LL, Lang FR. Age-related patterns in social networks among European Americans and African Americans: Implications for socioemotional selectivity across the life span. *Int J Aging Hum Dev.* (2001) 52:185–206. doi: 10.2190/1ABL-9BE5-M0X2-LR9V

72. Riediger M, Schmiedek F, Wagner GG, Lindenberger U. Seeking pleasure and seeking pain: Differences in pro-hedonic and contrahedonic motivation from adolescence to old age. *Psychol Sci.* (2009) 20:1529–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02473.x

73. Aldwin CM, Sutton KJ, Chiara G, Spiro A. Age differences in stress, coping, and appraisal: Findings from the Normative Aging Study. J Gerontol Ser B. (1996) 51:P179–88. doi: 10.1093/geronb/51B.4.P179

74. Brandtstädter J, Renner G. Tenacious goal pursuit and flexible goal adjustment: Explication and age-related analysis of assimilative and accommodative strategies of coping. *Psychol Aging*. (1990) 5:58–67. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.5.1.58

75. Meeks S, Carstensen LL, Tamsky B-F, Wright TL, Pellegrini D. Age differences in coping: Does less mean worse? *Int J Aging Hum Dev.* (1989) 28:127–40. doi: 10.2190/UXKQ-4J3X-TEHT-7NU2

76. Blanchard-Fields F, Mienaltowski A, Seay RB. Age differences in everyday problem-solving effectiveness: Older adults select more effective strategies for interpersonal problems. *J Gerontol.* (2007) 62:P61-4. doi: 10.1093/geronb/62.1.P61

77. Scheibe S, Carstensen LL. Emotional aging: Recent findings and future trends. J Gerontol. (2009) 65:135-44. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbp132

78. Galasso V, Pons V, Profeta P, Becher M, Brouard S, Foucault M. Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:27285–91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2012520117

79. Volk AA, Brazil KJ, Franklin-Luther P, Dane AV, Vaillancourt T. The influence of demographics and personality on COVID-19 coping in young adults. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2021) 168:110398. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110398

80. Pété E, Leprince C, Lienhart N, Doron J. Dealing with the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak: Are some athletes' coping profiles more adaptive than others? *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2021) 1–27. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2021.1873422

81. Fuller HR, Huseth-Zosel A. Lessons in resilience: Initial coping among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Gerontologist.* (2021) 61:114–25. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa170

82. Waselewski EA, Waselewski ME, Chang T. Needs and coping behaviors of youth in the U.S. during COVID-19. J Adolesc Health. (2020) 2020:43. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.07.043

83. Baumeister H, Hutter N, Bengel J, Härter M. Quality of life in medically ill persons with comorbid mental disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2011) 80:275–86. doi: 10.1159/000323404

84. Babicki M, Kowalski K, Bogudzińska B, Mastalerz-Migas A. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental well-being. A nationwide online survey covering three pandemic waves in Poland. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:804123. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.804123

85. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB. Social relationships and mortality risk: A meta-analytic review. *PLoS Med.* (2010) 7:e1000316. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316

86. Nurmi J-E. Age differences in adult life goals, concerns, and their temporal extension: A life course approach to future-oriented motivation. *Int J Behav Dev.* (1992) 15:487–508. doi: 10.1177/016502549201500404

87. Springvloet L, Lechner L, Oenema A. Can individual cognitions. Self-regulation and environmental variables explain educational differences in vegetable consumption? A cross-sectional study among Dutch adults. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2014) 11:149. doi: 10.1186/s12966-014-0149-1

88. Baumstarck K, Alessandrini M, Hamidou Z, Auquier P, Leroy T, Boyer L. Assessment of coping: A new french four-factor structure of the brief COPE inventory. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2017) 15:8. doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0581-9
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY

Nicholas Pang, Universiti Malaysia Sabah, Malaysia Ömer Faruk Uygur, Ataturk University, Türkiye Tao Xiang, The Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Jiaotong University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Muhammad Umar Nadeem umarnadeem@shisu.edu.cn

RECEIVED 24 March 2023 ACCEPTED 30 May 2023 PUBLISHED 16 June 2023

CITATION

Nadeem MU, Kulich SJ and Bokhari IH (2023) The assessment and validation of the depression, anxiety, and stress scale (DASS-21) among frontline doctors in Pakistan during fifth wave of COVID-19. *Front. Public Health* 11:1192733. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1192733

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Nadeem, Kulich and Bokhari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The assessment and validation of the depression, anxiety, and stress scale (DASS-21) among frontline doctors in Pakistan during fifth wave of COVID-19

Muhammad Umar Nadeem^{1*}, Steve J. Kulich¹ and Ijaz Hussain Bokhari²

¹SISU Intercultural Institute (SII), Shanghai International Studies University (SISU), Shanghai, China, ²School of Commerce and Accountancy, University of Management and Technology (UMT), Lahore, Punjab, Pakistan

Objective: The study aims to document sociodemographic features, address the symptoms and levels of depression, anxiety, and stress among frontline doctors in Pakistan, and validate the depression, anxiety, stress scale (DASS-21) on the context of Pakistan.

Method: A cross-sectional survey was conducted throughout the regions of Pakistan on frontline doctors to document their sociodemographic patterns and the levels of depression, anxiety, and stress while dealing with the fifth wave (Omicron-variant) of the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic in Pakistan (December 2021–April 2022). Respondents (N = 319) were recruited through a snowball sampling process.

Results: Though previous literature reported declines in psychological symptoms after earlier waves of COVID-19, these DASS-21 findings show that as the pandemic has worn on, frontline doctors in Pakistan are having considerable personal symptoms of depression (72.7%), anxiety (70.2%), and stress (58.3%). Though specifically related to the COVID-19 pandemic, they rated only moderate levels of depression and stress, however they reported severe levels of anxiety. The results also revealed a positive correlation between depression and anxiety (r = 0.696, p < 0.001), depression and stress (r = 0.761, p < 0.001), and anxiety and stress (r = 0.720, p < 0.001).

Conclusion: Through the application of all required statistical procedures, DASS-21 is validated in the cultural context of Pakistan among this group of frontline doctors. The findings of this study can provide new directions for the policy makers (government and hospitals' administration) of Pakistan to focus on the mental wellbeing of the doctors under similar enduring public health crises and to protect them from short- or long-term disorders.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, depression, anxiety, stress, doctors, Pakistan

1. Introduction

The coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) was reported to have emerged from the city of Wuhan in Hubei province in China and later reported to spread rapidly in different parts of the world within the following months. Its most common symptoms have been equated with flu, high fever, dry cough, sore throat, loss of taste, with frequent impact on the lungs and respiratory system creating breathing difficulties, and with some cases leading to death (1, 2). The speedy transmission, heavy upsurge of infections, and associated deaths have created a sense of panic across the world (3). As the pandemic wave(s) spread, most countries declared the novel corona virus to be a public health emergency and took precautionary measures such as social distancing, isolation, quarantines, and wearing masks (4) to reduce its dispersion (5) aiming to protect their citizens.

Other than physical health, implementation of lockdowns (restricting populations to stay in and work from home) along with inadequate information or uncertain measures to protect themselves or vulnerable loved ones have created varying types of psychological distress among people worldwide (6). Fears of being infected or isolated in quarantines have adversely affected many as they felt compelled to distance themselves from their peers, colleagues, families, and other social contacts (7). Seeking to deal with the uncertainties and possible implications of COVID-19 has impacted human psychology at many levels, including increasing fear, stress, anger (8), depression, anxiety, and in worst case scenarios, suicidal tendencies (9). It has also been reported that pandemic distress coupled with certain extreme preventive measures could trigger other pre-existing mental health diseases and even induce novel symptoms in those who previously did not have any mental health issues (10).

COVID-19 pandemic related studies across various regions have documented different psychological factors that directly and indirectly affect the mental health of almost every segment of the population (11). Special attention has been given to the impacts on medical workers around the world (12–15) as they were both directly exposed to COVID-19 patients and psychologically faced with additional self- and other-care challenges. Studies conducted in diverse cultural contexts such as, Israel, Turkey, Egypt, India, the United States, Saudi Arabia, China, Kuwait, Iran, Poland, and Bangladesh (16–26) have noted and examined the unique issues and implications facing medical staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, neither the context nor challenges facing doctors in Pakistan have been widely reported in recent literature especially during the fifth wave of COVID-19.

Pakistan presents an interesting and important case for a national context as a highly populated (220 million) underdeveloped country and one already facing the multiple challenges of an energy crisis, weak economy, and political instability. A health emergency was declared in Pakistan right after the initial infected COVID-19 cases gained momentum. Partial and smart lockdowns, vaccinations, and improved treatment policies have helped Pakistan to control the transmission of the virus to protect the general citizens of the country (27).

An earlier investigation about the COVID-19 pandemic on seven different Asian countries (including Pakistan) found that the

people of Thailand and Pakistan scored very high on the depression anxiety stress scale (DASS-21) as compared to the other countries (28). A study on the Punjab province of Pakistan reported that 21.9% of depression and 21.4% of anxiety symptoms were witnessed among the health care workers (HCW) and that the most affected population was medical doctors (29). It is also found that 79.7% of the HCW in Pakistan were having very high levels of and severe anxiety issues concerning COVID-19 (7). Researchers interviewed thirteen young doctors and found that they were experiencing psychological distress in the form of increased stress, fear, and anxiety after the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic in Pakistan (30). Another sample reported that 43% of anxiety/depression prevailed among the frontline doctors of Pakistan in 2020 (31). Clearly, HCW in Pakistan have been more exposed to COVID-19 as elsewhere, and as an important health service sector that every country looks to in such distressing pandemic situations, their responses, wellbeing, and mental health cannot be overlooked.

The abovementioned studies provide evidence that HCW and frontline doctors are among the most vulnerable populations at a higher risk who are also more exposed to COVID-19 cases on a frequent and long-term basis as compared to ordinary people (in Pakistan as in other nations). Unfortunately, most of previous studies were completed during the initial waves of COVID-19 and did not adopt a well-established scale (like the DASS-21) to document the levels of depression, anxiety, and stress specifically of doctors. DASS-21 is widely considered to effectively address the symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress (32) which indicate the mental health of the general populace rather than a clinical population. Research gaps exist in not examining the fifth wave of COVID-19, application of DASS-21, and specifically not yet targeting the frontline doctors in Pakistan. Therefore, the current study aims to address and consider the connections between these previously unexplored areas by incorporating the DASS-21 to apply this instrument to the frontline doctors of Pakistan during fifth wave of COVID-19.

2. Methods

2.1. Respondent and procedures

An online survey (through Google Forms) was created to capture the responses of frontline doctors who were directly dealing with the COVID-19 patients during the fifth wave in Pakistan. In the scenario of this emergency, limited access due to pandemic measures, and seeking broader reach, we resorted to utilizing a snowball sampling technique and approached a couple of doctors that could be accessed to participate in this study and help recruit others. The survey form was shared with them through different social networking platforms. The consent form clearly stated at the top of the survey that their responses and identities would be kept confidential, and if they feel uncomfortable while filling in the survey that they can leave it at any stage. The overall process of data collection took 3 months: starting from February 2022 and ending in April 2022 (at the time that the fifth was considered over).

Considerations regarding the selected sample size include: First, the recommended, calculated minimum sample size was 10 participants for each scale item. Regardless of the number of items on a scale, at least 210–310 participants are recommended for factor analysis (33). The sample size (N = 319) in our study was sufficient according to the ideal ratio of items (10:1). Second, the former relevant studies have considered healthcare workers or professionals (including doctors) as their samples (29–31). Representative size may be questioned, yet the current study has only focused on the frontline doctors compared to the entire medical staff (representation is intentionally limed to this select and important group). Third is the size needed for analysis, whereby structural equation modeling (SEM) requires a minimum of 200 and a maximum of 500 samples for the data analysis regarding the estimation of good results (34). Therefore, the samples (N = 319) of this current research were in between these two thresholds and considered adequately suited for final analysis.

2.2. Survey instrument

The survey form was entirely designed in English with two major sections. The first section elicited standard sociodemographic features such as area, gender, age, etc. and for section two, the DASS-21 instrument (35) was adopted to measure the levels of depression, anxiety, and stress of the doctors. Section one was further classified into ten major sociodemographic questions including area, gender, age, marital status, workplace, job title, current area of practice and work. In addition, two questions about the media preference and the consumption of COVID-19 related news on that specific media channel/portal were also included in this section. To assess psychological states, the DASS-21 instrument contains a total of 21 items with 7 items for each of the three dimensions (depression, anxiety, and stress) respectively. Participating medical doctors were encouraged to rate their responses about the current situation which they were facing in the midst of the fifth wave of COVID-19. A four-point Likert type scale was incorporated to capture their responses ranging from 0 (did not apply to me at all) to 3 (applied to me very much) to avoid mid-point non-meaningful responses. The lower scores represent a normal range; however, the higher scores indicate a more severe emotional situation affecting the doctors. This instrument has previously been shown to exhibit very high reliability and validity and used in a very recent study (32). Furthermore, the validity and reliability of DASS-21 during the COVID-19 period have also been confirmed (36). It has robust validity and reliability values. We therefore employed the original and still widely used version of the scale for the current study.

2.3. Statistical analysis

All statistical procedures were first evaluated using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23.0 and later the reliability and validity of DASS-21 were processed by the Analysis of a Moment Structures (AMOS) version 23.0. In SPSS, the descriptive statistics and one-way ANOVA were performed to report the frequency and percentages of all sociodemographic features of the participants and to document the significant differences among each demographic sub-section. In addition, the individual scores for depression, anxiety, and stress as well as the overall scores of DASS-21 were also evaluated. All essential aspects for testing the reliability and validity of DASS-21 were examined in AMOS.

3. Results

3.1. Respondents' features

In this study, a total of 319 frontline doctors completed the survey form. The sociodemographic details of the respondents are presented in Table 1 (through SPSS). Many frontline doctors belonged to the Pakistan region of Punjab (N = 155, 48.6%) and 87.8% of the respondents were young with an age range between 20 and 30. Female doctors heavily dominated the sample set with 73%. Regarding marital status, those separated/divorced participants were minimal (only 1.2% of the sample) and most were single (N = 227, 71.2%). In terms of their workplace and job title, 87.8% of the doctors were directly associated with the hospitals and 60.5% were titled as the house officers. Most of them were working in the private sector (N = 176, 55.2%) and performing their duties in wards (N = 143, 44.8%). Regarding media use, a large majority of doctors (N = 280) preferred digital media over newspapers and television. 63% of the frontline doctors reported they consume any form of media for less than an hour daily, mainly to update themselves on news regarding COVID-19, thus can be considered minimal and functional or information-oriented media consumers.

3.2. Levels of depression, anxiety, and stress of frontline doctors

The significant differences regarding the three facets (depression, anxiety, and stress) of DASS-21 among each demographic feature were evaluated based on the one-way ANOVA results. The findings revealed that there were significant differences between the sub-categories of gender (F = 12.542, p < 0.05; F = 5.505, p < 0.05; F = 6.470, p < 0.05), marital status (F = 3.571, p < 0.05; F = 6.283, p < 0.05; F = 4.375, p < 0.05), and job title (F = 5.069, p < 0.05; F = 7.110 p < 0.050.05; F = 6.390, p < 0.05) of the frontline doctors in reporting depression, anxiety, and stress. In addition, significant differences were also witnessed among the age (F = 3.368, p < 0.05; F= 2.825, p < 0.05) and daily media coverage consumption (F = 8.058, p < 0.05; F = 3.185, p < 0.05) between the doctors concerning the levels of anxiety and stress. However, the other sub-categories of respondents' profile (i.e., area, workplace, area of practice and others) did not have any statistically significant differences regarding the levels of depression, anxiety, and stress. To highlight these findings, the significant values obtained from one-way ANOVA for depression, anxiety, and stress against every sociodemographic feature are stated in Table 1.

The overall trend (Table 2) of the scores revealed that the frontline doctors were having noticeable symptoms of all three: depression (N = 232, 72.7%), anxiety (N = 224, 70.2%), and

TABLE 1 Features of respondents and one-way ANOVA results.

Variables		N (%)	Depr	ession	Anx	kiety	Stress	
			F	p	F	p	F	р
Area	Punjab	155 (48.6)	0.513	0.798	0.286	0.943	0.333	0.919
	Sindh	25 (7.8)						
	КРК	24 (7.5)						
	Baluchistan	9 (2.8)						
	АЈК	13 (4.1)						
	Gilgit-Baltistan	2 (0.6)						
	Islamabad (ICT)	91 (28.5)						
Gender	Male	86 (27.0)	12.542	< 0.001	5.505	0.020	6.470	0.011
	Female	233 (73.0)						
Age	20-30	280 (87.8)	2.488	0.061	3.368	0.019	2.825	0.039
	31-41	18 (5.6)						
	42-52	13 (4.1)						
	53-63	8 (2.5)						
Marital Status	Single	227 (71.2)	3.571	0.014	6.283	< 0.001	4.375	0.005
	Married	88 (27.6)						
	Separated	1 (0.3)						
	Divorced	3 (0.9)						
Workplace	Hospital	280 (87.8)	0.139	0.936	2.205	0.087	2.639	0.050
	Health clinic	28 (8.8)						
	District health office	8 (2.5)						
	State health office	3 (0.9)						
Job Title	House officer	193 (60.5)	5.069	0.007	7.110	0.001	6.390	0.002
	Medical officer	84 (26.3)						
	Specialist	42 (13.2)						
Current area of practice	Public sector	132 (41.4)	1.255	0.263	1.200	0.274	2.299	0.130
	Private sector	187 (58.6)						
Current area of work	Emergency	55 (17.2)	0.520	0.595	0.087	0.917	0.798	0.451
	OPD	121 (37.9)						
	Ward	143 (44.8)						
What is your media preference?	Digital media	280 (87.8)	0.090	0.914	0.831	0.437	0.170	0.844
	Television	35 (11.0)						
	Newspaper	4 (1.3)						
News about COVID-19 (per day)?	<1 h	201 (63.0)	2.588	0.053	8.058	<0.001	3.185	0.024
	1–2 h	76 (23.8)						
	3-4 h	24 (7.5)						
	More than 4 h	18 (5.6)						

stress (N = 186, 58.3%). The depression symptoms range among respondents were extremely severe (22.9%), severe (10.7%), moderate (23.8%), and mild (15.4%) respectively. Less intense, the symptoms of anxiety ranged from 8.5% as mild, 14.4% as moderate, 11.6% as severe, and 35.7% as extremely severe in frontline doctors. The participants' reported stress symptoms ranging from 16.3% extremely severe, 17.6% severe, 14.7% moderate, and 9.7% mild. Furthermore, the mean scores for DASS-21 (M = 51.69) and its subscales were also calculated to evaluate the exact level of depression (M = 17.31), anxiety (M = 15.24), and stress (M = 19.14) among the frontline doctors. The mean scores highlighted that the frontline doctors of Pakistan were having severe levels of anxiety and moderate levels of depression and stress.

TABLE 2 Levels of depression, anxiety, and stress.

	Depression			Anxiety		Stress			
	Limit	Ν	%	Limit	N	%	Limit	N	%
Normal	0-9	87	27.3	0-7	95	29.8	0-14	133	41.7
Mild	10-13	49	15.4	8-9	27	8.5	15-18	31	9.7
Moderate	14-20	76	23.8	10-14	46	14.4	19–25	47	14.7
Severe	21-27	34	10.7	15-19	37	11.6	26-33	56	17.6
Extremely severe	28+	73	22.9	20+	114	35.7	34+	52	16.3

TABLE 3 DASS-21 items and loading.

DASS-21 items	Depression	Anxiety	Stress
DN1-I could not seem to experience any positive feeling at all	0.730		
DN2-I found it difficult to work up the initiative to do things	0.716		
DN3-I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	0.789		
DN4-I felt downhearted and blue	0.865		
DN5-I was unable to become enthusiastic about anything	0.850		
DN6-I felt I was not worth much as a person	0.751		
DN7-I felt that life was meaningless	0.743		
AT1-I was aware of dryness of my mouth		0.510	
AT2-I experienced breathing difficulty		0.621	
AT3-I experienced trembling		0.713	
AT4-I was worried about situations in which I might panic and make a fool of myself		0.746	
AT5-I felt I was close to panic		0.800	
AT6-I was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion		0.772	
AT7-I felt scared without any good reason		0.827	
ST1-I found it hard to wind down			0.762
ST2-I tended to over-react to situations			0.808
ST3-I felt that I was using a lot of nervous energy			0.853
ST4-I found myself getting agitated			0.835
ST5-I found it difficult to relax			0.801
ST6-I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing			0.811
ST7-I felt that I was rather touchy			0.757

3.3. Reliability and validity of the DASS-21

An assessment of DASS-21 was carried out in AMOS, to reconfirm its reliability and validity among the frontline doctors in the context of Pakistan. The process of evaluation was done by considering different approaches such as alpha values, composite reliability (C.R.), confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), construct and convergent validity, and fitness indices in AMOS. The model has fulfilled the minimum required values suggested by the literature (**34**) regarding CFA (>0.50) and reliability (Table 3). The DASS-21 showed an overall excellent internal consistency reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.953$, McDonald's $\omega = 0.954$) as well as for its sub-scales such as, Depression (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.913$, McDonald's $\omega =$ $\omega = 0.917$), Anxiety (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.883$, McDonald's $\omega =$ 0.884), and Stress (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.928$, McDonald's $\omega = 0.928$). Furthermore, for each factor, all the square roots of average variance extracted (AVE) are highlighted in bold and shown (Table 4) to be greater than the coefficients or off-diagonal elements in the corresponding rows and columns, thus establishing evidence of discriminant validity (>0.70).

Table 4 also indicates that the C.R. values for depression (0.915), anxiety (0.881), and stress (0.926) were relatively higher than the minimum limit of acceptance (>0.70). In addition, the values of AVE for depression, anxiety, and stress were 0.608, 0.519, and 0.617 respectively. It reconfirms that the values have crossed the required minimum threshold (>0.50). Lastly, the fitness indices confirmed that the data were well fitted with the measurement model of DASS-21 which indicates the attainment of construct

		C.R.	AVE	Depression	Anxiety	Stress
Depression	0.913	0.915	0.608	0.780		
Anxiety	0.883	0.881	0.519	0.696***	0.825	
Stress	0.928	0.929	0.647	0.761***	0.720***	0.805

TABLE 4 Results of validity and reliability.

*** $\rho < 0.001$. Bold values represent the establishing evidence of discriminant validity (>0.70).



validity: $\chi^2 = 302.015$, $\chi^2/dF = 1.67$, SRMR = 0.040, GFI = 0.920, NFI = 0.937, IFI = 0.973, TLI 0.969, CFI = 0.973, PNFI 0.803, and RMSEA = 0.046 (37, 38). The measurement model of DASS-21 is presented in Figure 1. Therefore, these procedures of instrument testing confirmed that the use of DASS-21 is validated among the frontline doctors in the cultural context of Pakistan.

3.4. Correlations

The correlations between depression, anxiety, and stress were also examined in the current study (Table 4). The findings revealed that depression was positively and significantly correlated with anxiety (r = 0.696, p < 0.001) and stress (r = 0.761, p < 0.001). Furthermore, a positive and significant association between anxiety

and stress (r = 0.720, p < 0.001) was also witnessed from the findings of this present study.

4. Discussion

The study aimed to fill noted gaps to extend pandemic research to document the symptoms and levels of depression, anxiety, and stress among the frontline doctors in Pakistan during the fifth wave of COVID-19, and to validate DASS-21 in the context of Pakistan. Past research in Pakistan tended to focus mainly on HCW but could not be extrapolated to project the special case situation or psychological orientations faced by frontline doctors who had to actively deal with a pandemic that lasted several years and face the unabating needs of COVID-19 patients. Most of the previous research had been carried out during the initial waves of COVID-19 and though contributing much toward general understandings of the psychological effects of a pandemic, had not yet found ways to study the ongoing mental health of frontline doctors, especially during this late stage, in the fifth wave of COVID-19. Most importantly, a well-established scale (DASS-21) had not been previously considered or validated, either in Pakistan or tested for its effectiveness in determining which psychological symptoms arise more prominently in medical or para-medical staff. Therefore, connecting all the above-mentioned limitations, the current study is designed to fill the gaps in the existing literature.

It is evident in this study that 72.7% of doctors were having the symptoms of depression, 70.2% were having anxiety, and 58.3% were dealing with stress arising from the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings revealed that the psychological symptoms reported during the fifth wave of COVID-19 are much higher than the previously documented symptoms had been during the start of pandemic (29). This may be a logical finding from an ongoing pandemic, but has not been studied or confirmed previously, nor the impact expected to this hight degree. In addition, doctors rated moderate levels of depression and stress, but severe levels of anxiety specifically related to COVID-19 issues. The levels are in line with the findings of previous research which reported the severity of anxiety among the HCW in Pakistan (7). It has been reported that the symptoms and levels of depression, anxiety, and stress are more intense over time as compared to the earlier studies (30, 31). In comparison to the normal populace, it seems that mental health of the frontline doctors is seriously affected and considerably worse since the emergence of COVID-19 pandemic, suggesting that their needs may need to be recognized and better dealt with. Even though the treatment system has been improved and multiple vaccines are available and have been administered broadly, medical doctors are still facing psychological challenges.

In terms of the validation of DASS-21, the results of multiple statistical procedures essential for the attainment of reliability and validity of any measurement tool were fulfilled in the current study. There is abundant evidence available in the literature that has confirmed that DASS-21 is a reliable and valid scale for the assessment of depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms among various cultural contexts (32, 35). However, very few studies are available that confirm DASS-21 as a valid measurement tool in the cultural context of Pakistan, and if so, most have been applied to the general public (28) not specifically to the frontline doctors of Pakistan. The findings of this investigation revealed that DASS-21 is a valid and reliable measurement tool to document the depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms of frontline doctors during the fifth wave of COVID-19 on the cultural setting of Pakistan.

Though it has been established that mental health challenges are not limited to ordinary citizens or persons that have already been diagnosed as having mental health diseases, this study shows that those professionals that society relies on most during times of international health crises suffer at higher rates than might be expected. COVID-19 studies have already warned the world that the pandemic will likely have lasting impacts on the masses. The findings of the existing study have reconfirmed their predictions. Continuing in the line of studies that have examined HCW and the medical profession, this study shows even more clearly that even doctors, who are trained to deal with crises and have many such experiences, are not unaffected by its impacts, and in fact, perhaps suffer far more than expected. Pakistan has excellent medical doctor training, and its physicians are expected to perform an important role in the stability of society. Therefore, findings like these on the existence of serious levels of depression, anxiety, and stress among them even (or especially after dealing with several years of this pandemic) cannot be neglected due to the potential adverse effects on the society.

The pandemic may now have subsided, but more research is needed to determine if there are any long-term psychological syndromes that linger among medical professionals. Facing such facts, both policy makers and administrators need to ensure more support and assistance focused on frontline doctors. Their mental health can be improved or maintained primarily through two main bodies: the government and hospitals. The government should focus on providing certain seminars or training sessions for the counseling of their frontline doctors to secure and ensure their mental health. The hospitals and doctors' associations could regularly monitor their mental wellbeing and provide treatments to their HCW. Though effective strategies based on such research findings, Pakistan or other countries with similar conditions might be able to provide better medical conditions and staff support to effectively serve public health needs.

4.1. Limitations

Potential limitations associated with this study include its snowball, cross-sectional design, and inability to explore further effects. The cross-sectional research technique was incorporated as the only viable option under the pandemic conditions and constraints at that time, and the design proved unable to effectively examine the direct cause and effects among different factors. In this study, it was also a limitation that the samples gathered were mostly females (with no clear reasons why fewer male doctors responded), thus gender responses can be explored further, as well as what long-term effects might be noted regarding the mental health of either gender group. The responses are also noted to be time- and situation-sensitive and might change under future conditions, representing a common limitation of survey research. Fourth, the reliability of the participants' answers may be problematic because our study was conducted online. However, online data collection was not just preferable but the only viable option, as the survey was conducted during COVID-19 pandemic measures. Thus, conclusions drawn can only be tentative and generalized to situations like those examined. Future researchers could identify personality and situational factors that might directly be influencing the depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms of the doctors or compare the scores of DASS-21 with other developing or developed countries.

5. Conclusion

The mental wellbeing of the frontline doctors is a necessity for any country or nation during both normal and emergency situations like the COVID-19 pandemic. The current study has shed light on the alarming symptoms and higher-than-expected levels of depression, anxiety, and stress among the frontline doctors who have had to cope with the fifth wave of COVID-19 in Pakistan. Highlighting this issue warrants serious consideration from the government and both public and private hospitals' management. The policy makers in Pakistan or similar countries need to frame new polices to ensure their doctor's wellbeing which can ultimately influence the betterment of health in the society. The present study also validated the established DASS-21 instrument in the cultural context of Pakistan. Future research could seek to identify personality and situational factors that are directly influencing the depression, anxiety, and stress of doctors to consider correlations between factors or moderating variables. More studies targeting the long-term impacts of COVID-19 and the post-pandemic situation on the mental health of doctors or other health care populations will be beneficial for a greater understanding concerning the nature and influences of these past and future pandemics.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Ethics Review Committee of the SISU Intercultural Institute (SII), Shanghai International Studies University (SISU), China (2022-SII/IRB-0103). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

MN: investigation, conceptualization, methodology, validation, data collection, formal analysis, and writing—original draft preparation. SK: conceptualization, methodology, resources, and writing—review and editing. IB: conceptualization, formal analysis, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was conducted as an extended part of the (Post-Doctoral) Research Program of the SISU Intercultural Institute, Shanghai International Studies University (SISU), Shanghai, China, related to the 2021-2024 SISU University Key Project Number: 2021114007 (Studies on the mechanisms of intercultural communication and interactions in international communication channels).

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the contributions of Miss Meerab A. Harram and her team members in assisting with collecting data from these medical doctor samples during the COVID-19 pandemic. During a time when all were facing both distress and danger, we express our deep appreciation and gratitude for the efforts and help of each.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Uygur OF, Uygur H. Association of post-COVID-19 fatigue with mental health problems and sociodemographic risk factors. *Fatigue Biomed Health Behav.* (2021) 9:196–208. doi: 10.1080/21641846.2021.2000251

2. Cirrincione L, Plescia F, Ledda C, Rapisarda V, Martorana D, Moldovan RE, et al. COVID-19 pandemic: prevention and protection measures to be adopted at the workplace. *Sustainability.* (2020) 12:3603. doi: 10.3390/su1209 3603

3. Elbay RY, Kurtulmuş A, Arpacioglu S, Karadere E. Depression, anxiety, stress levels of physicians and associated factors in COVID-19 pandemics. *Psychi Res.* (2020) 290:113130. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113130

4. Zhang XY, English AS, Kulich SJ, Chen YX. How mask gap impacts discrimination and anxiety during COVID-19: a study on overseas Chinese during the first outbreak in 2020. Soc Pers Psyc Compass. (2023) e12793. doi: 10.1111/spc3.12793

5. Pedrosa AL, Bitencourt L, Fróes ACF, Cazumbá MLB, Campos RGB, de Brito SBCS, et al. Emotional, behavioral, and psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:566212. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566212

6. Kulich SJ, Komisarof A, Smith LR, Cushner K. Re-examining intercultural research and relations in the COVID pandemic. *Int J of Inter Relations*. (2021) 80:A1-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijintrel.2020.12.003

 Saleem Z, Majeed MM, Rafique S, Siqqiqui Z, Ghandhi D, Tariq H, et al. COVID-19 pandemic fear and anxiety among healthcare professionals in Pakistan. *Res Squ.* (2020) 1–16. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-37608/v2

8. Li X, English AS, Kulich SJ. Anger among Chinese migrants amid COVID-19 discrimination: the role of host news coverage, cultural distance, and national identity. *PLoS ONE*. (2021) 16:866. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259866

9. Torales J, O'Higgins M, Castaldelli-Maia JM, Ventriglio A. The outbreak of COVID-19 coronavirus and its impact on global mental health. *Int J Soc Psychiatry.* (2020) 66:317–20. doi: 10.1177/0020764020915212

10. Cullen W, Gulati G, Kelly BD. Mental health in the COVID-19 pandemic. *QJM*. (2020) 11:311–2. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcaa110

11. Wong LP, Farid NDN, Alias H, Yusop SM, Musa Z, Hu Z, et al. COVID-19 responses and coping in young Malaysians from low-income families. *Front Psychiatry*. (2023) 14:1165023. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1165023

12. Badahdah AM, Khamis F, Al Mahyijari N. The psychological well-being of physicians during COVID-19 outbreak in Oman. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 289:113053. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113053

13. Holas P, Wojtkowiak N, Gambin M, Hansen K, Kmita G, Pisula E, et al. Factors associated with burnout in Polish healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:1018612. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1018612

14. Hummel S, Oetjen N, Du J, Posenato E, Resende de Almeida RM, Losada R. et al. Mental health among medical professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic in eight European countries: cross-sectional survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2021) 23:e24983. doi: 10.2196/24983

15. Nguyen HTH, Hoang AP, Vu LM, Tran DQ, Bui LK, Pham TT, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with depression among nursing students acting on the frontline of COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:1020419. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1020419

16. Mosheva M, Hertz-Palmor N, Dorman Ilan S, Matalon N, Pessach IM, Afek A, et al. Anxiety, pandemic-related stress and resilience among physicians during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Depress Anxiety.* (2020) 37:965–71. doi: 10.1002/da.23085

17. Ceri V, Cicek I. Psychological well-being, depression and stress during COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey: a comparative study of healthcare professionals and non-healthcare professionals. *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 26:85–97. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1859566

18. Khalaf OO, Khalil MA, Abdelmaksoud R. Coping with depression and anxiety in Egyptian physicians during COVID-19 pandemic. *Middle East Curr Psychiatry*. (2020) 27:1–7. doi: 10.1186/s43045-020-00070-9

19. Javadekar A, Javadekar S, Chaudhury S, Saldanha D. Depression, anxiety, stress, and sleep disturbances in doctors and general population during COVID-19 pandemic. *Ind Psychiatry J.* (2021) 30:20–4. doi: 10.4103/0972-6748.328783

20. Ofei-Dodoo S, Loo-Gross C, Kellerman R. Burnout, depression, anxiety, and stress among family physicians in Kansas responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Board Fam Med. (2021) 34:522–30. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2021.03.200523

21. Almalki AH, Alzahrani MS, Alshehri FS, Alharbi A, Alkhudaydi SF, Alshahrani RS, et al. The psychological impact of COVID-19 on healthcare workers in Saudi Arabia: a year later into the pandemic. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:797545. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.797545

22. Zhou Z, Luo D, Yang BX, Liu Z. Machine learning-based prediction models for depression symptoms among Chinese healthcare workers during the early COVID-19 outbreak in 2020: a cross-sectional study. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:876995. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.876995

23. Alnaser MZ, Alotaibi N, Nadar MS, Manee F, Alrowayeh HN. Manifestation of generalized anxiety disorder and its association with somatic symptoms among

occupational and physical therapists during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:891276. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.891276

24. Hajebi A, Abbasinejad M, Zafar M, Hajebi A, Taremian F. Mental health, burnout, and job stressors among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic in Iran: a cross-sectional survey. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:891430. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.891430

25. Babicki M, Kowalski K. Bogudzi'nska B, Mastalerz-Migas A. Alterations in mental health and quality of life among healthcare workers in times of COVID-19: four-stage cross-sectional study during first four pandemic waves in Poland. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:1027734. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1027734

26. Arefin S, Rashid T, Bhattacharjee M, Habib MD, Islam MA, Rahaman MA. The whole sky has broken down on me. I might die alone: a qualitative study on the lived experiences of COVID-19 positive frontline workers in Bangladesh. *Front Sociol.* (2022) 7:1054921. doi: 10.3389/fsoc.2022.1054921

27. Kamran K, Ali A. Challenges and strategies for Pakistan in the third wave of covid-19: a mini review. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:690820. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.690820

28. Wang C, Tee M, Roy AE, Fardin MA, Srichokchatchawan W, Habib HA, et al. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on physical and mental health of Asians: a study of seven middle-income countries in Asia. *PloS One.* (2021) 16:e0246824. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246824

29. Salman M, Raza MH, Ul Mustafa Z, Khan TM, Asif N, Tahir H. The psychological effects of COVID-19 on frontline healthcare workers and how they are coping: a web-based, cross-sectional study from Pakistan. *MedRxiv.* (2020) 5:2020–26. doi: 10.1101/2020.06.03.20119867

30. Rashid A, Faisal K. Pandemic anxiety and its correlates among young doctors working frontline in Pakistan. *Glo Men Hea*. (2020) 7:e27. doi: 10.1017/gmh.2020.22

31. Amin F, Sharif S, Saeed R, Durrani N, Jilani D. COVID-19 pandemic-knowledge, perception, anxiety and depression among frontline doctors of Pakistan. *BMC Psychi.* (2020) 20:459. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02864-x

32. Makara-Studzińska M, Tyburski E, Załuski M, Adamczyk K, Mesterhazy J, Mesterhazy A. Confirmatory factor analysis of three versions of the depression anxiety stress scale (DASS-42, DASS-21, and DASS-12) in Polish adults. *Front in Psychi*. (2022) 12:2342. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.770532

33. Uygur OF, Uygur H, Chung S, Ahmed O, Demiroz D, Aydin EF, et al. Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the glasgow sleep effort scale. *Sleep Med.* (2022) 98:144–51. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2022.06.022

34. Hair JF, Black B, Babin B, Anderson RE, Tatham RL. *Multivariate Data Analysis:* A *Global Perspective*. New Jersey, NJ: Pearson Education Inc, USA. (2010).

35. Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the depression anxiety stress scales (DASS) with the beck depression and anxiety inventories. *Behav Res Ther.* (1995) 33:335–43. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(94)00 075-U

36. Uygur FU, Uygur H, Demiroz D, Ahmed O. COVID-19 Worry and related factors: Turkish adaptation and psychometric properties of the COVID-19 Worry Scale. *Alpha Psychiatry.* (2022) 23:276–83. doi: 10.5152/alphapsychiatry.2022.2 2926

37. Uygur OF, Ahmed O, Bahar A, Hursitoglu O, Aydin EF, Chung S, et al. Adaptation and validation of the Turkish version of the ford insomnia response to stress test in university students. *Nat Sci Sleep*. (2023) 15:139–49. doi: 10.2147/NSS.S39 8489

38. Hu LT, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equ Modeling*. (1999) 6:1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Samer El Hayek, Erada Center for Treatment and Rehab, United Arab Emirates

REVIEWED BY Filiz Adana, Adnan Menderes University, Türkiye Vincent Hooper, Prince Mohammad bin Fahd University, Saudi Arabia

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhixu Wang ⊠ zhixu_wang@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 28 March 2023 ACCEPTED 05 June 2023 PUBLISHED 22 June 2023

CITATION

Ding Y, Shi X, Li G, Liang Q, Yang Z, Peng Y, Deng H and Wang Z (2023) Effects of dynamic zero COVID-19 policy on anxiety status and lifestyle changes of pregnant women in rural South China: a survey-based analysis by propensity score matching method. *Front. Public Health* 11:1182619. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1182619

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ding, Shi, Li, Liang, Yang, Peng, Deng and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of dynamic zero COVID-19 policy on anxiety status and lifestyle changes of pregnant women in rural South China: a survey-based analysis by propensity score matching method

Ye Ding^{1†}, Xi Shi^{1†}, Genyuan Li¹, Qingfen Liang², Ziqi Yang³, Yanxia Peng⁴, Huiqin Deng⁵ and Zhixu Wang^{1*}

¹Department of Maternal, Child and Adolescent Health, School of Public Health, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ²Lingshan Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Qinzhou, China, ³Tianyang Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Baise, China, ⁴Zijin Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Heyuan, China, ⁵Longchuan Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Heyuan, China

Introduction: The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic triggered a global public health crisis and has brought an unprecedented impact on pregnant women. The problems faced by pregnant women in the rural areas of China during the epidemic are different from those in urban areas. Although the epidemic situation in China has gradually improved, studying the impact of the previous dynamic zero COVID-19 policy on the anxiety status and lifestyle of pregnant women in rural areas of China, is still necessary.

Methods: A cross-sectional survey of pregnant women in rural South China was conducted from September 2021 to June 2022.Using questionnaires, sociodemographic characteristics, anxiety status, physical activity, sleep quality, and dietary status of the population were collected. Using the propensity score matching method, the effect of the dynamic zero COVID-19 strategy on the anxiety status and lifestyle of pregnant women was analyzed.

Results: Among the pregnant women in the policy group (n=136) and the control group (n=680), 25.7 and 22.4% had anxiety disorders, 83.1 and 84.7% had low or medium levels of physical activity, and 28.7 and 29.1% had sleep disorders, respectively. However, no significant difference (p >0.05) was observed between the two groups. Compared with control group, the intake of fruit in the policy group increased significantly (p =0.019), whereas that of aquatic products and eggs decreased significantly (p =0.027). Both groups exhibited an unreasonable dietary structure and poor compliance with the Chinese dietary guidelines for pregnant women (p >0.05). The proportion of pregnant women in the policy group, whose intake of stable food (p = 0.002), soybean, and nuts (p =0.004) was less than the recommended amount, was significantly higher than that in the control group.

Discussion: The dynamic zero COVID-19 strategy had little impact on the anxiety status, physical activity, and sleep disorders of pregnant women in the rural areas of South China. However, it affected their intake of certain food groups. Improving corresponding food supply and organized nutritional support should be addressed as a strategic approach to improve the health of pregnant women in rural South China during the pandemic.

KEYWORDS

dynamic zero COVID-19 policy, rural areas, pregnant women, anxiety, lifestyles

1. Introduction

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic triggered a global public health crisis and has brought an unprecedented impact on the health, economy, and society on the entire human population (1). According to the statistics published on the WHO website, as of December 2022, the number of patients with COVID-19 worldwide reached 730 million, with a mortality rate of over 0.92% (2). With the global spread of the epidemic, its harm to people was no longer limited to the direct impact of the virus itself, but also included the health impacts of psychological changes, medical delays, reduced exercise, and other changes caused by the epidemic. Pregnancy is a special stage in a woman's life. Studies showed that, compared with non-pregnant women, pregnant women infected with COVID-19 had a higher risk of entering the ICU and receiving mechanical ventilation (3, 4) and were associated with an increased risk of maternal and neonatal complications, such as preeclampsia, miscarriage, preterm birth, intrauterine growth restriction, and fetal distress (5, 6). So far, the direct threat of COVID-19 to pregnant women's health has been widely concerned, but its indirect threat to pregnant women still needs further evaluation. Due to changes in hormones, concerns about fetal growth, and fear of pain caused by childbirth, the emotional sensitivity of pregnant women (especially primiparous women) fluctuates greatly. Studies have found that problems such as the risk of COVID-19 infection, inconvenience of medical services, and irritability induced by access being limited to the home aggravated the anxiety of pregnant women and even increased mental illness prevalence (7, 8). This epidemic also significantly affected their physical activity, sleep, and diet, which further affected maternal and infant health (9). For example, studies in Japan and Poland have found that the pandemic may have affected the physical activity level or even accelerated physical inactivity (9, 10). Because of the decrease in activity time, sleep rhythm disorders occurred, and the risk of sleep disorders increased (11). Some studies comparing the dietary consumption of pregnant women before and during the COVID-19 pandemic have shown that the intake of vegetables, fruits, dairy products, fish, and legumes decreased (1, 9).

The rural population of China is huge (approximately 500 million) (12). Compared with cities with large population mobility, rural areas have a relatively fixed population, which is advantageous for epidemic prevention and control. In the early stage, average COVID-19 infection rates were lower in rural areas than in urban areas. However, with the spread of the epidemic, COVID-19 had hit rural residents considerably harder than urban residents (13). In rural areas, information is not available in time, medical resources are scarce, and medical conditions are worse compared with those in cities (14, 15). Houses in rural areas are scattered and the roads extend in all directions. Therefore, implementing blockade and quarantine measures in rural areas is not as convenient as in urban areas. Because of the low health literacy level and weak awareness of prevention, rural people wear masks considerably less frequently than urban residents (16). In addition, the shops in rural areas are relatively limited. Many shops are closed during the epidemic, and people have no suitable goods to choose from (9). Based on these particularities, studying the changes in the psychology, physical activity, sleep, and diet of pregnant women in rural China during the epidemic is necessary. However, the relevant research is relatively limited.

With an increase in vaccine coverage and the availability of specific drugs, the epidemic prevention and control measures in China have been adjusted. From August 2021, the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy of full-chain precise prevention and control has been adopted. When COVID-19 cases occur, effective and comprehensive prevention and control measures will be taken to quickly cut off the transmission chain of the epidemic, so that each epidemic can end in time, the number of infected people will be "zero ", and the maximum effect will be achieved at the lowest cost (17, 18). The specific measures include three aspects: first, timely and active detection of the infection source, mainly by mon-itoring the early warning of fever clinics and by using some rapid detection and screening methods, such as antigen and nucleic acid detection, after the collection of nasal and throat swabs. Second, when cases are found, public health and social intervention measures need to be taken quickly, including control of the outbreak point, management of close contacts, epidemiological investigation, and reduction of crowd gathering. Third, patients must be effectively treated, mainly by combining traditional Chinese and western medicine therapies, thus aiming to immediately stop the progress of the epidemic, prevent the disease from worsening, and reduce the occurrence of severe cases and death (19).

Although Chinese people have gradually returned to normal life, whether the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy has affected the psychological, physical activity, sleep, and diet of pregnant women in the rural areas of China remains to be explored. Because the pandemic is not over yet, people may still follow certain behaviors to deal with COVID-19. We here conducted a cross-sectional survey on some pregnant women in rural South China and analyzed the effect of the dynamic zero COVID-19 strategy on the anxiety status and lifestyle of pregnant women based on the propensity score matching (PSM) method.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design and participants

This cross-sectional survey was conducted from September 2021 to June 2022 (the stage of the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy). The South China region is one of the seven major geographical regions in China, including Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Hainan Province, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, and Macau Special Administrative Region. A multi-stage sampling method was employed to enroll the study participants. In the first stage, Guangdong Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region were selected as representatives according to the geographical location and convenience of implementation. In the second stage, each province (or autonomous region) was divided into urban and rural areas. Finally, two maternal and child health care institutions were randomly selected from the rural areas of each province (or autonomous region). Pregnant women aged 18-49 who had resided locally for more than 12 months were recruited at these hospitals. Women with speech communication difficulties or mental disorders were excluded. All women provided their signed informed consent. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (No. 2021-S092).

2.2. Data collection and measures

In order to study the impact of the previous dynamic zero COVID-19 policy on the anxiety status and lifestyle of rural pregnant women, they were divided into policy group and control group. According to the government risk area demarcation, pregnant women with overlapping home addresses and risk areas were in the policy group and the remaining were in the control group. Pregnant women in the policy group obeyed the rules of the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy. None of the two groups were infected with COVID-19. The data on demographic characteristics, anxiety, physical activity, and sleep quality were collected through a face-to-face questionnaire survey, and the dietary status of pregnant women were evaluated using a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ). Of the original sample, 1,386 pregnant women were included. In order to eliminate the influence of confounding factors on the study results, we employed the nearest neighbor matching of the PSM method (20) based on the caliper value <0.02. The covariate factors used for matching included the pregnancy stage, age, ethnicity, education, income, and parity. Owing to the difficulties in the survey of pregnant women in the risk area and to improve the statistical power, a 1: 5 matching method was adopted. Finally, 136 women (16.7%) in the policy group and 680 women (83.3%) in the control group were enrolled. The covariates were balanced after matching, and the differences in the sociodemographic characteristics between the two groups before and after matching are presented in Table 1.

2.2.1. Questionnaires used to collect anxiety status, physical activity, and sleep quality

The Self-rating Anxiety Scale (SAS) used in this study was developed by Zung in 1971 (21) to assess the anxiety status of pregnant women in the past week. The correlation coefficient between this scale and the Hamilton Self-Rating Anxiety Scale was 0.37 (22). SAS consisted of 20 items. According to the frequency of symptoms, each item was categorized into 4 grades. Among them, 15 were positive scores and 5 were negative scores. The sum of the scores of 20 items was the total rough score, and the latter was multiplied by 1.25, which was the total standard score. In this study, a total standard score <50 was considered to indicate a normal condition, and a total standard score <50 was considered to indicate anxiety disorder, among which the score of 50–62 was considered to indicate a severe anxiety disorder (23).

The short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) was applied to measure the physical activity level of pregnant women in the past week. The questionnaire consisted of 7 items related to the frequency and duration of weekly walking, moderate-intensity, and vigorous-intensity physical activities. The reliability and validity of the Chinese version of IPAQ were tested. The reliability coefficient was found to be 0.66–0.89, and the validity coefficient was 0.60–0.78 (24). In this study, ac-cording to the energy requirements defined in metabolic equivalent (MET), these ac-tivities were weighted to generate a MET-minute score, which was then computed by multiplying the MET score with the minutes performed (walking = 3.3 METs, moderate activity = 4.0 METs, and vigorous activity = 8.0 METs). The total physical activity level (MET-min/week) of pregnant women was calculated and then divided into low, medium, and high intensities (25).

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) proposed by Buysse (26) in 1989 was referred to evaluate the sleep quality of pregnant women in the past month. The reliability and validity of the Chinese version of PSQI were tested in Chinese adults, and the results indicated that the split-half reliability coefficient was 0.82 and the overall Cronbach's α -coefficient was 0.85 (27). In this study, PSQI consisted of 18 self-reported items, which were divided into 7 subcategories, as given below: subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleeping medication, and daytime dysfunction. Each subcategory was scored 0–3. The total PSQI score ranged from 0 to 21, with higher scores indicating poorer sleep quality. PSQI ≤ 4 (good sleep), 4 < PSQI < 8 (general sleep), and PSQI ≥ 8 (sleep disorders) served as the criteria for judging sleep quality (28).

2.2.2. Food intake questionnaire and dietary data analysis

A semi-quantitative FFQ was used to investigate the dietary status of pregnant women in the past month. This FFQ includes the following 3 portions: the food list, the frequency of eating a certain food, and the amount of each consumption. There were 61 items on the food list, which were then divided into the following 13 categories: staple food (cereals and their products, potatoes, and beans other than soybeans); vegetables; fruits; livestock meat and poultry; aquatic products (fish, shrimp, and shellfish); eggs; milk and its products; soybean and its products; nuts; cooking oil; processed food; flavorings; beverages. It was specially designed for pregnant women and was validated against three 24-h dietary recalls. For foods, the intraclass correlation coefficients of two administrations of FFQ ranged from 0.23 (nuts) to 0.49 (fruits), and the energy-adjusted and de-attenuated correlation coefficients between the 2 methods ranged from 0.35 (beans) to 0.56 (fruits) (29). To improve the accuracy of food-weight estimation, tableware and the food atlas developed by our research team were integrated into the dietary intake recall (30).

The raw data on the amount of food was input into EpiData software for verification. The daily food intake of each group was then calculated. The food intakes of the 9 main food groups (i.e., staple food; vegetables; fruits; livestock meat and poultry; aquatic products; eggs; milk and its products; soybean and its products; nuts) were compared with the recommended intakes of the Chinese balanced dietary pagoda for pregnant women (31). The number of pregnant women within and out of the recommended intake ranges was recorded. The Chinese Dietary Guidelines Compliance Index for Pregnant Women (CDGCI-PW) was further used to assess the overall dietary status of pregnant women. This index was developed by our research group (32) and included 13 components, with a total score of 100 points. The CDGCI-PW score reflected the compliance of the pregnant women with the Chinese dietary guidelines for pregnant women. The higher the CDGCI-PW score, the better the dietary quality.

2.3. Statistical analysis

SPSS V.24 was used for statistical analysis. Normally distributed continuous variables were expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and compared via Student's *t*-test. Non-normally distributed continuous variables were ex-pressed as median (interquartile range)

Characteristics	E	Before matching		After matching			
	Policy (n=136)	Control (n=1,250)	р	Policy (n=136)	Control (<i>n</i> =680)	p	
Pregnancy stage			0.873			0.750	
First trimester, <i>n</i> (%)	42 (30.9)	407 (32.6)		42 (30.9)	227 (33.4)		
Second trimester, <i>n</i> (%)	51 (37.5)	442 (35.4)		51 (37.5)	233 (34.3)		
Third trimester, <i>n</i> (%)	43 (31.6)	401 (32.0)		43 (31.6)	220 (32.3)		
Age (years), mean ± SD	29.7±5.9	28.8±5.1	0.088	29.7±5.9	29.4 ± 5.2	0.631	
Height (cm), mean±SD	156.3±4.6	156.5 ± 5.0	0.696	156.3±4.6	156.6±4.9	0.572	
Pre-pregnancy BMI (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	20.9±2.9	21.0±3.4	0.511	20.9±2.9	21.0±3.3	0.685	
Current BMI (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	23.5±3.3	23.4±3.7	0.576	24.8±3.6	23.0±3.5	0.140	
Ethnicity			<0.001			0.628	
Han, <i>n</i> (%)	82 (60.3)	933 (74.6)		82 (60.3)	425 (62.5)		
Minority, n (%)	54 (39.7)	317 (25.4)		54 (39.7)	255 (37.5)		
Educational level			0.068			0.898	
Junior high school and below, n (%)	54 (39.7)	599 (47.9)		54 (39.7)	274 (40.3)		
Junior high school above, n (%)	82 (60.3)	651 (52.1)		82 (60.3)	406 (59.7)		
Occupation			0.911			0.798	
Housewife, n (%)	83 (61.0)	769 (61.5)		83 (61.0)	407 (59.9)		
Working, <i>n</i> (%)	53 (39.0)	481 (38.5)		53 (39.0)	273 (40.1)		
Monthly income (RMB)			0.129			0.282	
<3,000, n (%)	64 (47.1)	504 (40.3)		64 (47.1)	286 (42.1)		
≥3,000, <i>n</i> (%)	72 (52.9)	746 (59.7)		72 (52.9)	394 (57.9)		
Parity			0.622			0.612	
Primiparous, n (%)	55 (40.4)	533 (42.6)		55 (40.4)	291 (42.8)		
Multiparous, <i>n</i> (%)	81 (59.6)	717 (57.4)		81 (59.6)	389 (57.2)		

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic characteristics of pregnant women before and after propensity score matching.

SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index.

and analyzed by the Mann–Whitney *U*-test. Categorical variables were expressed as frequency (*n*) and percentage (%) and analyzed using the Chi-square test or Mann–Whitney *U*-test. p < 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference.

3. Results

3.1. Sociodemographic characteristics of pregnant women

As shown in Table 1, before PSM, a significant difference in ethnic distribution was observed between the policy and control groups. After PSM, no statistically significant difference in baseline characteristics was observed between the two groups, indicating that the propensity scores were well-matched. In total, 816 pregnant women (mean age: 29.5 ± 5.5 years, mean height: 156.4 ± 5.1 cm, mean current body mass index (BMI): 23.3 ± 3.6 kg/m²) were included in the analysis. Among them, 34.8 and 32.2% of pregnant women were in the second and third trimesters, respectively. Of the pregnant women, 62.1% were Han nationality, 59.8% had an education level above junior high school, 60.0% were housewives, 46.3% had a *per capita* income of 3,000 yuan/month or more, and 57.6% were multiparous.

3.2. Anxiety status, physical activity, and sleep quality of pregnant women

The SAS scores of the policy and control groups were 46.3 ± 6.0 and 45.6 ± 5.4 , respectively. In the two groups, 34 (25.0%) and 150 (22.1%) pregnant women had mild anxiety disorder, while 1 (0.7%) and 2 (0.3%) pregnant women had severe anxiety disorder (Table 2). Further statistical analysis revealed no significant difference in anxiety status between the two groups (p = 0.771 and p = 0.380).

The physical activity scores of the policy and control groups were 1942.8 \pm 1521.4 MET-min/week and 1952.3 \pm 1563.2 MET-min/week, respectively, and there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups (p = 0.213). After being divided into different intensities based on scores, there were 40 (29.4%) and 156 (22.9%) pregnant women with low levels of physical activity, and 73 (53.7%) and 420 (61.8%) pregnant women with medium levels of physical activity in the policy group and control groups, respectively, with no statistically significant difference (p = 0.371).

The PSQI scores of the policy and control groups were 6.0 ± 3.1 and 6.1 ± 3.4 , respectively, and 39 (28.7%) and 198 (29.1%) pregnant women in the two groups had sleep disorders, respectively. Statistical analysis showed that there was no significant difference in the PSQI score and prevalence of sleep disorders between the two groups (p = 0.948 and p = 0.897).

3.3. Food intake of pregnant women

As shown in Table 3, compared with the control group, fruit intake in the policy group was significantly increased (300.0 > 260.0 g/ day, p = 0.019), whereas the intake of aquatic products (30.6 < 41.6 g/ day, p = 0.027) and eggs (28.6 < 34.3 g/day, p = 0.034) decreased significantly. The intake of other food groups, namely staple foods, vegetables, livestock meat and poultry, milk and its products, soybean and its products, and nuts, was not statistically significant between the two groups (p > 0.05).

In comparison with the corresponding recommended intake in the Chinese balanced dietary pagoda for pregnant women, the dietary structure of both groups was found to be unreasonable. As shown in Table 4, the main problems were concentrated in the large proportion of pregnant women with insufficient intake of milk and its products, soybean, and nuts. Moreover, statistical analysis revealed that the proportion of pregnant women in the policy group who consumed less than the recommended amounts of stable food (p = 0.002), soybean, and nuts (p = 0.004) was statistically higher than that in the control group. The intakes of other food groups, namely vegetables, fruits, livestock meat and poultry, aquatic products and eggs, and milk and its products, were not statistically significant between the two groups (p > 0.05).

The CDGCI-PW score represented the overall dietary status of pregnant women. The mean CDGCI-PW scores of the policy and control groups were 54.9 and 55.9, respectively, both lower than 60. This indicated poor compliance of pregnant women with the Chinese dietary guidelines for these women. Furthermore, statistical analysis exhibited no significant difference between the two groups (p = 0.392).

4. Discussion

This study provides snapshots of the anxiety status, physical activity, sleep quality, and dietary status of pregnant women in the rural areas of Guangdong Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region from September 2021 to June 2022 (the stage of the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy). As per our understanding, this study is the first to investigate the direct impact of the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy on the anxiety status and lifestyle of pregnant women in rural South China.

The COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly resulted in many changes in the life of pregnant women. Paying attention to the impact of prevention and control measures on their life status is also necessary (33). After confounding factors such as maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, and chronic history were adjusted, Giesbrecht et al. found that the epidemic increased the incidence of anxiety and depression among Canadian pregnant women (OR = 2.04, p < 0.001) (34). In our study of rural South China, 25.7 and 22.4% of pregnant women in the two groups had anxiety disorders, respectively. This proportion was significantly lower than that of fear, anxiety, and depression related to COVID-19 in the Chinese population at the beginning of 2020 (29.6%) (35), which is also lower than that of studies in Canada (56.6%) and Ethiopia (42.1%) (36, 37). The main reason for this phenomenon mainly because infection and mortality rates were significantly reduced towing to the prevention and control measures, such as lockdown and vaccination. You Chuan et al. found that 53.6% of pregnant women in Beijing did not exercise during the epidemic, and only one-fifth of them exercised for 20-60 min every day (38). Unlike pregnant women in urban areas, such as in Beijing, in our study, 29.4 and 22.9% of the pregnant women in the policy and control groups in the studied rural areas had a lower physical activity level, which was close to the physical activity level of rural residents in China (39). A study in Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia, found that 63% of pregnant women had poor sleep quality during the epidemic, which

TABLE 2 Comparison of the anxiety status, physical activity, and sleep quality of pregnant women between the two study groups.

Lifestyles	Item	Policy (<i>n</i> =136)	Control (<i>n</i> =680)	р
	SAS score, mean±SD	46.3±6.0	45.6 ± 5.4	0.771
	Anxiety levels, n (%)			0.380
Anxiety status	Normal	101 (74.3)	528 (77.6)	
	Mild	34 (25.0)	150 (22.1)	
	Severe	1 (0.7)	2 (0.3)	
	Physical activity score, MET-min/week, mean \pm SD	1942.8±1521.4	1952.3 ± 1563.2	0.213
	Physical activity levels, n(%)			0.371
Physical activity	Low	40 (29.4)	156 (22.9)	
letivity	Medium	73 (53.7)	420 (61.8)	
	High	23 (16.9)	104 (15.3)	
	PSQI score, mean ± SD	6.0±3.1	6.1 ± 3.4	0.948
	Sleep Quality, n (%)			0.897
Sleep quality	Good	48 (35.3)	249 (36.6)	
	General	49 (36.0)	233 (34.3)	
	Sleep disorders	39 (28.7)	198 (29.1)	

SAS, Self-rating Anxiety Scale; SD, standard deviation; MET: Metabolic Equivalent Task; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index.

was mainly a result of sleep rhythm disorder and psychological problems (40). In our study, the proportion of sleep disorders among pregnant women was considerably lower, accounting for only approximately 29% in both the policy and control groups. The study results showed that the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy led to no

TABLE 3 Comparison of food intake (g/day) of the pregnant women between the two study groups.

Food groups	Policy (n=136)	Control (<i>n</i> =680)	p
Staple food	258.3 (223.6, 280.5)	268.9.0 (216.4, 336.2)	0.152
Vegetables	408.1 (284.8, 527.1)	373.3 (250.0, 500.0)	0.057
Fruits	300.0 (200.0, 450.0)	260.0 (180.0, 385.7)	0.019
Livestock and poultry	88.9 (50.7, 137.0)	85.8 (57.1, 154.3)	0.345
Aquatic products	30.6 (7.1, 71.4)	41.6 (16.0, 71.4)	0.027
Eggs	28.6 (14.3, 50.0)	34.3 (16.7, 50.0)	0.034
Milk and its products	114.0 (17.0, 250.0)	142.9 (8.6, 250.0)	0.379
Soybean and its products	10.0 (2.3, 16.1)	10.0 (4.3, 17.6)	0.097
Nuts	2.6 (0.0, 10.0)	4.0 (0.0, 17.1)	0.106
CDGCI-PW	54.9 ± 12.5	55.9 ± 13.2	0.392

CDGCI-PW, Chinese Dietary Guidelines Compliance Index for Pregnant Women. Data are presented as median (P25; P75).

significant increase in the incidence of anxiety disorders, low physical activity, and poor sleep quality in pregnant women. The implementation of this policy in rural South China was relatively optimistic. A previous study conducted in the urban areas of Greece revealed that pregnant women were most worried about the lack of stability in their living conditions, the economic pressure of the epidemic on their families, and missed social activities because of the imposed restrictions (5). The living conditions of pregnant women in rural South China were relatively stable (41, 42). Under the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy, their economic income and social activities were not particularly affected. In addition, some pregnant women received remote guidance from obstetricians through the network, which also ensured access to maternal health care with the lowest exposure risk (43).

The current impact of the COVID-19 itself and its prevention and control measures on the diet (food type and quantity) of pregnant women is inconsistent. For example, a longitudinal cohort study indicated that the more severe the epidemic, the less the average daily intake of vegetables, fruits, livestock meat, dairy products and nuts by pregnant women (44). However, a few studies have found that the consumption of grains, fruits, vegetables, and dairy products by pregnant women during the epidemic increased significantly compared with that before the epidemic (45). Meanwhile, some researchers have found that changes in the food intake of pregnant women were not associated with the epidemic lockdown (46). In our study, the fruit in-take of the policy group significantly increased, whereas the intake of aquatic products decreased significantly. This was possible because the landform of the rural South China involved in this study was

Food	P	olicy (n=13	6)	Co	ontrol (<i>n</i> =6	80)	р	Rec, g/d
groups	Below rec ^a	Rec⁵	Above rec ^c	Below rec ^a	Rec⁵	Above rec ^c		
Staple food	60 (44.1)	57 (41.9)	19 (14.0)	258 (37.9)	198 (29.1)	224 (33.0)	0.002	Frist trimester 250 ~ 300 Second trimester 275 ~ 325 Third trimester 300 ~ 350
Vegetables	38 (27.9)	57 (41.9)	41 (30.2)	234 (34.4)	290 (42.6)	156 (23.0)	0.055	Frist trimester 300 ~ 500 Second trimester 300 ~ 500 Third trimester 300 ~ 500
Fruits	58 (42.6)	52 (38.2)	26 (19.2)	300 (44.1)	257 (37.8)	123 (18.1)	0.723	Frist trimester 200 ~ 350 Second trimester 200 ~ 400 Third trimester 200 ~ 400
Livestock, poultry, aquatic products and eggs	62 (45.6)	32 (23.5)	42 (30.9)	274 (40.3)	159 (23.4)	247 (36.3)	0.192	Frist trimester 130 ~ 180 Second trimester 150 ~ 200 Third trimester 200 ~ 250
Milk and its products	118 (86.8)	18 (13.2)	0	560 (82.4)	103 (15.1)	17 (2.5)	0.179	Frist trimester 300 Second trimester 300 ~ 500 Third trimester 300 ~ 500
Soybean and nuts	108 (79.4)	1 (0.7)	27 (19.9)	462 (67.9)	10 (1.5)	218 (30.6)	0.004	Frist trimester 25 Second trimester 30 Third trimester 30

TABLE 4 Comparison of the recommended values and the actual food intake by pregnant women from the policy and control groups, n (%).

Rec: recommended value.

^aBelow rec: the number and percentage of pregnant women whose food intakes were lower than the recommended value.

^bRec: the number and percentage of pregnant women whose food intakes were within the recommended value.

^cAbove rec: the number and percentage of pregnant women whose food intakes were higher than the recommended value.

mainly mountainous and hilly, which are rich in fruits. Therefore, these pregnant women could conveniently access fruits. Moreover, the time of our survey did not include summer. The weather was suitable and it was easy to store fruits. However, the local supply of fish, shrimp, shellfish, and other aquatic products was not sufficient. Under the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy, their supply was affected by the logistics blockage. Furthermore, the COVID-19 virus is often detected in aquatic products requiring cold-chain transportation (47). Therefore, pregnant women may also worry about the risk of infection, which thus reduces the intake of aquatic products. Therefore, providing corresponding food supply and organized nutritional support in these rural areas during the future epidemic can be advocated. Different from previous studies (34, 48, 49), our study further evaluated the impact of COVID-19 itself and its prevention and control measures on the dietary quality of pregnant women. The results revealed that the dietary structure of pregnant women in rural South China was unreasonable, and their compliance with the Chinese dietary guidelines for pregnant women was also poor. The epidemic control policy in this study, the dynamic zero COVID-19 policy, had little impact on the overall diet structure of pregnant women. There is an urgent need to provide education on scientific diet and moderate physical activity for pregnant women in these areas of South China to ensure reasonable nutrition intake and weight gain during pregnancy.

This study also had some limitations. First, this study was a crosssectional survey, so all inferences about causality need to be made cautiously and only associations can be recognized. Second, retrospective questionnaires were used to obtain the data regarding the anxiety status, physical activity, sleep quality, and food intake of pregnant women, which had a certain recall bias. Third, the difficulty of conducting a survey in risk areas had resulted in a relatively small sample size of this study, which may affect the statistical power and precision of the results. Fourth, due to the wide differences in the geographical environment, climate, customs, and medical service levels in different regions of China, our study only investigated pregnant women in the rural areas of Guangdong Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, which do not rep-resent the whole of China. Large sample size studies in additional areas are required to provide more powerful evidence for the impact of COVID-19 on the physical and mental health and lifestyle of pregnant women in China.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, the current epidemic situation in China has greatly improved, but we, especially pregnant women, should not relax our vigilance because they are in a very important physiological stage, and more attention should be paid to the health status and behavior of pregnant women. According to our study, the dynamic zero COVID-19 strategy had little impact on the anxiety status, physical activity, and sleep disorders of pregnant women in the rural areas of South China, but it affected their intake of some food groups. Our results may help provide information for targeted public health strategies to support pregnant women in rural South China during the current epidemic and other similar future public health crises.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (No. 2021-S092). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

ZW and YD: conceptualization and design of the work. YD and XS: data analysis and writing—original draft preparation. ZW, YD, and XS: writing—review and editing. XS, GL, QL, ZY, YP, and HD: study implementation and data collection. ZW: supervision and funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This research was supported by the National Program on Basic Research Project of China (2019FY101001) and a project funded by the Priority Academic Program Development of Jiangsu Higher Education Institutions (Public Health and Preventive Medicine). Neither donor had any role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to all pregnant women who took part in this study, the research team, and staff of four Maternal and Child Health Hospitals in Guangdong Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region for their cooperation and assistance.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Magnano SLR, Barchitta M, Maugeri A, La Rosa MC, Giunta G, Panella M, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on dietary patterns of pregnant women: a comparison between two mother-child cohorts in Sicily, Italy. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:3380. doi: 10.3390/nu14163380

2. World Health Organization. WHO coronavirus (COVID-19) dashboard. Available at: https://covid19.who.int/

3. Wastnedge E, Reynolds RM, van Boeckel SR, Stock SJ, Denison FC, Maybin JA, et al. Pregnancy and COVID-19. *Physiol Rev.* (2021) 101:303–18. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00024.2020

4. DeBolt CA, Bianco A, Limaye MA, Silverstein J, Penfield CA, Roman AS, et al. Pregnant women with severe or critical coronavirus disease 2019 have increased composite morbidity compared with non-pregnant matched controls. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 224:510.e1–510.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.11.022

5. Savasi VM, Parisi F, Patane L, Ferrazzi E, Frigerio L, Pellegrino A, et al. Clinical findings and disease severity in hospitalized pregnant women with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Obstet Gynecol.* (2020) 136:252–8. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000003979

6. McClymont E, Albert AY, Alton GD, Boucoiran I, Castillo E, Fell DB, et al. Association of SARS-COV-2 infection during pregnancy with maternal and perinatal outcomes. *JAMA*. (2022) 327:1983–91. doi: 10.1001/jama.2022.5906

7. Eleftheriades M, Vousoura E, Eleftheriades A, Pervanidou P, Zervas IM, Chrousos G, et al. Physical health, media use, stress, and mental health in pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Diagnostics*. (2022) 12:1125. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics12051125

 Luong TC, Pham T, Nguyen MH, Do AQ, Pham LV, Nguyen HC, et al. Fear, anxiety and depression among pregnant women during COVID-19 pandemic: impacts of healthy eating behaviour and health literacy. *Ann. Med.* (2021) 53:2120–31. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2021.2001044

9. Hori N, Shiraishi M, Harada R, Kurashima Y. Association of lifestyle changes due to the COVID-19 pandemic with nutrient intake and physical activity levels during pregnancy in Japan. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:3799. doi: 10.3390/nu13113799

10. Skotnicka M, Karwowska K, Klobukowski F, Wasilewska E, Malgorzewicz S. Dietary habits before and during the COVID-19 epidemic in selected European countries. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:1690. doi: 10.3390/nu13051690

11. Kredlow MA, Capozzoli MC, Hearon BA, Calkins AW, Otto MW. The effects of physical activity on sleep: a meta-analytic review. *J. Behav. Med.* (2015) 38:427–49. doi: 10.1007/s10865-015-9617-6

12. Office of the Leading Group of the State Council for the Seventh National Population Census. China census yearbook-2020. Beijing: China Statistics Press (2022).

13. Karim SA, Chen HF. Deaths from COVID-19 in rural, micropolitan, and metropolitan areas: a county-level comparison. *J Rural Health*. (2021) 37:124–32. doi: 10.1111/jrh.12533

14. Chen M. Analysis of the predicament of medical sevices in rural china and countermeasures assisted by artificial intelligence. *Chin Health Serv Manag.* (2021) 7:536–8.

15. PEI X, Yu J, Qian Z, Hu J. Study on regional differences of medical and health service efficiency in rural China. Stat Dec (2022) 38: 40–45. doi: 10.13546/j.cnki.tjyjc.2022.22.008

16. Cuadros DF, Branscum AJ, Mukandavire Z, Miller FD, MacKinnon N. Dynamics of the COVID-19 epidemic in urban and rural areas in the United States. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2021) 59:16–20. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2021.04.007

17. Burki T. Dynamic zero COVID policy in the fight against COVID. Lancet Respir Med. (2022) 10:e58–9. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(22)00142-4

18. Feng Y, Shao H, Gong X, Song Z, Xie Y, Qi S, et al. Dynamic zero-COVID' policy and viral clearance during an omicron wave in Tianjin, China: a city-wide retrospective observational study. *BMJ Open.* (2022) 12:e66359. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-066359

19. Zhang J. Why China can always adhere to 'dynamic zero' in the face of COVID-19. *Technol Daily.* (2021) 13. doi: 10.28502/n.cnki.nkjrb.2021.006691

20. Rosenbaum P, Rubin D. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika*. (1983) 70:41–55. doi: 10.1093/biomet/70.1.41

21. Zung WW. A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics*. (1971) 12:371–9. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(71)71479-0

22. Liu X, Tang M. Factor analysis of the anxiety self-rating scale. J Shandong Med Univ. (1995) 6:303–6.

23. Chen F. Investigation and analysis of anxiety status and causes of teachers college students. J. Zhoukou Normal Univ. (2004):98–101.

24. Qu N, Li K. Reliability and validity study of the Chinese version of the international physical activity questionnaire. *Chin J Epidemiol.* (2004):87–90.

25. Fan Y, Lv Y, He P. Calculation of physical activity levels in the international physical activity questionnaire. *Chin J Epidemiol.* (2014) 8:941–64. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.i ssn.0254-6450.2014.08.019

26. Buysse DJ, Reynolds CR, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* (1989) 28:193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4

27. Lu T, Li Y, Xia P. Reliability and validity of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Chongqing Medical. (2014) 43:260–3. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-8348.2014.03.002

28. Liu X, Tang M, Hu L, Wang A, Wu H, Zhao G, et al. Reliability and validity of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. *Chin J Psychiatry*. (1996) 29:103–7.

29. Zhang H, Qiu X, Zhong C, Zhang K, Xiao M, Yi N, et al. Reproducibility and relative validity of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire for Chinese pregnant women. *Nutr J.* (2015) 14:56. doi: 10.1186/s12937-015-0044-x

30. Ding Y, Yang Y, Li F, Shao Y, Sun Z, Zhong C, et al. Development and validation of a photographic atlas of food portions for accurate quantification of dietary intakes in China. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* (2021) 34:604–15. doi: 10.1111/jhn.12844

31. Chinese Nutrition Society. *Chinese dietary guidelines summary-2016*. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House (2016).

32. Ding Y, Xu F, Zhong C, Tong L, Li F, Li Q, et al. Association between Chinese dietary guidelines compliance index for pregnant women and risks of pregnancy complications in the Tongji maternal and child health cohort. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:829. doi: 10.3390/nu13030829

33. Di Renzo L, Gualtieri P, Pivari F, Soldati L, Attina A, Cinelli G, et al. Eating habits and lifestyle changes during COVID-19 lockdown: an italian survey. J Transl Med. (2020) 18:229. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02399-5

34. Giesbrecht GF, Rojas L, Patel S, Kuret V, MacKinnon AL, Tomfohr-Madsen L, et al. Fear of COVID-19, mental health, and pregnancy outcomes in the pregnancy during the COVID-19 pandemic study: fear of COVID-19 and pregnancy outcomes. *J Affect Disord*. (2022) 299:483–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.12.057

35. Wu Y, Zhang C, Liu H, Duan C, Li C, Fan J, et al. Perinatal depressive and anxiety symptoms of pregnant women during the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak in china. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2020) 223:240.e1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.05.009

36. Lebel C, MacKinnon A, Bagshawe M, Tomfohr-Madsen L, Giesbrecht G. Elevated depression and anxiety symptoms among pregnant individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:5–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.126

37. Tibebu NS, Kassie BA, Anteneh TA, Rade BK. Depression, anxiety and stress among HIV-positive pregnant women in Ethiopia during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (2023) 117:317–25. doi: 10.1093/trstmh/trac126

38. You C, Zhao J, Pan Y. Survey on physical activity and weight gain of pregnant women during the COVID-19 epidemic in Beijing. *Chin J Reproduct Health.* (2021) 32:257–60. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-878X.2021.03.013

39. Liang C, Wang Y, Wang J. Physical activity and its influencing factors among rural residents in eastern, central, and western provinces of China. *Mod Prevent Med.* (2022) 49:3730–5. doi: 10.20043/j.cnki.MPM.202204466

40. Amare NS, Chekol B, Aemro A. Determinants of poor sleep quality during the COVID-19 pandemic among women attending antenatal care services at the health facilities of Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia: an institutional-based cross-sectional study. *Front Psych.* (2022) 13:841097. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.841097

41. Liu R. Analysis report on the impact of COVID-19 on the income of Sichuan residents. *Sichuan Provincial Conditions*. (2020) 217:52.

42. Jin Y, Guo F. The impact of COVID-19 on rural income and countermeasures. *Advance*. (2020) 333:50–1.

43. Davis A, Bradley D. Telemedicine utilization and perceived quality of virtual care among pregnant and postpartum women during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Telemed Telecare*. (2022) Online ahead of print.). doi: 10.1177/1357633X221133862

44. Chen H, Li H, Cao Y, Qi H, Ma Y, Bai X, et al. Food intake and diet quality of pregnant women in China during the COVID-19 pandemic: a national cross-sectional study. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:853565. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.853565

45. Hoteit M, Hoteit R, Al-Jawaldeh A, Abou NM, Obeid S, Fakih C, et al. Adherence to the united states department of agriculture dietary recommendations pre-and during the coronavirus disease-19 pandemic among pregnant women in Arab countries. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:824305. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.824305

46. Bivia-Roig G, La Rosa VL, Gomez-Tebar M, Serrano-Raya L, Amer-Cuenca JJ, Caruso S, et al. Analysis of the impact of the confinement resulting from COVID-19 on the lifestyle and psychological wellbeing of Spanish pregnant women: an internet-based cross-sectional survey. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:5933. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17165933

47. Wang J, Bo Z, Mao L, Yang S. A local covid-19 outbreak in dalian caused by SARS-COV-2 contaminated imported cold chain products. *Chin J Virol.* (2021) 37:1283–91. doi: 10.13242/j.cnki.bingduxuebao.004050

48. Hillyard M, Sinclair M, Murphy M, Casson K, Mulligan C. The impact of COVID-19 on the physical activity and sedentary behaviour levels of pregnant women with gestational diabetes. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0254364. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0254364

49. Ilska M, Brandt-Salmeri A, Kolodziej-Zaleska A, Preis H, Rehbein E, Lobel M. Anxiety among pregnant women during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Poland. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:8445. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-12275-5

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Renato de Filippis, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY Rotimi Oguntayo, University of Ilorin, Nigeria Carlos Laranjeira, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Oluwabunmi Ogungbe ⊠ oogungb3@jh.edu

RECEIVED 27 March 2023 ACCEPTED 05 June 2023 PUBLISHED 22 June 2023

CITATION

Akingbade O, Adeleye K, Fadodun OA, Fawole IO, Li J, Choi EPH, Ho M, Lok KYW, Wong JYH, Fong DYT and Ogungbe O (2023) eHealth literacy was associated with anxiety and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria: a cross-sectional study. *Front. Public Health* 11:1194908. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1194908

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Akingbade, Adeleye, Fadodun, Fawole, Li, Choi, Ho, Lok, Wong, Fong and Ogungbe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

eHealth literacy was associated with anxiety and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria: a cross-sectional study

Oluwadamilare Akingbade^{1,2}, Khadijat Adeleye³, Oluwadamilola Agnes Fadodun⁴, Israel Opeyemi Fawole^{2,5}, Jiaying Li⁶, Edmond Pui Hang Choi⁶, Mandy Ho⁶, Kris Yuet Wan Lok⁶, Janet Yuen Ha Wong⁷, Daniel Yee Tak Fong⁶ and Oluwabunmi Ogungbe⁸*

¹The Nethersole School of Nursing, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong SAR, China, ²Institute of Nursing Research, Osogbo, Osun, Nigeria, ³University of Massachusetts, Amherst, MA, United States, ⁴Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Lethbridge, Lethbridge, AB, Canada, ⁵Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Ogbomoso, Nigeria, ⁶School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ⁷School of Nursing and Health Studies, Hong Kong Metropolitan University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ⁸Johns Hopkins University School of Nursing, Baltimore, MD, United States

Background: Electronic health (eHealth) literacy may play an important role in individuals' engagement with online mental health-related information.

Aim: To examine associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes among Nigerians during the Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.

Methods: This was a cross-sectional study among Nigerians conducted using the 'COVID-19's impAct on feaR and hEalth (CARE) questionnaire. The exposure: eHealth literacy, was assessed using the eHealth literacy scale, and psychological outcomes were assessed using the PHQ-4 scale, which measured anxiety and depression; and the fear scale to measure fear of COVID-19. We fitted logistic regression models to assess the association of eHealth literacy with anxiety, depression, and fear, adjusting for covariates. We included interaction terms to assess for age, gender, and regional differences. We also assessed participants' endorsement of strategies for future pandemic preparedness.

Results: This study involved 590 participants, of which 56% were female, and 38% were 30years or older. About 83% reported high eHealth literacy, and 55% reported anxiety or depression. High eHealth literacy was associated with a 66% lower likelihood of anxiety (adjusted odds ratio aOR, 0.34; 95% confidence interval, 0.20-0.54) and depression (aOR: 0.34; 95% CI, 0.21-0.56). There were age, gender, and regional differences in the associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes. eHealth-related strategies such as medicine delivery, receiving health information through text messaging, and online courses were highlighted as important for future pandemic preparedness.

Conclusion: Considering that mental health and psychological care services are severely lacking in Nigeria, digital health information sources present an opportunity to improve access and delivery of mental health services. The different associations of e-health literacy with psychological well-being between age, gender, and geographic region highlight the urgent need for targeted interventions for vulnerable populations. Policymakers must prioritize digitally backed interventions, such as medicine delivery and health information

dissemination through text messaging, to address these disparities and promote equitable mental well-being.

KEYWORDS

eHealth literacy, COVID-19, pandemic preparedness, depression, anxiety, psychological outcomes, Nigeria, mental health—state of emotional and social well-being

1. Introduction

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has had a considerable impact on physical and psychosocial health (1). and is an emerging risk factor for chronic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, and chronic kidney disease (2), including debilitating post-acute sequelae of COVID-19 (3, 4). While COVID-19 adversely impacts physical health, a range of psychological issues has been linked to the pandemic as both direct and indirect impacts. The prevalence of psychological stress, insomnia, and psychological distress following COVID-19 has been reported to be between 20% and 30% globally (5). Similarly, in Nigeria, various studies have reported a range of psychological issues among Nigerians during the pandemic, including anxiety, depression, insomnia and inadequate social support (6-9). Risk factors associated with increased psychological distress during the pandemic include younger age group (\leq 40 years), female gender, previous mental health problems, unemployment, student status, and frequent exposure to social media or news related to COVID-19 (10).

Electronic health (eHealth) includes health-related services and information delivered or enhanced through the internet or related health technologies (11), including the capacity to evaluate health information obtained from electronic sources and use what is learned to address or resolve a health issue (12). The COVID-19 pandemic has increased global eHealth and mobile health (mHealth) usage alongside substantial increases in screen time (13). In Nigeria, the use of digital devices significantly increased during the COVID-19 pandemic (14). Nigeria has the largest mobile market in Africa, with 199.6 million mobile connections as of March 2022 (15); hence, mobile phones have been a resource for seeking health information in Nigeria as well as in many low and middle-income countries (16).

COVID-19 poses critical challenges to the utility of eHealth literacy, for which the World Health Organization and other agencies warned strongly against infodemics; "an overabundance of information and rapid spread of misleading and fabricated news, images, and videos, which, like the virus, is highly contagious, grows exponentially, and undermines public health measures and leads to unnecessary loss of life" (17). The exceptionally high volume and rapid evolution of COVID-19 pandemic-related information, with a proliferation of misinformation and disinformation, contributed to widespread public confusion and can have severe and lethal health and social consequences, further eroding trust in science (18). There have been speculations that these could contribute to increased anxiety, psychological stress, suicidal ideation, and worsened mental health (19). However, high eHealth literacy also offers opportunities for rapid dissemination of information and may contribute to assured safety and help people make better health-related decisions (20).

Healthy eHealth literacy and internet use may be linked to better psychological wellbeing. Previous reports have shown reports of a negative correlation between eHealth literacy and depression, insomnia, and post-traumatic disorder (21). Improving eHealth literacy has been recommended to address psychological distress (22). The mental health of Nigerians was adversely affected during the pandemic (9, 23). With the high internet and social media use in Nigeria, examining eHealth literacy during the COVID-19 pandemic and its contribution to psychological outcomes is important. This is vital to planning and preparedness for communication and mitigation strategies in future pandemics or crises. Hence, this study aimed to: assess the associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes among Nigerians during the COVID-19 pandemic; examine the effect modification of age, gender, and geographic differences on these associations; and investigate residents' preferences for future preparations.

We hypothesized that there would be no significant association between eHealth literacy and anxiety, depression, and fear of COVID-19, after adjusting for age, gender, education and employment.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design and population

This cross-sectional study was conducted in Nigeria as part of a larger international cross-sectional study on societal perceptions of COVID-19's impact and preferences for future preparations. As cross-sectional designs help gain insight into population characteristics and behaviors at a given time (24), it was deemed fit for this study as the researchers were interested in investigating eHealth usage among Nigerians during the pandemic. The STROBE cross-sectional reporting guidelines were followed in reporting this study. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/ Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster (UW 20-272). Additional details of the study have been reported in the published protocol (25). Participants were recruited from the six geopolitical zones in Nigeria: North Central, North East, North West, South East, South South, and South West through an online survey using both convenience and snowball sampling methods.

2.2. Sampling, recruitment and data collection

The inclusion criteria for the study include Nigerians who could understand English. Although Nigeria has over 250 ethnic groups, with each ethnic group having indigenous languages, English is the national language of communication (26). Similarly, participants with access to the internet and who use social media platforms were included. This is because evidence suggests increased internet and social media usage during the COVID-19 pandemic (14). Persons less than 18 years, non-Nigerians, Nigerians who were not residing in the country at the time of data collection, and those who were cognitively impaired were excluded from the study. The sample size was calculated based on the estimation of the prevalence of a health-related issue. A conservative scenario of 50%, with a 5% margin of error in a 95% CI, required 385 subjects (25). However, data collection continued until 590 respondents were recruited to provide a broader representation.

Social media platforms were the preferred recruitment methods to reach participants across the six geopolitical zones, specifically WhatsApp, Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, and Instagram. Participants were recruited from various tertiary institutions and National Youth Service Corp (NYSC) camps across various regions in Nigeria to facilitate representation (27). Initially, we conveniently sampled participants and then snowballed by encouraging participants to share the survey with their friends and family. This sampling and recruitment strategy was adopted due to the COVID-19 pandemic that restricted access to participants in person. This strategy also improved access to a large population of participants as people could participate in the survey within the comfort of their geographical location. The tertiary institutions and National Youth Service Corp (NYSC) camps comprise Nigerians from different geographical regions, age groups, gender, ethnic and cultural groups. Participants were encouraged to share the survey with their friends and family. Participants who agreed to participate were required to consent before they were given access to complete the survey. For every survey participant, HK\$1 (about US\$0.13) was donated to the Red Cross for each completed questionnaire in the respondent's area. The data collection period spanned 3 months.

Data collection was conducted using the 'COVID-19's impAct on feaR and hEalth (CARE) questionnaire (28), launched on the Qualtrics platform. The instrument has been validated, and the psychometric properties have been presented in the study protocol (25). For the Nigerian survey, a contextually relevant validation question was added: "What is the capital of Lagos?" to enhance internal validity; the survey was also pilot tested to ensure consistency and understanding of survey items. The online survey included a captcha to ensure that the respondents were actual participants, not automated users or bots. Data collection was conducted between January and March 2021. The questionnaire sections included sociodemographic characteristics with eight items age, gender, marital status, occupational status, perceived social status, pregnancy status (if applicable), and household size. The fear scale had eight items on a 5-point Likert scale; higher total scores indicate a higher fear level. This scale was adapted from a previous study conducted in Nigeria with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.90 (29). The e-health literacy scale (eHEALS) had eight items that assessed electronic sources and channels of information-seeking behavior concerning the COVID-19 outbreak on a 5-point Likert scale, exposure to and pursuit of various types of health-related information, perception of the credibility, accuracy, and usefulness of the information, and confidence in locating the accurate information. The reliability of the eHEALS has been confirmed in a previous study conducted in Nigeria, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.92 (30). The PHQ-4 scale had two items that measured anxiety, and the other two measured depression on a 4-point Likert scale. Higher scores indicate a higher level of anxiety and depression. The reliability of the PHQ-4

scale has been confirmed in a previous study among Nigerian University students with a good test-retest reliability score (r = 0.894, p < 0.001) (31). Participants were also asked to rank the most important preparation for future pandemics; these were; online consultation with doctors (e.g., Zoom, Skype), instant personalized health advice by online chatbot, telephone health advice, online courses, instant streaming courses (e.g., Zoom, Skype), receiving health information through email, receiving health information through text messaging (e.g., SMS, WhatsApp), receiving health information from social media (e.g., Facebook, Instagram, Twitter), receiving health information from mobile app, get medicine prescribed in a hospital visit/follow-up in a community pharmacy, medicine delivery, online shopping, food delivery. Other sections of the questionnaire included lifestyle and health-related impact of COVID-19. The development and validation of the instrument have been published (25).

2.3. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using Stata Statistical package and R Programming. Data were meticulously organized and underwent thorough quality control procedures to ensure its accuracy and integrity, including checks for missing responses, duplicates, and inconsistencies. Missing data was determined to be missing at random (MAR) and were excluded from the final analyses. A sum score of the eHEALS scale was obtained and dichotomized into "low" and "high" using $a \ge 26$ cut point (32). Psychological outcomes, anxiety, and depression were derived from the PHQ-4 scale; for anxiety-a sum score of the first two items of the PHQ-4 scale was obtained and dichotomized into "no anxiety" and "anxiety" using a cut point of ≥ 3 . Similarly, for depression, a sum score of the last two items on the PHQ-4 scale was obtained and dichotomized into "no depression" and "depression" using a cut point of ≥ 3 (33). A sum score of the fear of COVID scale was also derived and dichotomized using $a \ge 16.5$ cut point (34). Descriptive statistics were summarized using frequencies and percentages or means and standard deviations as applicable. We described participants' characteristics stratifying by eHealth Literacy levels, gender, age, and region. We fitted logistic regression analyses to assess the association between eHealth literacy (predictor) and psychological outcomes, specifically depression, anxiety, and fear of COVID-19, adjusting for age, gender, education, and employment as covariates. We conducted subgroup analyses using logistic regression with interaction terms to assess the differences in the association between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes by age, gender, geographical region, and healthcare worker status. A post hoc Bonferroni correction was used to adjust for multiple comparisons; Bonferroni thresholds for each subgroup analysis was set by dividing the alpha level (0.05) by the number of pairwise tests. Descriptive statistics were also used for participants' responses to the most important preparations for future pandemics, displaying this in a Likert chart.

2.4. Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was sought and obtained for the study, which has been reported in the study protocol (20). The authors respected all ethical obligations by providing online information about the research as well

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1194908

as consent forms. Participants were asked to ascertain if they understood the content of the informed consent by indicating the same online. Prior to accessing the online questionnaire, participants were asked to indicate whether they were willing to proceed or not proceed with the survey. Participants were clearly reminded of their rights to voluntary participation. On no account was a participant forced to participate in the study. Also, data privacy and confidentiality were ensured per IRB regulations and national ethical guidelines. All data were stored on password-protected servers compliant with national privacy laws.

3. Results

3.1. Sample characteristics

Participant characteristics stratified by eHealth literacy level are shown in Table 1. This study involved 590 participants, of which 56% were female, 38% were 30 years or older, 63% had at least a bachelor's degree, 53% were employed, and 54% lived in the Southwest region. For outcomes of depression and anxiety, 55% reported depression, and 55% reported anxiety. Participants with high health literacy were more likely to be female, have at least a bachelor's degree, be employed, and live in the country's Southwestern region. There were gender, age, and regional differences in the sample (Supplementary Tables S1, S2).

3.2. eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes

About 83% of the sample had high eHealth literacy. Higher eHealth literacy was associated with 66% lower odds of both depression (adjusted odds ratio aOR: 0.34; 95% confidence interval, 0.21–0.56) and anxiety (aOR, 0.34; 95%CI, 0.20–0.54), after accounting for age, gender, education, and employment. There were no observed statistical associations between eHealth literacy and fear of COVID-19 (Table 2).

We observed differences in the associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes by age, gender, and geographical region (Supplementary Tables S4–S6). After accounting for covariates, among men, high eHealth literacy was associated with 56% lower odds of depression (aOR, 0.44; 95%CI, 0.22–0.88) and 68% lower odds of anxiety (aOR, 0.32; 95%CI, 0.16–0.65), while for women, high eHealth literacy was linked to 87% lower odds of depression (aOR, 0.27; 95%CI, 0.13–0.55) and 67% lower odds of anxiety (aOR, 0.33; 95%CI, 0.11–0.24; Figure 1A; Supplementary Table S4). The Bonferroni corrected margins plot demonstrates the probability of anxiety and depression by eHealth literacy by gender (Figure 2).

High eHealth literacy was not associated with depression, anxiety, or fear of COVID-19 among persons aged 18–24 years; however, among those aged 25–29 years, there was 82% (aOR, 0.18; 95%CI, 0.07–0.42) and 76% (aOR, 0.24; 95%CI, 0.11–0.53) lower likelihood of depression and anxiety, respectively. Among persons older than 30 years, the odds of anxiety were 62% (aOR, 0.38; 95%CI, 0.16–0.91) lower for those with high eHealth literacy compared to those with low eHealth literacy (Figures 1B; Supplementary Table S5). The Bonferroni corrected margins plot demonstrates the probability of anxiety and depression by eHealth literacy by age category (Figure 3).

Among participants living in the Northcentral region of the country, high eHealth literacy was associated with 22% (aOR, 0.78;

TABLE 1	Participant	characteristics,	stratified by	eHealth	literacy level.

Characteristics	Total	eHealth	literacy	p-
		Low	High	value
	N =590	N =103	N =487	
BMI, M(±SD)	19.0 (3.4)	18-9 (2-5)	19.1 (3.6)	0.710
Gender, <i>n</i> (%)				0.014
Male	255 (43.2)	56 (54.4)	199 (40.9)	
Female	331 (56-1)	47 (45.6)	284 (58-3)	
Missing	4 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	4 (0.8)	
Age category, n (%)				0.470
18–24 years	171 (29.0)	25 (24.3)	146 (30.0)	
25–29 years	255 (43.2)	49 (47.6)	206 (42.3)	
≥30 years	164 (27.8)	29 (28.2)	135 (27.7)	
Education category, <i>n</i> (%)				0.002
<bachelors< td=""><td>219 (37-1)</td><td>52 (50.5)</td><td>167 (34.3)</td><td></td></bachelors<>	219 (37-1)	52 (50.5)	167 (34.3)	
≥Bachelors	371 (62.9)	51 (49.5)	320 (65.7)	
Employment category, <i>n</i> (%)				<0.001
Not employed	277 (46.9)	64 (62.1)	213 (43.7)	
Employed	313 (53-1)	39 (37.9)	274 (56-3)	
Marital, n (%)				0.200
Married/cohabitation/				
common-law	156 (26.4)	27 (26·2)	129 (26.5)	
Separated/divorced/				
widowed	7 (1.2)	3 (2.9)	4 (0.8)	
Single	427 (72.4)	73 (70.9)	354 (72.7)	
Region, <i>n</i> (%)				0.004
North Central	78 (13·2)	19 (18-4)	59 (12.1)	
North East	20 (3.4)	6 (5.8)	14 (2.9)	
North West	37 (6.3)	12 (11.7)	25 (5.1)	
South East	22 (3.7)	6 (5.8)	16 (3.3)	
South South	45 (7.6)	11 (10.7)	34 (7.0)	
South West	317 (53.7)	41 (39.8)	276 (56.7)	
Missing	71 (12.0)	8 (7.8)	63 (12.9)	
Depression, <i>n</i> (%)				<0.001
No	266 (45.1)	24 (23.3)	242 (49.7)	
Yes	266 (45.1)	79 (76.7)	245 (50-3)	
Anxiety, <i>n</i> (%)				<0.001
No	265 (44-9)	24 (23·3)	241 (49.5)	
Yes	325 (55-1)	79 (76.7)	246 (50.5)	
Health care professional, n (%)				<0.001
No	276 (46.8)	80 (77.7)	196 (40·2)	
Yes	314 (53-2)	23 (22.3)	291 (59.8)	

Bold p < 0.05.

95%CI, 0.58–0.99) lower odds of depression and 28% (aOR, 0.72; 95%CI, 0.56–0.92) lower odds of fear of COVID-19. For those living in the Northwest, high eHealth literacy was linked to 43% (aOR, 0.57;

TABLE 2 Associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes.

Psychological outcomes	Prevalence, <i>n</i> (%)	Odds ratio (95% con	fidence interval)
			Adjusted [†]
Depression	266 (45.1)	0.31 (0.19-0.50)	0.34 (0.21-0.56)
Anxiety	325 (55-1)	0.31 (0.19-0.51)	0.34 (0.20-0.54)
Fear of COVID-19	499 (84·58)	0.68 (0.36–1.30)	0.68 (0.35–1.33)

Bold: *P* < 0.05.

[†]Adjusted for age, gender, education, employment.



95%CI, 0.32–0.99) and 40% (aOR, 0.60; 95%CI, 0.42–0.86) lower odds of depression and anxiety, respectively. Persons living in the South region with high eHealth literacy were 33% (aOR, 0.67; 95%CI, 0.49–0.91) and 32% (aOR, 0.68; 95%CI, 0.51–0.93) less likely to report depression and anxiety respectively; while the odds of depression (aOR, 0.90; 95%CI, 0.82–0.99) and anxiety (aOR, 0.90; 95%CI, 0.82–0.99) and anxiety (aOR, 0.90; 95%CI, 0.83–0.99) was 10% lower for persons living in the Southwest with high eHealth literacy (Figure 1C; Supplementary Table S6). There were no differences in the associations between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes by healthcare worker status (Figure 1D). The Bonferroni corrected margins plot demonstrates the probability of anxiety and depression by eHealth literacy by region (Figure 4).

3.3. eHealth-related strategies for future pandemic preparedness

Many of the strategies were rated important (Figure 5). The pandemic preparedness strategies rated to be most important by the participants were medicine delivery (extremely/very important, 60%; important, 30%), receiving health information through text messaging (extremely/very important, 58%; important, 31%), online courses (extremely/very important,58%; important, 30%), food delivery (extremely/very important, 55%; important, 30%), and receiving health information from social media (extremely/very important, 54%; important, 32%; Figure 2).

4. Discussion

We examined the association between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria. Our study showed five key findings; first, majority of our participants have high eHealth literacy levels. Second, the prevalence of selfreported anxiety and depression is also substantial. Third, high eHealth literacy was associated with a lower likelihood of anxiety and depression, and fourth, there are age, gender, and geographical differences in the association between eHealth literacy and psychological outcomes. Finally, eHealth-related strategies such as medicine delivery, receiving health information through text





messaging, and online courses were highlighted as important strategies for future pandemic preparedness (Figure 5). These findings have important implications for improving mental health services through digital technologies in Nigeria.

Our findings on high eHealth literacy can be explained by the increased mobile phone usage in Nigeria reported during the pandemic (14, 35). This is similar to the results from various countries that reported increased usage of mobile phones during the pandemic (36-38). Our results also show that participants with high eHealth literacy were more likely to be female, have at least a bachelor's degree, be employed and live in the Southwestern region of the country. This is congruent with previous results conducted in Southwest, Nigeria, where women were shown to have a higher literacy level compared to men (39). This is similar to the results of a study conducted in Turkey which found that women had higher levels of eHealth literacy than men because they felt confident and more competent while searching for online information (40). This study found regional differences in eHealth literacy in Nigeria, where Southwest has higher eHealth literacy than other regions (39). This has also been reported in other studies and may reflect English educational attainment, English language proficiency, higher access to the internet and increased exposure to credible medical information that persons in this region have access to Kuyinu et al. (39).

The prevalence of self-reported anxiety and depression in this study aligns with previous studies that reported a range of psychological issues among Nigerians during the pandemic (6–9). This indicate the need for interventions to address psychological issues among this population. Similarly, as a high e-Health literacy was reported among participants in this study, mobile phones can be considered a platform to deliver such interventions, as evidence has revealed that psychological interventions delivered through mobile phones have beneficial psychological effects (41).

We found an association between higher eHealth literacy and lower odds of both depression and anxiety. Previous studies reported an inverse correlation between eHealth literacy and depression and that improving eHealth literacy may contribute to maintaining good psychological well-being (21, 22). Mental health services are severely sparse in Nigeria, and related stigma persists (42). Hence, it is likely that individuals are accessing online sources of mental well-being information, and this could be harnessed to help manage their anxiety and depression. There were no observed statistical associations between eHealth literacy and fear of COVID-19 in our study; this could be attributed to the country's heightened public awareness of COVID-19 prevention (43). Additionally, persons with high eHealth literacy levels may be better equipped to access credible health information on COVID-19 and less susceptible to misinformation that may fuel fear and anxiety (44). The high mobile usage in Nigeria





and eHealth literacy levels present a critical opportunity to advance mental health awareness and encourage mental health services in Nigeria (45). eHealth literacy-informed interventions may also be harnessed to address other health issues in Nigeria; these include verified information about infectious diseases; self-management of chronic disease through digital means (e.g., hypertension diagnosis and management training through an app). Leveraging high eHealth literacy for improving psychological outcomes in Nigeria could prove an important intervention opportunity.

There were age, gender and geographical differences in the association between eHealth literacy. Among women with high eHealth literacy, the likelihood of anxiety and depression was lower compared to men. This corroborated with other studies that have shown that being female, less than 75 years old and having a higher education are associated with eHealth literacy (22). Reasons for this disparity are unclear and could be explored in future studies. The regional differences observed in our results highlight the need for improving internet access for increased educational attainment and eHealth literacy interventions in other regions of the country outside of the Southwestern region. There was a high proportion of healthcare workers in our sample, and the high eHealth literacy in this group may be leveraged for advanced training of health workers, especially during crises and humanitarian situations.

Results from future pandemic strategies endorsed by participants further support the need for health technology-backed interventions in Nigeria. Medicine delivery, receiving health information through text messaging, online courses, food delivery, and receiving health information through social media were endorsed as strategies

important to prepare for future pandemics and crises. These are mostly digital interventions that may significantly contribute to improving the health of Nigerians; partnerships between context experts like healthcare workers and digital content experts may further advance such interventions (45). It is important for these interventions to also cater to persons with lower educational attainment and low eHealth literacy. This may include providing health information through platforms like WhatsApp, which is more prevalent among persons with limited digital literacy in Nigeria. Rapid innovations in digital health technologies that improve healthcare access have shown high efficacy in high-income countries. However, access to these health technologies is not equitable globally, with LMICs like Nigeria experiencing global health disparities at a larger scale. Consequently, there is a need for reciprocal innovation, i.e., bidirectional, and iterative exchange of ideas, resources, and innovations to address shared health challenges across diverse global settings (46).

Our study should be interpreted in the context of these limitations. First, this was a cross-sectional design; hence, there was no temporality. Second, the survey was originally designed in Hong Kong and may not have initially included Nigeria in the original context; however, modifications were made to adapt certain survey items to the Nigerian context. Third, our study's participants were mostly young adults from the Southwestern region, which may have contributed to the high level of eHealth literacy observed; hence, findings from this study might not be generalizable to Nigerians with low literacy, non-social media users and older adults. Fourth, the survey was administered digitally and may have excluded persons with limited digital literacy. Nevertheless, this study has some strengths. First, to our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to examine the associations between eHealth literacy and anxiety and depression in a Nigerian sample. In addition, we employed various recruitment strategies to ensure that participants from different regions of the country were represented in the sample.

Our findings have important implications for the development of interventions to address the scarcity of mental health services in Nigeria. The high eHealth literacy in Nigeria and high use of smartphones and mobile application makes the Nigerian environment suitable for digital health interventions. Participants-endorsed strategies for preparation for future pandemics are critical policy options that may inform healthcare policies. Strategies such as receiving credible health information through social media platforms. Future intervention strategies could leverage digital tools and platforms to provide remote mental health services and incorporate other chronic conditions. Given the critically low performance and ranking of the Nigeria health system (47, 48), these interventions have a high potential to strengthen the primary health care system, and guarantee access to care. An example could include implementing remote counseling and psychiatry services platforms using mobile apps, and telemedicine platforms, to improve access, availability, and utilization of healthcare services. Such strategies could be multipronged to address several conditions at once; for instance, such remote platforms could also include remote monitoring of cardiometabolic conditions (e.g., remote blood pressure monitoring), bi-directional messaging between providers and patients, etc. These digital tools should be co-designed and co-developed with patients, health care providers, health system leaders, policymakers and other stakeholders, and should prioritize simplicity in the design with considerations for persons experiencing barriers such as low eHealth literacy, limited broadband access or smartphones, etc. It is critical that digital interventions address health equity and not contribute to widening the digital divide. Importantly, there is a need for health policies that advance the implementation of telemedicine and digital health interventions in Nigeria and ensure equitable funding of health systems in the different regions of the country to improve access to health services.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, our study showed high eHealth literacy among our sample of Nigerian adults. Self-reported prevalence of anxiety and depression is also considerably high in the face of prevalent economic and structural hardship and limited access to mental health services. High eHealth literacy was associated with psychological outcomes of anxiety and depression. eHealth literacy-informed interventions can be invested in to address several pressing health issues in Nigeria and prepare for future pandemics and health-related crises. The age, gender and regional differences observed present important intervention opportunities for interventions. Additionally, digital solutions focused on medicine delivery, receiving health information through text messaging, online courses, etc., are important health technology-backed intervention opportunities in Nigeria. The Nigerian environment may be suitable for digital health interventions to increase access to mental healthcare services due to the country's high smartphone usage and eHealth literacy, as shown in this study's result. Importantly, there is a need for health policies that promote the implementation of telemedicine and digital health interventions in Nigeria and guarantee equitable funding of health systems in the various regions of the country in order to enhance access to health services.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster (UW 20-272). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

EC, MH, KL, JW, and DF conceived the idea for the study and designed the study. OA, OAF, IF, JL, and OO contributed to recruitment and data collection. JL contributed to data collection and management. OO performed data analyses and visualizations for the country-specific data. OA, KA, OAF, and OO wrote the original draft.

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The author acknowledge and thank all participants who took part in this study. We also thank the persons who assisted with recruitment and data collection.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Okondu OE, Abubakar K, Olatade MJ, Akingbade O, Adesuyi Emmanuel O, Olugasa B, et al. Behavioural risk-factors associated with the use of facemask during Covid-19 pandemic lockdown period in Nigeria: online-based survey. *Students J Health Res Afr.* (2022) 3:11. doi: 10.51168/sjhrafrica.v3i12.221

2. Ogungbe O, Kumbe B, Fadodun OA, Latha T, Meyer D, Asala AF, et al. Subclinical myocardial injury, coagulopathy, and inflammation in COVID-19: a meta-analysis of 41,013 hospitalized patients. *Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc.* (2022) 40:100950. doi: 10.1016/j. ijcha.2021.100950

3. Ogungbe O, Gilotra NA, Davidson PM, Farley JE, Dennison Himmelfarb CR, Post WS, et al. Cardiac postacute sequelae symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 in community-dwelling adults: cross-sectional study. *Open Heart*. (2022) 9:e002084. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2022-002084

4. Xie Y, Bowe B, Al-Aly Z. Burdens of post-acute sequelae of COVID-19 by severity of acute infection, demographics and health status. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:6571. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-26513-3

5. de Sousa GM, Tavares VDO, de Meiroz Grilo MLP, Coelho MLG, de Lima-Araújo GL, Schuch FB, et al. Mental health in COVID-19 pandemic: a Meta-review of prevalence Metaanalyses. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:703838. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.703838

6. Okondu O, Doris O, Adesuyi E, Worlu O, Atulomah N, Eniola O, et al. Knowledge and mental health needs of the elderly during the Covid-19 pandemic: evidence from a South-Western private University in Nigeria. Journal of disease and global. *Health.* (2023). 16:23–36. doi: 10.56557/jodagh/2023/v16i18170

7. Oguntayo R, Akinsola OS, Olaseni AO, Agberotimi SF. Prevalence and comparative analyses of mental health outcomes among medical and non-medical practitioners during the third wave of Covid-19 pandemic in Nigeria. *Eur Rev Appl Sociol.* (2022) 15:10–20. doi: 10.2478/eras-2022-0002

8. Agberotimi SF, Akinsola OS, Oguntayo R, Olaseni AO. Interactions between socioeconomic status and mental health outcomes in the Nigerian context amid COVID-19 pandemic: a comparative study. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:559819. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.559819

9. Adiukwu F, Ojeahere M, Adesokun O, Babalola G. Mental health distress during the COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria: need for psychological intervention. *S Afr J Psychiatry*. (2022) 28:1550. doi: 10.4102/sajpsychiatry.v28i0.1550

10. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, Lui LMW, Gill H, Phan L, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

11. Eysenbach G. What is e-health? J Med Internet Res. (2001) 3:e20. doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.2.e20

12. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. *J Med Internet Res.* (2006) 8:e9. doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9

13. Jonnatan LA-O, Seaton CL, Rush KA-O, Li EPH, Hasan KA-O. Mobile device usage before and during the COVID-19 pandemic among rural and urban adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 19:8231. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19148231

14. Kuboye BM. Impact of COVID-19 on internet traffic in Nigeria. *Commun Netw.* (2022) 14:36–44. doi: 10.4236/cn.2022.141004

15. Further Africa. African countries with the highest number of mobile phones (2022). Available at: https://furtherafrica.com/2022/07/19/african-countries-with-the-highest-number-of-mobile-phones/

16. McCool J, Dobson R, Whittaker R, Paton C. Mobile health (mHealth) in low- and middle-income countries. *Annu Rev Public Health*. (2022) 43:525–39. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-publhealth-052620-093850

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1194908/ full#supplementary-material

17. Sell TK, Hosangadi D, Smith E, Trotochaud M, Vasudevan P, Gronvall GK, et al. National Priorities to combat misinformation and disinformation for COVID-19 and future public health threats: a call for a National Strategy. (2021).

18. Ogungbe O, Commodore-Mensah Y, Dennison Himmelfarb CR, Ferguson C, Martin K, Davidson PM. COVID-19: lessons learned and a need for data driven decision making. *Heart Lung Circ.* (2022) 31:905–9. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2022.05.004

19. Verma G, Bhardwaj A, Aledavood T, De Choudhury M, Kumar S. Examining the impact of sharing COVID-19 misinformation online on mental health. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:8045. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-11488-y

20. Chen X, Jl H, Waters EA, Kiviniemi M, Biddle C, Schofield E, et al. Health literacy and use and Trust in Health Information. *J Health Commun.* (2018) 23:724–34. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2018.1511658

21. Yang B, Xia L, Huang R, Chen P, Luo D, Liu Q, et al. Relationship between eHealth literacy and psychological status during COVID-19 pandemic: a survey of Chinese residents. *J Nurs Manag.* (2021) 29:805–12. doi: 10.1111/jonm.13221

22. Ghazi SN, Berner J, Anderberg P, Sanmartin BJ. The prevalence of eHealth literacy and its relationship with perceived health status and psychological distress during Covid-19: a cross-sectional study of older adults in Blekinge, Sweden. *BMC Geriatr.* (2023) 23:5. doi: 10.1186/s12877-022-03723-y

23. Olaseni AO, Akinsola OS, Agberotimi SF, Oguntayo R. Psychological distress experiences of Nigerians during Covid-19 pandemic; the gender difference. *Soc Sci Humanit Open*. (2020) 2:100052. doi: 10.1016/j.ssaho.2020.100052

24. Wang X, Cheng Z. Cross-Sectional Studies: Strengths, Weaknesses, and Recommendations. Chest. (2020) 158:S65-71. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012

25. Lok K, Fong D, Wong J, Ho M, Choi EP, Pandian V, et al. International survey for assessing COVID-19's impact on fear and health: study protocol. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e048720. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-048720

26. University of Birmingham. CIFORB country profile-Nigeria. (n.d.). Available at: https://www.birmingham.ac.uk/Documents/college-artslaw/ptr/ciforb/resources/Nigeria.pdf

27. National Youth Service Corps (NYSC). (n.d.) Available at: https://www.nysc.gov. ng/aboutscheme.html

28. CARE. An international survey for assessing COVID-19's impact on fear and health. (n.d.) Available at: https://www.care.hku.hk

29. Chia T, Oyeniran OI, Iorfa SK. Validation of the fear of the COVID-19 scale in Nigeria: implications for public health practice. *J Taibah Univ Med Sci.* (2021) 16:929–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jtumed.2021.05.006

30. Olayemi OM, Abolarinwa TS. Internet use and e-health literacy among tuberculosis patients in the directly observed therapy Centre, Lagos state, Nigeria. *Inf Res.* (2023) 28:30–49. doi: 10.47989/irpaper951

31. Adewuya AO, Fau OB, Afolabi OO, Afolabi OO. Validity of the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) as a screening tool for depression amongst Nigerian university students. *J Affect Disord*. (2006) 96:89–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2006.05.021

32. Richtering SS, Hyun K, Neubeck L, Coorey G, Chalmers J, Usherwood T, et al. eHealth literacy: predictors in a population with moderate-to-high cardiovascular risk. *JMIR Hum Factors*. (2017) 4:e4. doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.6217

33. Kroenke K, Fau SR, JBW W, Fau WJ, Löwe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. *Psychosomatics*. (2009) 50:613–21. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.6.613

34. Nikopoulou VA, Holeva V, Parlapani E, Karamouzi P, Voitsidis P, Porfyri GN, et al. Mental health screening for COVID-19: a proposed cutoff score for the Greek version of the fear of COVID-19 scale (FCV-19S). *Int J Ment Heal Addict*. (2022) 20:907–20. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00414-w

35. Akingbade O, Adediran V, Somoye IE, Alade AS, Chow KM. Perceived feasibility and usefulness of mHealth interventions for psychoeducational support among Nigerian women receiving chemotherapy for breast cancer: a focus group study. *JoyceSupport Care Cancer*. (2022) 30:9723–34. doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07403-w

36. Chemnad K, Alshakhsi S, Almourad MB, Altuwairiqi M, Phalp K, Ali R. Smartphone usage before and during COVID-19: a comparative study based on objective recording of usage data. *Informatics*. (2022) 9:98. doi: 10.3390/informatics9040098

37. Katsumata S, Ichikohji T, Nakano S, Yamaguchi S, Ikuine F. Changes in the use of mobile devices during the crisis: immediate response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Comput Hum Behav Rep.* (2022) 5:100168. doi: 10.1016/j.chbr.2022.100168

38. Saadeh H, Al Fayez RQ, Al Refaei A, Shewaikani N, Khawaldah H, Abu-Shanab S, et al. Smartphone use among university students during COVID-19 quarantine: an ethical trigger. *Front Public Health*. (2021) 9:600134. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.600134

39. Kuyinu YA, Femi-Adebayo TT, Adebayo BI, Abdurraheem-Salami I, Odusanya OO. Health literacy: prevalence and determinants in Lagos state, Nigeria. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0237813. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237813

40. Özen H. Gender difference in eHealth literacy: empirical evidence from Turkey. Int J Acad Res Bus Soc Sci. (2021) 11:11. doi: 10.6007/IJARBSS/v11-i4/9769

41. Akingbade O, Nguyen KT, Chow KM. Effect of mHealth interventions on psychological issues experienced by women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Nurs.* (2023) 32:3058–3073. doi: 10.1111/jocn.16533

42. Soroye MO, Oleribe OO, Taylor-Robinson SD. Community psychiatry care: an urgent need in Nigeria. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. (2021) 14:1145–8. doi: 10.2147/JMDH. S309517

43. Iorfa SK, Ottu IFA, Oguntayo R, Ayandele O, Kolawole SO, Gandi JC, et al. COVID-19 knowledge, risk perception, and precautionary behavior among Nigerians: a moderated mediation approach. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:566773. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566773

44. Tran HTT, Nguyen MH, Pham TTM, Kim GB, Nguyen HT, Nguyen N-M, et al. Predictors of effealth literacy and its associations with preventive behaviors, fear of COVID-19, anxiety, and depression among undergraduate nursing students: a cross-sectional survey. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:766. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph19073766

45. Ibeneme S, Ukor N, Ongom M, Dasa T, Muneene D, Okeibunor J. Strengthening capacities among digital health leaders for the development and implementation of national digital health programs in Nigeria. *BMC Proc.* (2020) 14:9. doi: 10.1186/s12919-020-00193-1

46. Sors TG, O'Brien RC, Scanlon ML, Bermel LY, Chikowe I, Gardner A, et al. Reciprocal innovation: a new approach to equitable and mutually beneficial global health partnerships. *Glob Public Health.* (2022) 25:1–13. doi: 10.1080/17441692. 2022.2102202

47. Fullman N, Yearwood J, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abd-Allah F, Abdela J, et al. Measuring performance on the healthcare access and quality index for 195 countries and territories and selected subnational locations: a systematic analysis from the global burden of disease study 2016. *Lancet*. (2018) 391:2236–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30994-2

48. McKing IA, Ifunanya CE. Improving access, quality and efficiency in health care delivery in Nigeria: a perspective. *PAMJ - One Health.* (2021) 5:3. doi: 10.11604/pamj-oh.2021.5.3.28204

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Shahzad Ali Khan, Health Services Academy, Pakistan Muhammad Ilyas, University of Peshawar, Pakistan

*CORRESPONDENCE Enrique Hernández-Lemus ⊠ ehernandez@inmegen.gob.mx Mireya Martínez-García ⊠ mireya.martinez@cardiologia.org.mx

RECEIVED 07 April 2023 ACCEPTED 31 May 2023 PUBLISHED 23 June 2023

CITATION

Segura-García S, Barrera-Ramírez A, Gutiérrez-Esparza GO, Groves-Miralrio E, Martínez-García M and Hernández-Lemus E (2023) Effects of social confinement during the first wave of COVID-19 in Mexico City. *Front. Public Health* 11:1202202. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1202202

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Segura-García, Barrera-Ramírez, Gutiérrez-Esparza, Groves-Miralrio, Martínez-García and Hernández-Lemus. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of social confinement during the first wave of COVID-19 in Mexico City

Stephany Segura-García¹, Ameyalli Barrera-Ramírez¹, Guadalupe O. Gutiérrez-Esparza², Elizabeth Groves-Miralrio³, Mireya Martínez-García^{3*} and Enrique Hernández-Lemus^{4,5*}

¹Health Promotion Program, Universidad Autónoma de la Ciudad de México, Mexico City, Mexico, ²Cátedras CONACYT, Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología, Mexico City, Mexico, ³Department of Immunology, National Institute of Cardiology Ignacio Chávez, Mexico City, Mexico, ⁴Computational Genomics Division, National Institute of Genomic Medicine, Mexico City, Mexico, ⁵Center for Complexity Sciences, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic led to global social confinement that had a significant impact on people's lives. This includes changes such as increased loneliness and isolation, changes in sleep patterns and social habits, increased substance use and domestic violence, and decreased physical activities. In some cases, it has increased mental health problems, such as anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder.

Objective: The objective of this study is to analyze the living conditions that arose during social confinement in the first wave of COVID-19 within a group of volunteers in Mexico City.

Methods: This is a descriptive and cross-sectional analysis of the experiences of volunteers during social confinement from 20 March 2020 to 20 December 2020. The study analyzes the impact of confinement on family life, work, mental health, physical activity, social life, and domestic violence. A maximum likelihood generalized linear model is used to determine the association between domestic violence and demographic and health-related factors.

Results: The findings indicate that social confinement had a significant impact on the participants, resulting in difficulties within families and vulnerable conditions for individuals. Gender and social level differences were observed in work and mental health. Physical activity and social life were also modified. We found that suffering from domestic violence was significantly associated with being unmarried (OR = 1.4454, *p*-value = 0.0479), lack of self-care in feeding habits (OR = 2.3159, *p*-value = 0.0084), and most notably, having suffered from a symptomatic COVID-19 infection (OR = 4.0099, *p*-value = 0.0009). Despite public policy to support vulnerable populations during confinement, only a small proportion of the studied population reported benefiting from it, suggesting areas for improvement in policy.

Conclusion: The findings of this study suggest that social confinement during the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the living conditions of people in Mexico City. Modified circumstances on families and individuals, included increased domestic violence. The results can inform policy decisions to improve the living conditions of vulnerable populations during times of social confinement.

KEYWORDS

social confinement, COVID pandemic, mental health, domestic violence, sleep disturbances, feeding habits, social support, anxiety

1. Introduction

At the end of 2019, the SARS-CoV-2 virus, which causes the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), was identified, which since then has rapidly spread throughout the world. Social confinement or isolation was the most important public health measure adopted by most countries to mitigate, attend to, and control the spread, as well as the effects of the pandemic during the first wave of COVID-19 (1). Mexico was no exception, with \sim 126 million inhabitants, and social confinement was based on the suspension of nonessential activities or those that would not affect the substantive activities of a public, social, or private organization such as activities in schools, offices, public works, factories, and/or some services (2). This measure was part of the so-called National Season of Healthy Distance (Jornada Nacional de Sana Distancia, in Spanish), a mandatory-yet-not legally reinforced social confinement strategy that started on 23 March 2020, postponed until 30 May 2020, and was accompanied by a modulated reopening strategy by an epidemiological traffic light starting 1 June 2020, which established the measures of social de-confinement depending on the spread of the virus in different regions of the country (3, 4). At the end of December 2020, the official data for Mexico City (CDMX), the national epicenter of the pandemic, reported around 264,000 confirmed cases of infected people (5).

More than 3 years after the start of the pandemic, we know that social confinement resulted in the partial or total cancellation of many formal or informal work activities, with strong impacts on the economy and severe consequences for the daily life routine of many families (6-10). Around the world, unemployment figures rose rapidly to double digits, with millions of people signing up for welfare payments, being women more affected than men by the economic instability (11, 12). The highest unemployment rates reported in Mexico in 2020 were located in the months of June, July, and August with an average of 2.8 million unemployed, while informal employment went from 20.7 million in April to 28.1 million in September, with a continuous increase during the following months (13). A study reported that during the same period, Mexican women were the ones most affected by unemployment and most of them have not yet recovered from it (14).

To date, various studies have explored living conditions in the context of lockdown and social distancing from an academic perspective in order to understand the aftermath that isolation has left on society (15–19). In general, we know that changes in the routine of lifestyle and the lack of physical contact with friends and family negatively affect the mental health of people of all ages (20). During the first months of the COVID-19 pandemic, stress, frustration, depression, anxiety, and panic disorder became integral parts of adult life. The presence of chronic illnesses, fear of acquiring the infection, the angst of infecting or losing a loved one, or the uncertainty of not having enough resources to survive have disrupted the dynamics of many families (21).

The social isolation and stay-at-home policies also contributed to increased vulnerabilities related to mental health, including domestic violence, which may manifest in physical, psychological, or economic forms (7, 22). In Mexico City, as in many regions of Latin America, confinement exacerbated this social phenomenon that has plagued society for decades, the domestic violence and the deterioration in mental health conditions, often related to economic recession, poverty, unemployment, school dropout, addiction, housing crisis, and reduced options for support, among other factors (23–25). The purpose of this article is to analyze the living conditions that occurred or were modified during the first wave of COVID-19 social confinement in a cohort from a metropolitan population in Mexico City. Our focus was set on exploring the presence of particular diseases, the modification of daily-life habits, the experiencing of episodes of violence, and the social support received as part of the follow-up of a group of volunteers participating in a cohort of CDMX.

2. Methods

2.1. Information retrieval

This research was conducted during the COVID-19 health emergency, thus all *fieldworks* were conducted online. The design chosen was an online self-report questionnaire with 24 questions applied to follow-up volunteer adults from Mexico City. Based on online platforms and/or email, the data collection approach has not only proven to be a cost-effective survey alternative for collecting large amount of data in a short period of time but it also appears to be an effective strategy for collecting data on sensitive topics among vulnerable populations (26). The questionnaire was sent via email and WhatsApp messages. The invitation to participate in the study was sent up to three times in some cases as a reminder and/or to give the volunteers more time to send their responses. The initial message explained the objective of the study, the confidentiality of the replies, and stated that the information would be used only for research purposes. At the end of the study, an acknowledgment letter was sent to the volunteers to thank them for their participation. One of the major goals of the survey was to evaluate the social vulnerability of some CDMX families during the COVID-19 pandemic.

For the purposes of this research, 12 of the 24 questions were selected. The form included questions to know the general health conditions, violet situations, and the individual perspective on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (see Tables 1, 2). The answer options could be multiple choice or open-ended. Some answers were classified for their systematization and subsequent analysis from pre-established codes. In the case of the variable type of violence, the answers were coded as: economic, psychological, verbal, emotional, symbolic, physical, or unspecified, according to the literature reviewed (27). The health conditions were classified according to the International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10) (28). Demographic information such as sex, age, marital status, and level of social development were also recorded. The Mexican Social Development Index (SDI) classifies population development from worse (less development) to best (more social development) into four levels as follows: (1) very low, (2) low, (3) medium, and (4) high (29).

Features	Abbreviation	Possible answers
Sex	Sex	Man
		Woman
What is your current marital status?	Marital status	Married
		Unmarried
What has been your main workplace during the pandemic?	Work	Business office
		Health services
		Merchant
		Home
		Outdoor work
		Unemployed
Have you been diagnosed with COVID-19?	COVID-19 diagnose	Yes, with lab tests
		Yes, with symptoms
		No
In case your previous response was affirmative, you were at:	Place of treatment	Hospital
		Home
Do you have any of the following diseases?	Ailments	Cardiovascular disease
		Respiratory disease
		Diabetes
		Arterial hypertension
		Obesity
		Metabolic syndrome
		Alcoholism
		Smoking
		None
During the lockdown, What habits have you changed?	Modified habits	Feeding
		Sleeping
		Physical activity
		Social life
		None

TABLE 1 Self-report formulaire (sociodemographic, comorbidities, and habits modified).

TABLE 2 Self-report formulaire (lifestyle characteristics, violence episodes, and support received).

Features	Abbreviation	Possible answers	
Do you exercise at home		Yes	
		No	
How often did you exercise at home?	Low-impact	Yes, at least every third day, for half an hour	
	Moderate	Yes, every third day, for more than an hour or	
		Yes, more than three times a week at least half an hour	
	High-impact	Yes, more than three times a week for more than an hour	
Have you taken care of your feeding habits	Feeding	Yes	
		Sometimes	
		A few times	
		No	
Do you consider that since lockdown for COVID-19, you have experienced situations	Violence	Yes	
of family violence in your home?		No	
How often have been this violence situations?	Frequency of violence	Sometimes	
		Several times	
		Many times	
In the affirmative case, could you briefly describe what kind of violent situations have you experienced at home?	Type of violence	Description	
Do you receive some kind of support?	Support received	Financial	
		Social	
		Food	
		Psychological	
		Medical	
		None	

2.2. Statistical analysis

The data analysis was carried out with R/Rstudio version 4.0.2. A descriptive analysis of the general characteristics of the studied population was carried out. The chi-square test was used to check for differences between men and women. Statistical significance was determined at $p_{value} < 0.05$. A multivariate logistic

regression model was fitted to estimate the association between *Violence* and independent variables (age, sex, marital status, social stratum, COVID-19 diagnosis, work during the pandemic, and some habits such as feeding, sleeping, or physical activity) in the form of a generalized linear model with a binomial link function. Model optimization (stepwise regression) was performed using maximum likelihood calculations to choose the best model compatible with the data. The maximum likelihood criterion in the likelihood ratio test was Wilk's test. Variance inflation factor

(VIF) determination was calculated for each regression model to assess for multi-collinearity. *VIF* << 10 for all retained variables. Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (2.5–97.5%C.I.) were calculated to estimate the strength of the association. All tests were performed at a confidence level of $\alpha = 0.05$. The balance between sensitivity and specificity was evaluated using ROC curves and calculation of the area under the ROC curve (AUROC).

3. Results

3.1. General features

Out of the 2,440 forms sent, 1,629 responses were obtained and included in the analysis after meeting the predefined selection criteria (consent to participate in the study, non-duplicate records and complete data, responses received within the period of the first wave of COVID-19 infections). In total, 34% of the volunteers were men, with a median age of 41 years (IQR 33–48) and 66% were women, with a median age of 42 years (IQR 33–49). The percentage of respondents who were married was higher among men than women (55.76 vs. 48.64%, respectively, < 0.0001).

During the first wave of infections, 3.31% of participants had a laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 diagnosis, and 2.15% had the suspicion of having suffered from it based on the presented symptoms. Home was the main place of care and/or treatment (95.51%). Of the cases diagnosed via a laboratory test, men reported slightly more infections than women, 3.24 and 3.36%, respectively (see Table 3). Regarding the employment situation during confinement, the condition of unemployment was reported more by women (15.94%) than by men (8.81%); for those who kept their jobs, it was mainly carried out from home office (55.58 and 59.18%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.0011$), followed by business office (15.11 and 9.69%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.0087$) and outdoor work (7.73 and 1.68%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.0056$).

3.2. Presence of some diseases

The main diseases, as reported by the participants, broadly belong to the following classes: (1) Endocrine, Nutritional, and Metabolic Diseases (22.59%), e.g., those related to diabetes mellitus, obesity, and metabolic syndrome (ICD-10: E00-E90); (2) Mental, Behavioral, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders (10.13%), which include alcoholism, smoking, and anxiety and depression (ICD-10: F00-F99), among others; (3) Diseases of the Circulatory System (4.41%), including hypertension, cardiovascular disease, venous insufficiency, and also some arrhythmias (ICD-10: I00-I99); and (4) Diseases of the Respiratory System (3.68%), such as infectious and chronic respiratory diseases, allergic rhinitis, asthma, sinusitis, and chronic bronchitis (ICD-10: J00–J99).

We can observe that men are more frequently affected by endocrine, nutritional, and metabolic diseases than women (22.84 and 22.46%, respectively). Similarly, mental and behavioral disorders were more prevalent among women (12.77%) than men (10.13%), while the opposite trend was found in the case of circulatory diseases (5.03% in women and 3.24% in men) and respiratory system-related diseases (3.82% in women and 3.42% in men). Statistically significant differences were found between men and women in the categories of endocrine, nutritional, and metabolic diseases ($p_{value} = 0.0288$), as well as mental and behavioral disorders ($p_{value} = 0.0243$; see Table 3). Furthermore, it is worth noting that only women reported suffering from neoplasms such as cervical, colon, and breast cancer (0.47%; ICD-10, C00–D48), albeit in smaller proportions.

3.3. Modified habits

Among the *self-reported habits that were modified* during social confinement between men and women, substantive changes in social life were indicated (38.13 and 34.11%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.0009$), as was to be expected due to confinement, followed by physical activity (26.98% in men and 27.03% in women, $p_{value} = 0.0189$). We could notice that habits related to feeding and sleeping changed to a lesser extent in men than in women, without being statistically significant (see Table 3).

Regarding exercise at home, a higher percentage was reported in men than in women in low impact—*at least every third day for half an hour* (25 and 24.88%, respectively, $p_{value} =$ 0.0234), for moderate impact (*every third day, for more than an hour or more than three times a week at least half an hour*) 25.18% in men and 19.66% in women ($p_{value} = 0.0028$), and for high impact—*more than three times a week for more than 1 h*, 6.53 and 4.55% were reported between men and women, respectively ($p_{value} = 0.2335$). Regarding nutrition care, the majority of the participants reported taking care of it, both men and women (45.50 and 44.64%, respectively); among them, also a statistically significant difference was found ($p_{value} = 0.0012$; see Table 4).

3.4. Violence episodes

During the first period of confinement, \sim 9% of the volunteers self-reported having experienced some forms of violence within their home. Episodes of violence were registered less often in men than in women (8.27 and 9.51%, respectively, p_{value} = 0.3922). The main types of violence were related to the partner, parents, children, or other relatives and were coded as psychological violence (50.68%), emotionals (28.38%), and verbal (33.78%). The frequency with which violence occurred in the home between men and women was described as follows: sometimes (6.29 and 7.18%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.2412$), several times (1.62 and 1.96%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.9288$) and in smaller proportions, and many times (0.36 and 0.37%, respectively). Statistically significant differences were found between men and women in the types of violence: psychological (41.30 and 54.90%, respectively, < 0.0001), verbal (28.26 and 36.27%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.0009$), and economic (13.04 and 5.88%, respectively, $p_{value} = 0.0001$; see Table 4).

Some open-ended responses from participants who experienced violence described the type of violence. Examples include: "*My partner used to mock my crying (my mother died of COVID on May 2020) and he was not patient with my 3-year-old son*

TABLE 3 Distribution of sociodemographic, comorbidities, and habits modified during the first wave of COVID-19 social confinement.

Features	Total 1,629	Man 556 (34%)	Woman 1,073 (66%)	<i>p</i> -value
Marital status*				
Married	51.07	55.76	48.65	< 0.0001
Unmarried	48.93	44.24	51.35	0.0135
Social stratum*		1		
1) Very low	11.48	11.69	11.37	0.1420
2) Low	36.89	36.15	37.28	0.0077
3) Medium	25.48	25.72	25.35	0.0195
4) High	26.15	26.44	26.00	0.0173
Work*		1		
Business office	11.54	15.11	9.69	0.0087
Health services	9.15	7.91	9.79	0.4903
Merchant	4.11	4.86	3.73	0.3028
Home office	57.95	55.58	59.18	0.0011
Outdoor work	3.74	7.73	1.68	0.0056
Unemployed	13.51	8.81	15.94	0.9805
COVID-19*				
With laboratory tests	3.31	3.24	3.36	0.6885
With symptoms	2.15	2.70	1.86	0.5244
No	94.54	94.06	94.78	< 0.0001
COVID-19 place of treatment*,**				
Home	95.51	94.87	96.00	< 0.0001
Hospital	4.49	5.13	4.00	0.2893
Presence of some diseases*				
Certain infectious and parasitic diseases	0.37	0.18	0.47	0.9999
Diseases of the circulatory system	4.41	3.24	5.03	0.9999
Diseases of the digestive system	2.02	1.26	2.42	0.9999
Diseases of the genitourinary system	0.74	0.36	0.93	0.9999
Diseases of the respiratory system	3.68	3.42	3.82	0.7244
Diseases of the nervous system	0.37	0.54	0.28	0.9999
Diseases of the musculoskeletal system	1.17	0.90	1.30	0.9999
Endocrine, nutritional, and metabolic diseases	22.59	22.84	22.46	0.0288
Neoplasms	0.31	0.00	0.47	0.9999
Mental and behavioral disorders	10.13	12.77	8.76	0.0243
Modified*				
Feeding	15.22	13.49	16.12	0.2593
Sleeping	17.19	16.19	17.71	0.1316
Physical activity	27.01	26.98	27.03	0.0189
Social life	35.48	38.13	34.11	0.0009
None	5.10	5.22	5.03	0.4195

*Values expressed in percentage. **Values calculated only for cases of self-reported COVID-19 (54 men and 35 women). The bold values indicate the statistically significant results.

67

Features	Total (1,629)	Man (556)	Woman (1,073)	<i>p</i> -value			
Exercise at home*							
Low-impact	24.92	25.00	24.88	0.0234			
Moderate-impact	21.55	25.18	19.66	0.0028			
High-impact	12.28	11.51	12.67	0.2335			
No	41.25	38.31	42.78	0.0149			
Feeding habits care*							
Yes	44.94	45.50	44.64	0.0012			
Sometimes	38.06	35.97	39.14	0.0143			
A few times	11.97	13.67	11.09	0.0439			
No	5.08	4.86	5.13	0.5247			
Violence*							
Yes	9.09	8.27	9.51	0.3922			
Frequency of violence*,**							
Sometimes	6.88	6.29	7.18	0.2412			
Many times	0.37	0.36	0.37	0.9999			
Several times	1.84	1.62	1.96	0.9288			
Type of violence*,**							
Economic	8.11	13.04	5.88	0.0001			
Emotional	28.38	21.74	31.37	< 0.0001			
Physical	8.78	6.52	9.80	0.4662			
Not specified	4.73	8.69	2.94	0.0012			
Psychological	50.68	41.30	54.90	< 0.0001			
Symbolic	4.05	0.00	5.88	0.2603			
Verbal	33.78	28.26	36.27	0.0009			
Support received*							
Financial	9.76	10.61	9.31	0.1154			
Social	5.65	5.03	5.96	0.6190			
Food	2.58	1.61	3.07	0.9999			
Psychological	6.14	4.86	6.80	0.8136			
Medical	8.83	7.91	9.31	0.4336			

TABLE 4 Distribution of lifestyle characteristics, violence episodes, and support received during the first wave of COVID-19 social confinement.

*Values expressed in percentage.

** Values calculated only for cases of self-reported violence (46 men and 102 women).

The bold values indicate the statistically significant results.

who had many tantrums, often he kicked us out of his mother's house where I was spending my isolation, ... he told me many times that I shouldn't continue traumatized..."; "My sister-in-law threatened to hit me with the aid of her whole family"; "Death threats, insults, and hits." In the same way, indirect or systemic types of violence were identified, such as: "Emotional violence by my brother-in-law, since my sister lives in my parents' house and he hits her and my nephew and that affects me in some way, because I see it almost every day. The man is an alcoholic."; "We are three people living together, we have economic and social problems, we have a small business that is in danger of disappearing due to the contingency, and also it is a little difficult not to argue while being inside the house."; "I have suffered from Machismo related to domestic tasks from my partner."

3.5. Support received

As for "support received", the majority of the participants (69%) indicated that they did not receive any. However, of those who had some support, women reported receiving more medical (9.31 vs. 7.91%), psychological (6.80 vs. 4.86%), social (5.96 vs. 5.03%),

TABLE 5	Logistic regression	model, co	onsidering	Violence as	the outcome variable.
---------	---------------------	-----------	------------	-------------	-----------------------

Variables	Estimate	[2.5% C.I.]	[97.5% C.I.]	OR	<i>p</i> -value
Intercept	-3.81763	-5.252191533	-2.47659362	0.0220	< 0.0001
Age	0.02880	0.008393227	0.04952561	1.0292	0.0060
Unmarried	0.36835	0.003894635	0.73486521	1.4454	0.0479
Work [§]					
(Home office)	0.05688	-0.740232917	0.99661633	1.0585	0.8965
Work [§]					
(Merchant)	-0.92503	-2.517180094	0.43539035	0.3965	0.2038
Work [§]					
(Unemployed)	0.56231	-0.298563685	1.54541383	1.7547	0.2262
Work [§]					
(Health services)	-0.12805	-1.128519539	0.94089512	0.8798	0.8058
Work§					
(Business office)	-0.34765	-1.343003376	0.71690218	0.7063	0.5024
Exercise at home [†]					
(Low-impact)	0.40091	-0.232001948	1.09509525	1.4932	0.2328
Exercise at home [†]					
(Moderate-impact)	-0.34016	-1.080813020	0.42538605	0.7117	0.3716
Exercise at home [†]					
(Without exercising)	0.21804	-0.396473331	0.89933723	1.2436	0.5063
Feeding habits care [‡]					
(No)	0.83978	0.193515638	1.44912535	2.3159	0.0084
Feeding habits care [‡]					
(A few times)	0.12702	-0.409418777	0.63382853	1.1354	0.6318
Feeding habits care [‡]					
(Yes)	-0.55852	-0.978639935	-0.14639141	0.5721	0.0084
COVID-19 diagnose					
(Yes, with laboratory tests)	0.52695	-0.475042890	1.36225307	1.6938	0.2529
COVID-19 diagnose					
(Yes, with symptoms)	1.38877	0.522492996	2.17601285	4.0099	0.0009

§Outdoor work was the reference category.

[†] High-impact was the reference category.

[‡]Sometimes was the reference category.

The bold values indicate the statistically significant results.

and food support than men (3.07 vs. 1.61%, respectively), while men indicated receiving only economic support more than women (10.61 and 9.31%, respectively; see Table 4).

3.6. Multivariate logistic regression model

Regarding the logistic regression model, the occurrence of violence (as the dependent variable) was mainly associated with age ($p_{value} = 0.0060$), being unmarried ($p_{value} = 0.0479$), not having taken care of their feeding habits ($p_{value} = 0.0084$) and with the self-reported variable of having presented symptoms of COVID-19 ($p_{value} = 0.0009$). Older participants had a slightly

yet significantly higher risk of experiencing episodes of violence than younger ones (OR = 1.02). Similarly, those participants who worked at home during confinement or who did not have a job and remained in a shelter had higher risks (OR = 1.05 and OR = 1.75, respectively) of suffering a violent event, in contrast to those whose work was carried out outside the home, such as in sectors such as commerce, health services, or in an office (OR = 0.39, OR = 0.87, OR = 0.70) who experienced a lower probability of experiencing violence at home.

The participants who did not perform any exercise at home (OR = 1.24) or who exercised with low-impact activity (OR = 1.49) were found also to have more probability of experiencing episodes of violence than those who performed moderate-impact exercise

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1202202

(OR = 0.71). A similar pattern was observed for participants who did not take care of their diet or did not take enough care of it (OR = 2.31 and OR = 1.13). Moreover, those volunteers who reported having COVID-19 either with symptoms or with a laboratory test were also at greater risk of suffering episodes of violence at home, unlike those who had not experienced this condition. The AUROC for our overall model was 0.6698405, a value indicating a relatively good model performance for this type of study (30). The full maximum likelihood, adjusted odds ratios (95% CI), and *p*-values of the final (maximum likelihood) model are presented in Table 5.

4. Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the effects of social confinement during the first wave of COVID-19 on certain living conditions of a group of volunteers participating in a cohort study of CDMX [previously described by Martínez-García et al. (29)]. Our results showed that during the first wave of COVID-19, the majority of the population that responded to our questionnaire belonged to low and medium social development strata, and the highest percentage of self-reported unemployment was among women. Men reported a higher prevalence of metabolic diseases and behavioral disorders than women. Social life and physical activity were the factors most affected during confinement, with a higher percentage of women reporting that they did not do any type of exercise at home and did not take adequate care of their diet.

Another finding of our study was that women reported a higher percentage of episodes of psychological (54.90%), verbal (36.27%), and emotional (31.37%) violence. Our results also identified different factors associated with violence, including age, unmarried status, neglect of feeding, and having presented symptoms related to COVID-19 without having undergone conclusive testing.

The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need to promote self-care and healthy lifestyle habits to prevent chronic degenerative and metabolic comorbidities such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity, metabolic syndrome, and kidney disease (2). These comorbidities have been associated with the severity and worse prognosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection (31-33). In Mexico, as of March of 2022, Loza et al. reported the most prevalent comorbidities of near of six million COVID-19 confirmed cases related to hypertension (12.7%), obesity (10.5%), and diabetes (9.5%). In addition, the percentage of COVID-19-related deaths among people with diabetes and hypertension was 21.9 and 19.8%, respectively (2). Other studies have also reported that those who had died had presented with one or multiple comorbidities, nutritional deficiencies, and often had a history of smoking and a sedentary lifestyle, which could have made them more prone to serious complications (34, 35). Although the participants in our study came from a seemingly healthy population recruited well before the start of the pandemic, and at the time of applying the questionnaire, the majority neither had become ill with COVID-19 nor had their condition worsened. Our findings show that the participants already had a number of nutritional and metabolic comorbidities, as well as some mental and behavioral disorders, some of which were more prevalent in men than in women.

Exploring the effects of confinement on health habits such as eating disorders or physical activity is quite relevant in the

context of a population such as the inhabitants of Mexico City, and given that in much of the Mexican population, there is a high level of food insecurity, a large problem of overweight and obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and high rates of the population with metabolic comorbidities (36-38). The preliminary reports of the study "PSY-COVID-19" (39), with more than 7,000 responses from Mexicans surveyed through a Google form, revealed that around half of the participants reduced their physical activity (more often men than women) and neglect their nutrition (more often women than men) during the first months of confinement (39). In our case, 38.31% of men and 42.78% of women did not perform any physical activity; however, 45.50% of men and 44.64% of women did take care of their nutrition. Derived from the experiences in terms of habit modification, the aforementioned study pointed out the importance of working on interventions to address situations such as appetite disorders or lack of motivation for physical activity related to adaptation to confinement and the ways of life of people (39).

On the other hand, although confinement helped to a great extent to contain the spread of COVID-19, the economic and social repercussions and the stress coping mechanisms that impacted health (e.g., excessive alcohol consumption and the use of cannabis, nicotine, and other drugs) are still being explored (40–42). In addition to impacting socioeconomic conditions, physical health, and mental health; social confinement also did so on family life and working conditions, with a greater effect on women (43). For instance, social confinement exposed gender inequalities related to the lack of employment and economic uncertainty (44). These vulnerable situations were perpetuated beyond the period of confinement and may have effects on the development of episodes of violence as those reported by the participants in this study (9.51% of prevalence of violence self-reported by women, see Table 4).

Consistent with these findings, in a recent Mexican study, based on data collected during 2020 through a remote survey of 47,819 women aged 15 years and older, Rivera et al. (25) reported an 11.5% of prevalence of violence against women, and the most reported acts were shouting, insults, or threats (4.3%) between 2020 and 2021 during the pandemic confinement. These authors also identified different factors associated with the episodes of violence, such as unemployment, being partially, and/or totally quarantined, being a family caregiver, binge drinking, and losing a family member to COVID-19 (25). The results from other studies regarding domestic violence during the same period of confinement in Mexico reported a 5.8% prevalence of episodes of violence against adult women, most of whom had already suffered some types of violence prior to the pandemic. This study revealed that the most reported acts of violence were emotional (4.3%), economical (2.1%), and physical (1.9%) (45). Unfortunately, our results also reflect this situation in some Mexican families, manifested mainly as psychological, verbal, and emotional violence, and their impact on socioeconomic vulnerabilities and mental health context has been little explored (44).

As already well-known, in situations of violence within homes, social isolation represents an opportunity to generate or maintain conditions of control and oppression, favored by the increase in contact time between the victim and the perpetrator, who is often the partner (27). Financial strain and isolation are also well-known

domestic abuse risk factors, and both of these situations reduce the opportunities for people who are victims to ask for help (11). It is worth mentioning that the government of Mexico City made specific telephone lines available to the citizens for reporting gender violence and provided mental health support to those affected by the effects of confinement (23). According to Casas and Maldonado (14), there was a 45% increase in telephone complaints of domestic violence in Mexico during the second and third quarters of 2020. However, as Manrique de Lara and De Jesús Medina Arellano (44) pointed out, structural violence against women is often normalized in the Mexican context and has been exacerbated during the pandemic, affecting every sphere of society. Although health policies are being developed to provide life support services for victims of violence, the structural violence derived from the roles associated with care and domestic work that women face every day remains a neglected public health crisis in itself (44).

As we discussed, we found that suffering episodes of violence were significantly associated with being unmarried, as well as age, neglected feeding habits, or physical activity, and having had symptomatic COVID-19 infections. In connection to these issues, some studies have explored the effect of marital status (specifically, being unmarried) in relation to mental health during the lockdown from the beginning of the pandemic, but reports on the relationship with violence are somewhat limited. Ahmed et al. (46) found that women, students, unmarried individuals, and younger people were in more vulnerable positions in terms of demographics related to mental health during the pandemic in Bangladesh. Elhadi et al. (47) in turn, showed through multivariate analysis that being younger, women, unmarried, educated, or victims of domestic violence or abuse, having work suspension or increased workload, financial issues, suicidal thoughts, or a family member hospitalized due to COVID-19 were significantly associated with a high likelihood of mental disorders during the first months of the pandemic among the Libyan population. Additionally, Lee et al. (48) reported that higher levels of adverse mental health symptoms were associated with people who were single, reported a lower household income, had decreased support from friends or family, and increased stress at work or home during the COVID-19 pandemic in South Korea. Further studies may reveal how marital status may influence the observed effects of social confinement, particularly in the context of mental health. In fact, the medium- to long-term effects of social confinement on mental health are suspected to be substantial and remain far from being resolved (49).

The results of the present study further confirm some of these known trends and help contextualize them to highlight the interrelationship between biological, social, and emotional health conditions. In brief, this study has exposed some of the effects that social confinement during the COVID-19 pandemic had on certain living conditions, habits related to food, sleep, and physical activity, as well as people's daily lives and family relationships. This highlights the importance of interdisciplinary analysis, whose sole objective is to highlight the dimension of social vulnerabilities and their articulation with biological and mental factors for the generation of comprehensive health interventions.

The main living conditions modified among the volunteers were related to work, exercise, and food. With respect to violence and support networks, we consider them as a result of higher or structural categories. For example, different forms of violence can be related to historical-social processes that our society shares with the rest of Latin America, as well as being closely related to inequalities based on age, gender, and social capital (50, 51). Although some public policies have been implemented in Mexico to support victims of violence, it is largely unknown what effect they have had on the population during the pandemic (25). Within this study, we found that emotional and psychological conditions related to in-house violence were particularly salient. This highlights the importance of addressing mental health through public policies in our country in the post-pandemic era (52).

5. Conclusion

The findings of the present study revealed gender and socioeconomic differences in relation to the COVID-19 lockdown established in Mexico. These differences were observed in terms of places of work, the prevalence of metabolic diseases, mental, behavioral, and developmental disorders, as well as modified patterns of physical activity and social life.

The results of multivariate logistic models used to analyze the association between at-home violence episodes and various factors showed that such episodes were associated with *age*, *being unmarried*, *neglecting self-care* (*including eating habits*), and *having suffered from COVID-19 infection with symptoms*. All of these factors suggest potential vulnerability. Although the prevalence of violence, in general, was similar between men and women, certain types of violence were significantly more prevalent among women, including economic, emotional, psychological, and verbal violence.

We have also noticed that although some public policy measures were implemented to support both the general and vulnerable populations during the lockdown, <10% of the participants (with no statistically significant gender differences) reported receiving any support. This fact underscores the need to evaluate and redesign such support policies to maximize their social impact. Studies like this one can continue to provide evidence for the ongoing monitoring and improvement of social support policies and raise awareness of the often-overlooked living conditions of vulnerable populations.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by IRB of the National Institute of Cardiology Ignacio Chavez (protocol code 13-802). The patients/participants
provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

SS-G performed the survey, organized the data, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. AB-R performed the survey and organized the data. GG-E pre-processed and organized the data. EG-M supervised the survey and organized the data. MM-G devised and coordinated the project, contributed to the methodological strategy, performed calculations, analyzed the data, integrated the results, discussed results, drafted the manuscript, and co-supervised the project. EH-L designed the methodological approach, developed code, performed calculations, analyzed the data, discussed results, edited the manuscript, and co-supervised the project. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was exclusively funded via intramural resources from the National Institute of Genomic Medicine the National Institute of Cardiology and Ignacio Chávez.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge Maite Vallejo, Nancy Ruíz Soto, María Alejandra Gaona Flores, Jonathan Ariel López Cuevas, Alma Lizbeth González Luna, and Jennifer López Vilchis for their logistic support in this study. The authors also want to thank Mrs. Gabriela Graham for her professional support with language editing and proofreading of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Ammar A, Chtourou H, Boukhris O, Trabelsi K, Masmoudi L, Brach M, et al. COVID-19 home confinement negatively impacts social participation and life satisfaction: a worldwide multicenter study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6237. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176237

2. Loza A, Wong-Chew RM, Jiménez-Corona ME, Zárate S, López S, Ciria R, et al. Two-year follow-up of the COVID-19 pandemic in Mexico. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:1050673. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022. 1050673

3. Secretaría de Gobernación. Acuerdo por el que se Establecen las Medidas Preventivas que se Deberán Implementar Para la Mitigación y Control de los Riesgos Para la Salud Que Implica la Enfermedad por el Virus SARS-CoV2 (COVID-19). Diario Oficial de la Federación. (2020) p. 1–2.

4. de Anda-Jáuregui G, García-García L, Hernández-Lemus E. Modular reactivation of Mexico City after COVID-19 lockdown. *BMC Public Health.* (2022) 22:961. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13183-z

5. Sarria-Guzmán Y, Bernal J, De Biase M, Mu noz-Arenas LC, González-Jiménez FE, Mosso C, et al. Using demographic data to understand the distribution of H1N1 and COVID-19 pandemics cases among federal entities and municipalities of Mexico. *PeerJ.* (2021) 9:e11144. doi: 10.7717/peerj.11144

6. Delardas O, Kechagias KS, Pontikos PN, Giannos P. Socio-economic impacts and challenges of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): an updated review. *Sustainability.* (2022) 14:9699. doi: 10.3390/su14159699

7. Vargas ED, Sanchez GR. COVID-19 is having a devastating impact on the economic well-being of Latino families. *J Econ Race Policy.* (2020) 3:262–9. doi: 10.1007/s41996-020-00071-0

8. Arceo-Gomez EO, Campos-Vazquez RM, Esquivel G, Alcaraz E, Martinez LA, Lopez NG. The impact of COVID-19 infection on labor outcomes of Mexican formal workers. *World Dev Perspect*. (2023) 29:100488. doi: 10.1016/j.wdp.2023.100488

 Rodríguez-Fernández P, González-Santos J, Santamaría-Peláez M, Soto-Cámara R, Sánchez-González E, González-Bernal JJ. Psychological effects of home confinement and social distancing derived from COVID-19 in the general population–a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:6528. doi: 10.3390/ijerph181 26528

10. Martínez-Vázquez SE, Ceballos-Rasgado M, Posada-Velázquez R, Hunot-Alexander C, Nava-González EJ, Ramírez-Silva I, et al. Perceived diet quality, eating behaviour, and lifestyle changes in a Mexican Population with internet access during confinement for the COVID-19 pandemic: ESCAN-COVID19Mx Survey. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:4256. doi: 10.3390/nu13124256

11. Usher K, Bhullar N, Durkin J, Gyamfi N, Jackson D. Family violence and COVID-19: Increased vulnerability and reduced options for support. *Int J Ment Health Nurs*. (2020) 29:549. doi: 10.1111/inm.12735

12. Wenham C, Smith J, Davies SE, Feng H, Grépin KA, Harman S, et al. Women are most affected by pandemics–lessons from past outbreaks. *Nature*. (2020) 583:194–8. doi: 10.1038/d41586-020-02006-z

13. Ruiz Ramírez H. El empleo en México durante el COVID-19. *Observ Econ Latin.* (2020) 1:1–25.

14. Casas RM, Maldonado EH. Desde la tierra de nunca jamas: México y la epidemia de Covid-19. *Rev Acess Just Dir Am.* (2020) 2:209–27. doi: 10.26512/abyayala.v4i3.35571

15. O'sullivan R, Burns A, Leavey G, Leroi I, Burholt V, Lubben J, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on loneliness and social isolation: a multi-country study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:9982. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18199982

16. Godeau D, Petit A, Richard I, Roquelaure Y, Descatha A. Return-to-work, disabilities and occupational health in the age of COVID-19. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. (2021) 47:408. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3960

17. Sachs JD, Karim SSA, Aknin L, Allen J, Brosbøl K, Colombo F, et al. The lancet commission on lessons for the future from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet*. (2022) 400:1224–80. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01585-9

18. Ozyilmaz A, Bayraktar Y, Toprak M, Isik E, Guloglu T, Aydin S, et al. MDPI. Socio-economic, demographic and health determinants of the COVID-19 outbreak. *Healthcare*. (2022) 10:748. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10040748

19. Nittas V, Gao M, West EA, Ballouz T, Menges D, Wulf Hanson S, et al. Long COVID through a public health lens: an umbrella review. *Public Health Rev.* (2022) 43:1604501. doi: 10.3389/phrs.2022.1604501

20. Thangaswamy GC, Arulappan J, Anumanthan S, Jayapal SK. Trends and determinants of mental health during COVID-19 pandemic: implications and strategies to overcome the mental health issues-a rapid review from 2019-2020. *Int J Nutr Pharmacol Neurol Dis.* (2021) 11:1–6. doi: 10.4103/ijnpnd.ijnpnd_86_20

21. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, Lui LM, Gill H, Phan L, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001 22. Goh KK, Lu ML, Jou S. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic: Social distancing and the vulnerability to domestic violence. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 74:612. doi: 10.1111/pcn.13130

23. Ziccardi A, Figueroa D. Mexico City: housing conditions and social distancing imposed, COVID-19. *Rev Mex Sociol.* (2021) 83:31–60. doi: 10.22201/iis.01882503p.2021.0.60068

24. Boyer CJ, Ugarte E, Buhler-Wassmann AC, Hibel LC. Latina mothers navigating COVID-19: within-and between-family stress processes over time. *Fam Relat.* (2023) 72:23–39. doi: 10.1111/fare.12748

25. Rivera Rivera L, Séris Martínez M, Reynales Shigematsu LM, Gómez García JA, Austria Corrales F, Toledano-Toledano F, et al. MDPI: violence against women during the COVID-19 pandemic in Mexico. *Healthcare*. (2023) 11:419. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11030419

26. Regmi PR, Waithaka E, Paudyal A, Simkhada P, van Teijlingen E. Guide to the design and application of online questionnaire surveys. *Nepal J Epidemiol*. (2016) 6:640. doi: 10.3126/nje.v6i4.17258

27. Kourti A, Stavridou A, Panagouli E, Psaltopoulou T, Spiliopoulou C, Tsolia M, et al. Domestic violence during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. (2023) 24:719–45. doi: 10.1177/15248380211038690

28. Outland B, Newman MM, William MJ. Health policy basics: implementation of the International classification of disease, 10th revision. *Ann Intern Med.* (2015) 163:554-6. doi: 10.7326/M15-1933

29. Martínez-García M, Gutierrez-Esparza GO, Roblero-Godinez JC, Marín-Pérez DV, Montes-Ruiz CL, Vallejo M, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and social development index. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2021) 8:68. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021. 631747

30. Rice ME, Harris GT. Comparing effect sizes in follow-up studies: ROC Area, Cohen's D, and R. *Law Hum Behav.* (2005) 29:615–20. doi: 10.1007/s10979-005-6832-7

31. Ealey KN, Phillips J, Sung HK. COVID-19 and obesity: fighting two pandemics with intermittent fasting. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 32:706–20. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2021.06.004

32. Endocrinology TLD. Metabolic health: a priority for the post-pandemic era. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. (2021) 9:189. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00058-9

33. Leong A, Cole JB, Brenner LN, Meigs JB, Florez JC, Mercader JM. Cardiometabolic risk factors for COVID-19 susceptibility and severity: a Mendelian randomization analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2021) 18:e1003553. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003553

34. Suárez V, Quezada MS, Ruiz SO, De Jesús ER. Epidemiology of COVID-19 in Mexico: from the 27th of February to the 30th of April 2020. *Rev Clin Esp.* (2020) 220:463–71. doi: 10.1016/j.rceng.2020.05.008

35. Pe na García Y, Suárez Padilla A, Arruebarrena Blanco NM. Characterization of positive and suspected COVID-19 cases with comorbidities. *Rev Finlay.* (2020) 10:314–9.

36. Pérez-Escamilla R, Villalpando S, Shamah-Levy T, Méndez-Gómez Humarán I. Household food insecurity, diabetes and hypertension among Mexican adults: results from Ensanut 2012. *Salud Publica Mex.* (2014) 56:s62–70. doi: 10.21149/spm.v56s1.5167

37. Rojas-Martínez R, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Romero-Martínez M, Castro-Porras L, Gómez-Velasco D, Mehta R. Trends in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome and

its components in Mexican adults, 2006-2018. Salud Publica Mex. (2021) 63:713-24. doi: 10.21149/12835

38. Basto-Abreu A, López-Olmedo N, Rojas-Martínez R, Aguilar-Salinas CA, De la Cruz-Góngora V, Rivera-Dommarco J, et al. Prevalence of diabetes and glycemic control in Mexico: national results from 2018 and 2020. *Salud Publica Mex.* (2021) 63:725–33. doi: 10.21149/12842

 del Carmen Aguilar-Díaz F, de los Ángeles Ramírez-Trujillo M, del Carmen Villanueva-Vilchis M, de la Fuente-Hernández J. Impact of Covid-19 pandemic related isolation in daily life habits in Mexican population. Salud Publica Mex. (2021) 63:466–7. doi: 10.21149/12501

40. Mellos E, Paparrigopoulos T. Substance use during the COVID-19 pandemic: what is really happening? *Psychiatriki*. (2022) 33:17–20. doi: 10.22365/jpsych.2022.072

41. Greenglass E, Chiacchia D, Fiskenbaum L. Investigating COVID-19 stress and coping: substance use and behavioural disengagement. *Int J Psychol.* (2022) 57:325–35. doi: 10.1002/ijop.12820

42. Ibarrola-Pe na JC, Cueto-Valadez TA, Chejfec-Ciociano JM, Cifuentes-Andrade LR, Cueto-Valadez AE, Castillo-Cardiel G, et al. Substance use and psychological distress in Mexican adults during COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 20:716. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20010716

43. Bahn K, Cohen J, van der Meulen Rodgers Y. A feminist perspective on COVID-19 and the value of care work globally. *Gend Work Organ.* (2020) 27:695–9. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12459

44. Manrique de Lara A, De Jesús Medina Arellano M. The COVID-19 pandemic and ethics in Mexico through a gender lens. J Bioeth Inq. (2020) 17:613–7. doi: 10.1007/s11673-020-10029-4

45. Valdez-Santiago R, Villalobos-Hernández AL, Arenas-Monreal L, Flores K, Ramos-Lira L. Violence at home against adult women during the confinement by the Covid-19 pandemic in Mexico. *Salud Publ Mex.* (2021) 63:782–8. doi: 10.21149/13244

46. Ahmed O, Ahmed MZ, Alim SMAHM, Khan MAU, Jobe MC. COVID-19 outbreak in Bangladesh and associated psychological problems: an online survey. *Death Stud.* (2022) 46:1080–9. doi: 10.1080/07481187.2020.1818884

47. Elhadi M, Msherghi A, Khaled A, Alsoufi A, Alhadi A, Kareem A, et al. Impact of lockdown due to the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health among the Libyan population. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0267426. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0267426

48. Lee SY, Lee JJ, Lee H. Socio-economic factors associated with mental health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic in South Korea. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:1024751. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1024751

49. de Filippis R, Shalbafan M, El Hayek S. Community series in mental illness, culture, and society: dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic-Volume III. *Front Psychiatry.* (2023) 14:1145115. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1145115

50. Vincens N, Emmelin M, Stafström M. Social capital, income inequality and the social gradient in self-rated health in Latin America: a fixed effects analysis. *Soc Sci Med.* (2018) 196:115–22. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.025

51. Shiell A, Hawe P, Kavanagh S. Evidence suggests a need to rethink social capital and social capital interventions. *Soc Sci Med.* (2020) 257:111930. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.09.006

52. Alejo JCP, Montalvo VHO. Salud mental en México, un desafío de salud pública. Milen Cienc Y Arte. (2022) 19:6–8.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Hadi Alimoradi, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences and Health Services, Iran Octavian Vasiliu, Dr. Carol Davila University Emergency Military Central Hospital, Romania Daniel Joseph Berdida, University of Santo Tomas, Philippines

*CORRESPONDENCE Hae Sun Suh ⊠ haesun.suh@khu.ac.kr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 30 March 2023 ACCEPTED 30 May 2023 PUBLISHED 03 July 2023

CITATION

Lee K, Han S and Suh HS (2023) Early impact of COVID-19 social distancing on social determinants of health and their effects on mental health and quality of life of Korean undergraduate students. *Front. Public Health* 11:1197143. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1197143

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lee, Han and Suh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Early impact of COVID-19 social distancing on social determinants of health and their effects on mental health and quality of life of Korean undergraduate students

Kyeongeun Lee^{1,2†}, Sola Han^{3†} and Hae Sun Suh^{1,2,4*}

¹Department of Regulatory Science, Graduate School, Kyung Hee University, Seoul, Republic of Korea, ²Institute of Regulatory Innovation Through Science, Kyung Hee University, Seoul, Republic of Korea, ³Health Outcomes Division, College of Pharmacy, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States, ⁴College of Pharmacy, Kyung Hee University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

Introduction: This study aimed to investigate the association between social determinants of health and perception of COVID-19 social distancing/mental health/quality of life during COVID-19 social distancing in Korean undergraduate students using online survey data augmented with natural language processing.

Methods: An online cross-sectional survey including sociodemographic characteristics, students' perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, and social determinants of health was conducted between July and November in 2020. We conducted logistic regression analysis to investigate the relationship between social determinants of health (independent variables) and perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life (dependent variables). This association was augmented using sentiment analysis and word clouds by visualizing open-ended comments on COVID-19 social-distancing policies.

Results: Data were collected from 1,276 undergraduate students. Participants who experienced negative impacts on their social-networking activities due to COVID-19 social distancing were at significantly higher odds to perceive COVID-19 social distancing as not being beneficial [odds ratio (OR) = 1.948, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.254–3.027], to have increased stress levels (OR = 1.619, 95% CI 1.051–2.496), and to experience decreased quality of life over 5 weeks (OR = 2.230, 95% CI 1.448–3.434) against those who answered neutrally. In contrast, Participants who reported positive perceptions of social-networking activities during the COVID-19 pandemic had lower odds of feeling depressed or anxious (OR = 0.498, 95% CI 0.278–0.894) and reporting a low quality of life over 5 weeks (OR = 0.461, 95% CI 0.252–0.842) compared to those who reported neutral perceptions. Furthermore, the results of the word cloud and sentiment analyses showed that most students perceived social distancing negatively.

Conclusions: The government's social-distancing policy to prevent the spread of COVID-19 may have had a negative impact, particularly on undergraduate students' social-networking activities. This highlights the need for greater social support for this population, including access to psychotherapeutic resources, and improvements in policies to prevent infectious diseases while still maintaining social connections.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, pandemic, social distancing, undergraduate, quality of life, stress

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1197143

1. Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) a pandemic on March 11, 2020 (1). The WHO strongly recommended quarantine as one of the most effective measures against the contagious outbreak of the disease worldwide (2). Quarantine has been defined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) as the segregation and restraint of individual movement to prevent people potentially at high risk of exposure to infectious diseases from transmitting the disease (3). Furthermore, the CDC recommended a physical distance of at least six feet to minimize physical interactions between people who are carriers but have not yet been identified or quarantined, which is also interchangeably defined as social distancing (4).

A previous observational study indicated that quarantine, social distancing, and isolation cause anxiety, anger, and depression (5). Brooks et al. reported that quarantine and social distancing psychologically affect people, resulting in stress symptoms, confusion, anger, and fear (2). Researchers have also demonstrated an association between younger age and negative psychological impacts (2). Exposure to negative psychological stress for a long time could be associated with changes in social determinants of health, defined as "conditions in the places where people live, learn, work, and play" by the CDC (6). Social determinants of health are essential to public health outcomes, particularly focusing on mental health (7). This is because various changes in individual conditions of daily life can affect individual psychosocial factors (7).

In the case of South Korea, the Korean government raised the alert level from orange to red on February 23, 2020. This resulted in a ban on gatherings of five or more people, the closure of all schools, and recommendations for telecommuting and social distancing (8). South Korea continued to implement social distancing policies, including restrictions on private gathering sizes, until April 18th, 2022 (9). One study, which used the 2020 Health Survey of Korean adults, found that social determinants of health (e.g., socioeconomic statuses such as age and income, education level, marital status, hypertension, eating habits, and social support) were associated with COVID-19 infection (10). Since Korea implemented strong social distancing policies to prevent the spread of COVID-19, it would be meaningful in the global context to understand the impact of the social determinants of health on undergraduate students' perception of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life.

Korean undergraduate students have undergone significant social and educational changes. They undertook online classes and were unable to meet their professors and classmates in the places where they had learned. Owing to the changes in the Korean government's social-distancing policy, university students experienced confusion due to the inconsistent policies of educational institutions regarding schedules for examinations or school closures. In the context of the pandemic, uncertain and anxious circumstances may have negatively affected the psychological health of undergraduate students (11). In fact, another study examining nurse interns found that the COVID-19 pandemic, which was an unprecedented crisis of such magnitude that has not occurred in a century, caused them to experience stress, trauma, and mental health issues, resulting in a negative impact on their quality of life (12). In addition, a longitudinal study showed that undergraduate students without preexisting mental health problems experienced mental health deterioration during social isolation due to COVID-19 (13). Few studies have analyzed the psychological impact of social distancing and COVID-19 on adults in Korea (14–16).

However, it has rarely been reported among undergraduate students which social determinants of health have been affected by COVID-19 social distancing and their impact on mental health. The present study aimed to evaluate the association between the social determinants of health affected by the COVID-19 social distancing among undergraduate students and their perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life. We also visualized open-ended comments on COVID-19 socialdistancing policies using natural language processing to augment the association.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study design and participants

To assess the perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing among undergraduate students in Korea, a cross-sectional, anonymous online survey was conducted between July and November 2020. The survey was distributed via the online platform (healthbit.com) by the Pusan National University Students' Association, using a convenient non-probability sampling method.

The survey questionnaire was originally developed by Leeza Osipenko as part of a LockDown Project and subsequently piloted with 20 students and staff members from both national and international locations (17). All respondents voluntarily participated in a 15 minutes online survey and were allowed to submit the survey only once. The inclusion criteria for this study were individuals who met the following three conditions: (a) aged 18 years or above, (b) undergraduate students, and (c) willing to participate voluntarily. Exclusion criteria comprised (a) individuals who did not agree to participate (n = 6), and (b) those who were not undergraduate students or did not provide their student status (n = 288).

We used a sample size calculator to calculate the necessary representative target sample size for achieving the study objectives with sufficient statistical power (18). The calculator determined that a sample size of 601 participants would be needed, considering a margin of error of $\pm 4\%$, a confidence level of 95%, a response distribution of 50%, and a total population size of 2,633,787 people, which was the total number of university students in Korea in 2020 (19).

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Pusan National University (PNU IRB/2020_62_HR).

2.2. Study instruments

The questionnaire consisted of three parts: sociodemographic characteristics, undergraduate students' perception of the

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1197143

COVID-19 social distancing, and social determinants of health impacted by the social-distancing policy during the COVID-19 pandemic. The self-report survey included dichotomous or Likert scale questions. Sociodemographic characteristics including age, residential area type, accommodation type, sex, household income, and comorbidities were recorded. Undergraduate students' perceptions of the COVID-19 social distancing covered questions about their mental health and quality of life. The social determinants of health included (a) social-networking activities, (b) physical exercise, (c) access to health services, and (d) education. Additionally, open-ended questions were asked on undergraduate students' perceptions of the COVID-19 social distancing.

2.3. Social-networking activities

Social-networking activities were assessed with a single question: "Due to the COVID-19 social distancing: (a) My social life was impacted, but, overall, I am/was able to cope owing to other support; (b) My social life has been great, and I managed to stay positive; or (c) My social life was negatively impacted." Assuming that social distancing to avoid the spread of infection may negatively affect university students in terms of social networking, the answers were matched from (a) to (c) on a Likert scale and coded from 0 to 2. For response (b), as the respondent reported that their social life was great and they managed to stay positive, the overall impact was coded as positive perception as 1 = positiveperception. For response (c), as the respondent reported a negative impact on their social life, the overall impact was coded as 2 =negative perception. For response (a), as there was no positive or negative direction in the answer, the overall impact was coded as 0 = neutral perception.

2.4. Physical exercise

It was assessed whether the physical exercise pattern was changed due to COVID-19 social distancing and how participants feel about this change through the following six items: "Exercise during COVID-19 social distancing: (a) I do not exercise; no change for me; (b) I cannot exercise, but it does not bother me; (c) I started to exercise more; (d) I get sufficient exercise, and I am satisfied; (e) I can exercise, but it is not how I want it; and (f) I cannot exercise, and it decreases my quality of life." If respondents answered (c) to (e), their response was coded as 1, indicating a positive perception. Option (c) was considered positive because the respondent started to exercise more, which is a positive impact on their exercise routine. Option (d) was also considered positive because the respondent is satisfied with their current exercise routine. Option (e) was also considered positive because even though it is not their preferred way of exercising, they can still exercise. However, if (f) was selected, it was coded as 2, indicating a negative perception. This is because the respondent cannot exercise and it has decreased their quality of life, which is a negative impact on their physical activity. If respondents selected (a) or (b), the score was coded as 0, indicating a neutral perception. For option (a), it was considered neutral because the respondent did not exercise before, so the pandemic did not impact their exercise routine. Option (b) was also considered neutral because the respondent cannot exercise but is not bothered by it.

2.5. Access to health services

This dimension was assessed using a single item: "I was effectively able to access health services": (a) yes or (b) no. If the respondents selected (a), it was graded 1 as a positive perception. If the respondents answered (b), it was graded 2 as a negative perception.

2.6. Education

Five questions related to the "Education" dimension were combined to form a single question on whether undergraduate students were affected by the COVID-19 social distancing. The following questions were asked as yes or no: "I was unable to continue my university work partially or fully (e.g., lab shut down or international station required)," "Exams were postponed/canceled," "Because of the COVID-19 social distancing, I was not able to continue my education in the near term (after life goes back to normal)," "My university did not progress with the exams/assessments and made a relevant arrangement," "My university was not supportive in offering services, which enabled me to continue my work/education." It was operationally defined that participants might have been influenced by the COVID-19 social distancing and its related social phenomenon if they answered "yes" to any of the five questions.

2.7. Perception of the COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life

Four questions were designed to assess participants' perceptions of the COVID-19 social distancing. Two questions were answered using a dichotomous format as follows: "Social distancing is beneficial for me" and "During the pandemic over five weeks, I felt depressed/anxious." The others examined the participants' level of stress and quality of life during the pandemic over 5 weeks, through the following statements: "During the pandemic over five weeks, my level of stress" (a) decreased or stayed the same or (b) increased; and "During the pandemic over five weeks, my quality of life:" (a) decreased or (b) increased or stayed the same. The response options for the question "Social distancing is beneficial for me" were coded as 0 for "yes" and 1 for "no". The response options for the question "During the pandemic over 5 weeks, I felt depressed/anxious" were coded as 0 for "no" and 1 for "yes". For the stress question, a response of (a) was coded as 0, and (b) was coded as 1. For the quality of life question, option (a) was coded as 1, and option (b) was coded as 0. To assess internal consistency, Cronbach's a was used to evaluate the items. A value >0.6 is generally considered acceptable for internal consistency reliability (20).

2.8. Statistical analyses

All variables, except for age, were categorical. Descriptive analyses were used to summarize categorical variables as the number of respondents and percentages, and continuous variables as the mean and standard deviation. Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between social determinants of health and participants' perception of the COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life variables. Missing values were excluded from the analysis for each survey item.

Logistic regression was used to assess the relationship between the impact of COVID-19 social distancing on social determinants of health (social-networking activities, physical exercise, access to health services, and education) and their influence on undergraduate students' perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life. The responses to survey questions related to the social determinants of health were used as independent variables, while perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life were used as dependent variables.

To supplement the results of the multivariate logistic regression, open-ended questions were investigated using word cloud and sentiment analysis with text-mining techniques in addition to natural language processing. The word cloud package was used to analyze frequent words from the open-ended questions. Finally, sentiment analysis was implemented to analyze the sentiments of undergraduate students by linking the KNU Korean Sentiment Lexicon (21). The KNU Korean Sentiment Lexicon, created by Kunsan University in Korea, is an emotional dictionary. It comprises positive, neutral, and negative sentiments used to express emotions. The consensus of three evaluators determined the emotion of each word in this dictionary using a 5-point Likert scale, "very negative," "negative," "neutral," "positive," and "very positive," ranging from 2 (very positive) to -2 (very negative). All sentimental expressions were classified as positive, negative, or neutral, depending on the sentiment scores.

Statistical analyses, including descriptive and logistic regressions, were performed using SAS version 9.4 (Cary, NC. SAS Institute Inc.) and R version 4.0.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) for word cloud and sentiment analyses. A *P*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Sociodemographic characteristics

A total of 1,570 individuals were invited to participate in the survey, of which 1,276 ultimately met our inclusion criteria. Among the 1,276 participants, 572 (44.8%) were women, and 384 (30.1%) were men, with an average age of 22.4 years. Most participants (62.1%) lived in a large city, and the accommodation type was apartments. Regarding family income, 47.2% (n = 602) of the respondents belonged to the lower class. Most participants (71.6%) had no underlying diseases. The sociodemographic characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1.

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic characteristics

Attribute	n	Percentage (%)					
Demographics [S	tudent at a universi	ty (<i>n</i>) = 1,276]					
Age	974	22.40 ± 3.74^{a}					
Live in (Residentia	Live in (Residential area)						
Countryside/sub	21	1.65%					
Large city	792	62.07%					
Small city/town	210	16.46%					
Missing	253	19.83%					
Accommodation							
Flat	660	51.72%					
House	89	6.97%					
Rented room	274	21.47%					
Missing	253	19.83%					
Sex							
Female	572	44.83%					
Male	384	30.09%					
Others	19	1.49%					
Missing	301	23.59%					
Household incom	ne						
High income	158	12.38%					
Middle income	139	10.89%					
Low income	602	47.18%					
Prefer not to say	75	5.88%					
Missing	302	23.67%					
Comorbidities							
Yes	60	4.70%					
No	914	71.63%					
Missing	302	23.67%					

^aMean \pm standard deviation.

3.2. Perceived impact of the COVID-19 social distancing on social determinants of health

Table 2 shows the social determinants of health affected by the COVID-19 social distancing. The chi-square analysis revealed significant correlations between social-networking activities, physical exercise, and participants' perception of these variables. Regarding social-networking activities, 29.1% of participants who answered that COVID-19 social distancing was beneficial also reported a negative impact on their social lives. Of the participants who reported an increase level of stress during pandemic over 5 weeks, 30.0% answered that their social lives were negatively impacted, while 6.3% answered that they managed to stay positive. Among those who reported feeling depressed/anxious during the pandemic over 5 weeks in terms of social-networking activities, 26.7% reported a negative impact. In regards to the decreased level of quality of life during the pandemic over 5 weeks, 29.8% reported a negative impact on their social-network activities, while 5.1% felt positive, and the remaining respondents felt neutral. The internal consistency of the perception of COVID-19 social distancing/mental health/quality of life was found to be acceptable with a Cronbach's α coefficient of 0.62.

3.3. Association between social determinants of health impacted by COVID-19 social distancing and negative perceptions of the COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life

Associations between the social determinants of health impacted by COVID-19 social distancing and how these affected undergraduate students' perceptions, mental health, and quality of life were assessed using logistic regression. Table 3 presents the results of these relationships. Participants negatively influenced by social-networking activities during the COVID-19 crisis were significantly associated with the response that the COVID-19 social distancing was not beneficial (OR = 1.948, 95% CI 1.254–3.027) than those who answered neutrally. In contrast, participants who answered positively on social-networking activities were significantly associated with lower odds of feeling depressed or anxious during the COVID-19 pandemic (OR = 0.498, 95% CI 0.278–0.894) compared with those who answered neutrally.

Participants who responded negatively to physical exercise had significantly higher odds of feeling depressed or anxious during the COVID-19 pandemic over 5 weeks (OR = 2.433, 95% CI 1.254–4.718) against those who answered neutrally.

Regarding the high level of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks, participants who responded negatively to social-networking activities had higher (OR = 1.619, 95% CI 1.051-2.496) than those who responded neutrally. In contrast, participants who felt positive about social-networking activities had significantly lower odds of reporting high levels of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks (OR = 0.555, 95% CI 0.313-0.982). This tendency was also observed in low quality of life during the pandemic over 5 weeks. Participants who responded negatively to social-networking activities had a significant association with the response to a low level of quality of life during the pandemic over 5 weeks (OR = 2.230, 95% CI 1.448-3.434) than those who responded neutrally. In contrast, participants with positive perceptions of social-networking activities during the COVID-19 pandemic were significantly correlated with lower odds of reporting a low quality of life over 5 weeks (OR = 0.461, 95% CI 0.252-0.842).

3.4. Visualization of social distancing-related discussions

A total of 212 replies and 743 words remained after removing the background noise and performing lemmatization. Refined words were used to visualize the most frequent and sentiment words for word clouds and sentiment analysis. Figure 1 shows the results of the word cloud visualization based on the openended questions related to the COVID-19 social distancing. The highly frequent words are "class," "human," and "crisis." Schoolrelated words such as "university," "online," and "education" are ranked high, as well as social distance-related words such as "distancing" and "isolation." Sentiment analysis identified seven words as positive, 12 as negative, and only one as neutral. The most positive sentiment words consisted of "benefit" and "prevention," whereas "disease," "stress," and "depression" occurred in negative sentiment words. The results of the sentiment analysis are shown in Figure 2.

4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to examine how COVID-19 social distancing affects social determinants of health among Korean undergraduate students, using survey data enhanced by natural language processing. This study contributes to the existing literature in several ways. Most studies have emphasized the psychological impact of online learning on university students (22, 23) or their satisfaction with it (24, 25). The present study found that COVID-19 social-distancing policies had an impact on the social determinants of health among Korean undergraduate students, and this impact was significantly associated with individual perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life.

In this study, the social determinants of health that were affected by COVID-19 social distancing included socialnetworking activities, physical exercise, access to health services, and education. Among them, social-networking activities strongly correlated with undergraduate students' perceptions of social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic. Those negatively influenced by social-networking activities had significant correlations with thoughts that social distancing was not beneficial, increased stress, and resulted in a low quality of life during the pandemic. These results are consistent with the finding of a previous study that longer periods of isolation and inadequate physical space were associated with worse mental health outcomes, including depression (26). In addition, it aligns with the studies that showed younger age groups, in particular, experienced a higher prevalence of loneliness during COVID-19 lockdowns (27, 28). These findings are noteworthy, considering that social isolation as results of social distancing during pandemics might trigger mental health concerns (29, 30), including general psychological distress (31), decreased well-being (32), and lower life satisfaction (32). In contrast, those positively affected by social-networking activities were significantly less likely to feel depressed or anxious, maintain or decrease stress, and increase or maintain their quality of life. It is consistent with the result that Filipino nurses' strong resilience could aid them in dealing with the impact of situational fatigue on their mental health (33). This positive perception can be explained by the following two hypotheses: this may be because greater psychological flexibility and acceptance of difficult thoughts and emotions appear to act as buffers against the negative effects of increased social isolation during the current pandemic (34). In other words, the results support the notion that their high level of

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1197143

TABLE 2 Descriptive analysis on questionnaire of the perceived impact of COVID-19 social distancing on social determinants of health.

Social determinants of health	distan	ID-19 socia cing was no eneficial ^a		depressed	Feeling d/anxious d c over 5 we	uring eks ^a	Level of stress during pandemic over 5 weeks ^a		Level of quality of life during pandemic over 5 weeks ^a			
	Yes [<i>n</i> (%)]	No [<i>n</i> (%)]	χ ² , ρ	Yes [<i>n</i> (%)]	No [n (%)]	χ ² , p	Decreased/ stayed the same [<i>n</i> (%)]	Increased [<i>n</i> (%)]	χ ² , p	Increased/ stayed the same [<i>n</i> (%)]	Decreased [n (%)]	χ ² , p
Social-networkin	g activities ^b											
Neutral	147 (19.8%)	106 (14.3%)	43.8, <0.0001	97 (12.9%)	165 (22.0%)	57.4, <0.0001	147 (19.3%)	115 (15.1%)	41.7, <0.0001	158 (20.2%)	111 (14.2%)	67.8, <0.0001
Positive	96 (12.9%)	54 (7.3%)		32 (4.3%)	109 (14.5%)		90 (11.8%)	48 (6.3%)		108 (13.8%)	40 (5.1%)	
Negative	123 (16.6%)	216 (29.1%)		200 (26.7%)	147 (19.6%)		132 (17.4%)	228 (30.0%)		131 (16.8%)	233 (29.8%)	
Physical exercise ¹	0											
Neutral	149(20.1%)	148 (20.0%)	20.1, <0.0001	112(14.9%)	189 (25.2%)	21.7. <0.0001	166 (21.8%)	140 (18.4%)	14.4, 0.0007	164 (21.0%)	149 (19.1%)	20.4, <0.0001
Positive	182 (24.5%)	149 (20.1%)		143(19.1%)	187 (24.9%)		162 (21.3%)	171 (22.5%)		193 (24.7%)	152 (19.5%)	
Negative	35 (4.7%)	79 (10.7%)		74 (9.9%)	45 (6.0%)		41 (5.4%)	80 (10.5%)		40 (5.1%)	83 (10.6%)	
Access to health	services ^b											
Positive	276 (43.1%)	266 (41.6%)	0.53, 0.47	240 (36.8%)	314 (48.2%)	1.1, 0.30	268 (40.8%)	287 (437%)	0.60, 0.44	297 (44.1%)	275 (40.8%)	0.82, 0.37
Negative	46 (7.2%)	52 (8.1%)		48 (7.4%)	50 (7.7%)		45 (6.9%)	8.7% (15.5%)		48 (7.1%)	54 (8.0%)	
Education ^c	Education ^c											
Yes	43 (6.1%)	33 (4.7%)	1.60, 0.21	33 (4.6%)	45 (6.3%)	0.09, 0.77	44 (6.1%)	32 (4.4%)	2.88, 0.09	43 (5.8%)	35 (4.7%)	0.87, 0.35
No	308 (43.6%)	322 (45.6%)		282 (39.3%)	358 (50.0%)		309 (42.6%)	340 (46.9%)		330 (44.4%)	336 (45.2%)	

The bold indicates the significance of the result.

^aThe sample sizes for the survey questions on "COVID-19 social distancing not being beneficial", "feeling depressed/anxious during the pandemic over 5 weeks", "level of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks", "level of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks", and "level of quality of life during the pandemic over 5 weeks", "level of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks", "level of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks", "level of stress during the pandemic over 5 weeks", and "level of quality of life during the pandemic over 5 weeks", "level of stress during the pandemic ov

^b"Neutral" indicated participants were not affected by COVID-19 social distancing. "Positive" indicated participants were positively affected by COVID-19 social distancing. "Negative" indicated participants were negatively affected by COVID-19 social distancing.

Social-networking activit	ies, ref. neutral ^a								1				
Positive	20.2%	0.672	0.382-1.183	0.1687	0.498	0.278-0.894	0.0195	0.555	0.313-0.982	0.0433	0.461	0.252-0.842	0.0117
Negative	45.7%	1.948	1.254-3.027	0.0030	1.478	0.955-2.286	0.0797	1.619	1.051-2.496	0.0290	2.230	1.448-3.434	0.0003
Physical Exercise, ref. neu	utral ^a												
Positive	63.9%	0.640	0.358-1.142	0.1310	1.128	0.637-1.998	0.6802	0.964	0.545-1.706	0.9004	0.837	0.476-1.473	0.5366
Negative	22.0%	1.733	0.872-3.444	0.1167	2.433	1.254-4.718	0.0085	1.369	0.706-2.657	0.3524	1.846	0.952-3.581	0.0697
Access to health services, ref. positive ^a													
Negative	15.3%	1.130	0.657-1.945	0.6584	1.141	0.672-1.936	0.6260	1.066	0.635-1.790	0.8084	0.913	0.539-1.546	0.7352
Education, ref. yes ^b	Education, ref. yes ^b												
No	89.2%	0.953	0.476-1.909	0.8916	0.591	0.301-1.158	0.1254	1.037	0.534-2.016	0.9139	1.090	0.541-2.195	0.8090

CI, Confidence Intervals; OR, Odds Ratios.

The bold indicates the significance of the result.

a"Neutral" indicated participants were not affected by COVID-19 social distancing. "Positive" indicated participants were positively affected by COVID-19 social distancing. ^b"Yes" indicated participants were affected by COVID-19 social distancing.





resilience can be a valuable asset in mitigating the negative effects of situational fatigue on individual mental health. It may also be explained that a greater amount of time for leisure may allow for better recovery with respect to the university context and the rebuilding of personal resources (13, 35). A recent study reports that people who engage in leisure activities can benefit physical health and well-being and alleviate negative emotions such as sadness, anxiety, and stress (36). Negative changes in physical exercise patterns during the pandemic were also associated with feelings of depression and anxiety. This result is in line with a study that reported a higher likelihood of experiencing anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms, and high-stress levels among individuals who did not engage in physical exercise during the COVID-19 pandemic (37, 38). It can be explained based on the previous study that physical exercise has various positive effects on the brain, including modulation of neurotransmitter release, enhancement of neurogenesis, anti-neuroinflammatory actions, triggering of neurotrophic factor release, as well as modulation of intracellular signaling to inhibit neuronal dysfunction and promote synaptic plasticity (39). Due to these effects, a negative change in physical exercise patterns may contribute to the development of mental disorders such as depression and anxiety. Based on the



open-ended question about individual opinion on COVID-19 social distancing, the frequent words "class," "human," and "crisis" are not only shown, but also "distancing" and "isolation" are identified as high ranking. This finding can be linked to the results of the logistic regression in that social isolation as a result of social distancing impacted the perception of undergraduate students about preventing the spread of COVID-19. In addition, regarding COVID-19-related words, "infection," "mask," and "spread" were frequently observed. The reason that "mask" was one of the frequent words might be related to the Korean government's policy during the pandemic, which made the public purchase only two masks per week at a uniformly applied price of 1,500 KRW (1.25 USD) in this study period (40).

Sentiments about COVID-19 social distancing had a high proportion of negative responses, suggesting that undergraduate students were unable to face the uncertain and unprecedented public health crises. Negative sentiment words indicated students' negative perceptions of social distancing against COVID-19. The negative emotion-related words such as "stress," "depression," and "lethargy" were highly ranked. This result is consistent with this study's finding that undergraduate students are highly likely to feel depressed/anxious, have high levels of stress, and have a low quality of life.

This study had several limitations. First, real-time data were not captured because of its cross-sectional design. Social media data (e.g., Instagram, Twitter, and Facebook) enabled us to analyze public opinion about current topics of interest in realtime; however, it could not provide detailed sociodemographic information and social determinants of health affected by social distancing against COVID-19. Second, the results may not be generalizable to other countries. The Korean government implemented a non-lockdown policy, although governments worldwide have implemented numerous anti-contagion policies to control the COVID-19 pandemic (41). Third, the original survey was developed to quickly investigate a broad range of variables related to the impact of the lockdown on participants. However, the study is limited by the lack of validity tests, such as factor analysis. To address this limitation, we collaborated with at least four native speakers and experts to eliminate any ambiguities in the survey questions and improve its quality. Based on the limitations of this study, future studies could consider using longitudinal designs to capture real-time data and identify changes in perceptions and experiences over time. Additionally, studies could explore the generalizability of findings across different countries and cultures, particularly those with different anti-contagion policies. Future studies could also employ more rigorous validity tests, such as factor analysis, to ensure the quality of survey questions and the accuracy of results. Finally, studies could consider utilizing both social media data and survey data to gain a more comprehensive understanding of public opinion and experiences related to social distancing and COVID-19.

Despite these limitations, the present study has several strengths. A large sample was collected, and an investigation of various dimensions allowed for a detailed analysis. Although previous articles focusing on the psychological impacts of pandemic circumstances have been published (34, 42–44), this study is meaningful because it is the first to observe the influence and importance of social-networking activities in undergraduate students, one of the groups in which social-networking activities are important during the pandemic.

5. Conclusions

This study contributes to our collective understanding of the social determinants of health affected by COVID-19 social distancing among undergraduate students, as well as their perceptions of COVID-19 social distancing, mental health, and quality of life.

The impact of COVID-19 social distancing on the social determinants of health can make undergraduates vulnerable to thinking that COVID-19 social-distancing policies are not beneficial to mental health or quality of life. Owing to the government's social-distancing policies to prevent the spread of COVID-19, university students are affected by social determinants of health, such as social-networking activities, resulting in stress, depression, anxiety, and decreased well-being. This highlights the need for greater social support to improve psychotherapeutic settings to help undergraduate students cope with their stress, anxiety, and depression, and to maintain their quality of life. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate which actions and measures have been taken correctly to prevent infection during this pandemic and what may have a negative impact, to prepare undergraduates to be less psychologically affected in the event of a future pandemic more effectively.

Data availability statement

Data cannot be shared publicly due to the protection of participants' personal information. Inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author (haesun.suh@khu.ac.k) or Pusan National University Institutional Review Board (irb@pusan.ac.kr).

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Pusan National

References

1. Bedford J, Enria D, Giesecke J, Heymann DL, Ihekweazu C, Kobinger G, et al. COVID-19: towards controlling of a pandemic. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1015-8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30673-5

2. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:912–20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8

3. CDC. *Quarantine and Isolation*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/quarantine/ (accessed December 15, 2021).

4. Suppawittaya P, Yiemphat P, Yasri P. Effects of social distancing, self-quarantine and self-isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic on people's well-being, and how to cope with it. *Int J Sci Healthcare Res.* (2020) 5:12–20. doi: 10.52403/ijshr

5. Jeong H, Yim HW, Song Y-J, Ki M, Min J-A, Cho J, et al. Mental health status of people isolated due to Middle East respiratory syndrome. *Epidemiol Health*. (2016) 38:e2016048. doi: 10.4178/epih.e2016048

6. Hacker K, Auerbach J, Ikeda R, Philip C, Houry D. Social determinants of health—an approach taken at CDC. *J Public Health Manag Pract.* (2022) 28:589–94. doi: 10.1097/PHH.00000000001626

7. Bell R, Marmot M. Social Determinants and Mental Health. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2022). p. 171.

University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

KL, SH, and HSS conceptualized this study, interpreted the data, wrote the first draft, and finalized the manuscript. KL and SH performed statistical analyses. HSS collected the primary data and supervised this study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant from Kyung Hee University in 2021 (KHU-20210864) and by a grant (21153MFDS601) from Ministry of Food and Drug Safety in 2022.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Choi JY. COVID-19 in South Korea. Postgrad Med J. (2020) 96:399-402. doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2020-137738

9. Social Distancing Restrictions to Be Lifted Starting April 18. (2022). Available online at: https://ncov.kdca.go.kr/en/tcmBoardView.do?brdId=12&brdGubun= 125&dataGubun=&ncvContSeq=371146&contSeq=371146&board_id=1365&gubun (accessed April 10, 2023).

10. Kim SB, Jeong IS. Social determinants related to COVID-19 infection. Nurs Health Sci. (2022) 24:499–507. doi: 10.1111/nhs.12947

11. Al-Rabiaah A, Temsah M-H, Al-Eyadhy AA, Hasan GM, Al-Zamil F, Al-Subaie S, et al. Middle East Respiratory Syndrome-Corona Virus (MERS-CoV) associated stress among medical students at a university teaching hospital in Saudi Arabia. *J Infect Public Health.* (2020) 13:687–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2020.01.005

12. Grande RAN, Butcon VER, Indonto MCL, Villacorte LM, Berdida DJE. Quality of life of nursing internship students in Saudi Arabia during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Afr Nurs Sci.* (2021) 14:100301. doi: 10.1016/j.ijans.2021.100301

13. Hamza CA, Ewing L, Heath NL, Goldstein AL. When social isolation is nothing new: A longitudinal study on psychological distress during COVID-19 among university students with and without preexisting mental health concerns. *Can Psychol.* (2021) 62:20–30. doi: 10.1037/cap0000255

14. Kim J, Kim Y, Ha J. Changes in daily life during the COVID-19 pandemic among south korean older adults with chronic diseases: a qualitative study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:6781. doi: 10.3390/ijerph181 36781

15. Han S, Choi S, Cho SH, Lee J, Yun J-Y. Associations between the working experiences at frontline of COVID-19 pandemic and mental health of Korean public health doctors. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2021) 21:1–18. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03291-2

16. Hwang H, Hur WM, Shin Y. Emotional exhaustion among the South Korean workforce before and after COVID-19. *Psychol Psychother Theory Res Pract.* (2021) 94:371–81. doi: 10.1111/papt.12309

17. Nowrouzi-Kia B, Osipenko L, Eftekhar P, Othman N, Alotaibi S, Schuster AM, et al. The early impact of the global lockdown on post-secondary students and staff: a global, descriptive study. *SAGE Open Med.* (2022). doi: 10.1177/2050312122107 4480

18. RAOSOFT. Sample Size Calculator. (2020). Available online at: http://www.raosoft.com/samplesize.html (accessed April 10 2023).

19. Number of University Students in 2020: Korean Statistical Information Service (KOSIS). Available online at: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=101&tbIId= DT_1YL21181 (accessed April 10, 2023).

20. Joseph F, Hair Jr WCB, Babin BJ, Anderson RE. *Multivariate Data Analysis*. EMEA Hampshire: Cengage Learning (2019). p. 122.

21. KNU. The KNU Korean Sentiment Lexicon. Available online at: http://dilab. kunsan.ac.kr/ (accessed December 15, 2021).

22. Kecojevic A, Basch CH, Sullivan M, Davi NK. The impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on mental health of undergraduate students in New Jersey, cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0239696. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0239696

23. Hamaideh SH, Al-Modallal H, Tanash M, Hamdan-Mansour3 A. Depression, anxiety and stress among undergraduate students during COVID-19 outbreak and" home-quarantine". *Nurs Open.* (2022) 9:1423–31. doi: 10.1002/no p2.918

24. Wilhelm J, Mattingly S, Gonzalez VH. Perceptions, satisfactions, and performance of undergraduate students during Covid-19 emergency remote teaching. *Anat Sci Educ.* (2022) 15:42–56. doi: 10.1002/ase.2161

25. Maqableh M, Alia M. Evaluation online learning of undergraduate students under lockdown amidst COVID-19 pandemic: the online learning experience and students' satisfaction. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2021) 128:106160. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106160

26. Pancani L, Marinucci M, Aureli N, Riva P. Forced social isolation and mental health: a study on 1,006 Italians under COVID-19 lockdown. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:663799. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.663799

27. Groarke JM, Berry E, Graham-Wisener L, McKenna-Plumley PE, McGlinchey E, Armour C. Loneliness in the UK during the COVID-19 pandemic: crosssectional results from the COVID-19 psychological wellbeing study. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0239698. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239698

28. Babicki M, Kowalski K, Bogudzińska B, Mastalerz-Migas A. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental well-being. A nationwide online survey covering three pandemic waves in Poland. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:2334. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.804123

29. Killgore WDS, Cloonan SA, Taylor EC, Dailey NS. Loneliness: a signature mental health concern in the era of COVID-19. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 290:113117. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113117

30. Mohammadian F, Rezaee M, Kalantar A, Mohebbi N, Motamed M. Relationship between psychological impacts of COVID-19 and loneliness in patients with dementia: a cross-sectional study from Iran. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:94. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.814676

31. Espinosa A, Rudenstine S. The contribution of financial well-being, social support, and trait emotional intelligence on psychological distress. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2020) 59:224–40. doi: 10.1111/bjc.12242

32. Clair R, Gordon M, Kroon M, Reilly C. The effects of social isolation on well-being and life satisfaction during pandemic. *Hum Soc Sci Commun.* (2021) 8:28. doi: 10.1057/s41599-021-00710-3

33. Berdida DJE, Grande RAN. Academic stress, COVID-19 anxiety, and quality of life among nursing students: the mediating role of resilience. *Int Nurs Rev.* (2022) 70:34–42. doi: 10.1111/inr.12774

34. Smith BM, Twohy AJ, Smith GS. Psychological inflexibility and intolerance of uncertainty moderate the relationship between social isolation and mental health outcomes during COVID-19. *J Contextual Behav Sci.* (2020) 18:162–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.09.005

35. Hobfoll SE. Conservation of resources: a new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *Am Psychol.* (1989) 44:513. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513

36. Sundiam TGD, Sy JCA, Berdida DJE, Talampas PYR, Suillan HAA, Sumangil EAV, et al. Adherence to COVID-19 health protocols in an online news context in the Philippines: a manifest content analysis. *Public Health Nurs*. (2023) 40:382–393. doi: 10.1111/phn.13179

37. Silva LRB, Seguro CS, de Oliveira CGA, Santos POS, de Oliveira JCM, de Souza Filho LFM, et al. Physical inactivity is associated with increased levels of anxiety, depression, and stress in Brazilians during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:565291. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.565291

38. Xiang M-Q, Tan X-M, Sun J, Yang H-Y, Zhao X-P, Liu L, et al. Relationship of physical activity with anxiety and depression symptoms in Chinese college students during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:582436. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.582436

39. Liu Y, Yan T, Chu JM-T, Chen Y, Dunnett S, Ho Y-S, et al. The beneficial effects of physical exercise in the brain and related pathophysiological mechanisms in neurodegenerative diseases. *Lab Invest.* (2019) 99:943–57. doi: 10.1038/s41374-019-0232-y

40. Yu S, Kim S, Kang J. Face mask policies in South Korea in response to COVID-19. Asia Pac J Public Health. (2020) 32:497–9. doi: 10.1177/1010539520951397

41. Cheng C, Barcelo J, Hartnett AS, Kubinec R, Messerschmidt L. COVID-19 government response event dataset (CoronaNet v.10). *Nat Hum Behav.* (2020) 4:756–68. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-0909-7

42. Mazza C, Ricci E, Biondi S, Colasanti M, Ferracuti S, Napoli C, et al. A Nationwide survey of psychological distress among Italian people during the COVID-19 pandemic: immediate psychological responses and associated factors. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:3165. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17093165

43. Qiu J, Shen B, Zhao M, Wang Z, Xie B, Xu Y, et al. nationwide survey of psychological distress among Chinese people in the COVID-19 epidemic: implications and policy recommendations. *Gen Psychiatr.* (2020) 33:e100213. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100213

44. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019. coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:1729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mohammadreza Shalbafan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

REVIEWED BY Mukemil Awol, Salale University, Ethiopia Tasnim Rehna, National University of Modern Languages, Pakistan

*CORRESPONDENCE Ozélia Sousa Santos ⊠ ozeliasousa@ufpa.br

RECEIVED 25 January 2023 ACCEPTED 05 June 2023 PUBLISHED 10 July 2023

CITATION

Silva SGNd, Carvalho LM, Braga FCdS, Silveira R and Santos OS (2023) The impacts of the coronavirus pandemic on the mental health of Brazilian diagnosed with COVID-19 and comparison of symptoms of depression, anxiety, insomnia, and post-traumatic stress with undiagnosed subjects. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1151253. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1151253

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Silva, Carvalho, Braga, Silveira and Santos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The impacts of the coronavirus pandemic on the mental health of Brazilian diagnosed with COVID-19 and comparison of symptoms of depression, anxiety, insomnia, and post-traumatic stress with undiagnosed subjects

Sumayla Gabrielle Nascimento da Silva¹, Lucas Mendes Carvalho¹, Fernando Cesar de Souza Braga¹, Rodrigo Silveira² and Ozélia Sousa Santos ¹/₂*

¹Faculty of Medicine, Federal University of Pará, Altamira, Brazil, ²Campus 'University City Armando de Salles Oliveira (CUASO)', University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Background: The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of survivors are little known, especially regarding the occurrence of psychological disorders such as anxiety and depression. In this study, we evaluated the impacts on the mental health of Brazilian survivors who were not infected or asymptomatic with COVID-19.

Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted collecting information through an electronic form from January to May 2021. The sample consisted of 1,334 people and were divided into two groups: case, with individuals who reported a positive diagnosis of the disease, with or without symptoms, and control, who reported not being diagnosed with COVID-19 and did not present any symptoms during the collection period. Validated instruments were used to investigate symptoms of depression (Patient Health Questionnaire), anxiety (Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7), post-traumatic stress disorder (Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Checklist) and insomnia (Insomnia Severity Index). The data were presented as standard deviation or median and interquartile ranges. The chi-square test was applied for statistical significance between categorical variables, considering a p < 0.05.

Results: Regarding post-traumatic stress levels, the case and control groups showed no differences (p=0.82). The results of the research indicated that was no statistical correlation between the group that was affected by the virus infection and the group that was not affected in terms of depression (p=0.9) and anxiety (p=0.7). At the same time, the levels of insomnia (p=0.02) demonstrated a statistical correlation between the groups. The prevalence of the analyzed mental health disorders was similar among both groups.

Conclusion: In conclusion, the population of survivors of COVID-19 infection tends to show little difference in terms of developing post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, and depression when compared to uninfected individuals. On the other hand, disorders such as insomnia are more prevalent and show a significant difference between groups, appearing more in infected individuals.

KEYWORDS

mental health, COVID-19, survivors, anxiety, depression

1. Introduction

In December 2019, a new betacoronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 was discovered in Wuhan, China (1). The clinical manifestations are pneumonia, symptoms of fever, cough, pulmonary infiltration, dyspnea with the occurrence of myalgias, and taste and smell disorders (1).

In Brazil, the challenges brought by COVID-19 are associated with the high incidence of cases, the wide geographic distribution of the virus, and the consequent circulation of variants. The general picture of the disease showed high mortality, resulting in efforts to access services and specialized health centers with quality of care, efficient epidemiological surveillance, and tactics to control viral spread (2).

Since the beginning of the pandemic caused by SARS-CoV-2, some studies have already shown that the social context—of mental health problems—has undergone a major change. Many self-reported cases have demonstrated a significant increase in illnesses such as depression and anxiety (3).

The perceptions of stress are individual and subjective, which means that they affect a certain group of people in different ways, even if united by a similar situation. In the case of epidemic survivors, one of the most recurrent comorbidities is related to psychiatric disorders, with an emphasis on mood disorders such as depression, anxiety, and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) (4).

In a study carried out by Wang et al. (5) in China with 1,200 participants, the psychological impact of COVID-19 during the first weeks in the country was analyzed. In this research, the DASS 21 scale was used to measure the levels of depression, stress, and anxiety in the volunteers. The results showed that 651 research volunteers (53.8%) reported moderate or severe psychological impact, compared to 24.5% who reported minimal psychological impact. Still, 16.5% were considered, through the score, with moderate, severe, or extremely severe depression. Furthermore, 28.8% attested to moderate or severe anxiety and 32.2% to some level of stress.

Moreover, regarding changes in sleep quality during the COVID-19 pandemic, Barros et al. (6) in their study with data from "ConVid—Research of Behaviors," which was developed by Fundação Oswaldo Cruz, analyzed that 37.1% of male volunteers started to have sleep problems during the pandemic, while this number was of 49.8% in women. In addition, a greater number of women showed worsening previous sleep problems during the pandemic.

The direct—or indirect—relationship between COVID-19 infection, during the pandemic, and psychiatric disorders is a link that demonstrates the varied consequences that such periods can cause in individuals of a population. A pandemic not only brings effects related to physical health or related to the pathophysiology of a particular virus or bacteria, but also a chain of social, cultural, and economic repercussions that significantly interfere with the increase in the occurrence of disorders such as depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress, and insomnia (4). The increase in these disorders, nowadays, also means an increase in medication dependence, stigmatization, and

a decrease in the quality of life of these individuals in various social spheres such as family, friends, and work, which harm—individually or collectively—an entire feedback system that generates more psychic suffering and non-psychiatric illness, as well as the modification of the socio-environmental context and its health determinants. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic and all its consequences showed a complete picture of how institutions and public policies can act in the event of pandemics and epidemics in the future, given the possibility of new episodes occurring in this century (1).

Although many studies have investigated the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of different social groups around the world, few studies have demonstrated the impacts on the mental health of patients who survived the pandemic. For this reason, it is still urgent that more work be carried out to analyze the previous impacts, from short to long term, on the total panorama of the Brazilian population, which was—and continues—extremely affected by the biological, social, and economic pandemic's consequences. Brazil is a large country with a vast diversity of regions that differ in culture, socioeconomic conditions, and healthcare resources (7). Hence, this study aims to assess the association between the coronavirus infection experience the mental health among people who survived COVID-19 infection in different regions of Brazil in terms of depression, anxiety, insomnia, and post-traumatic stress disorder.

2. Methods

This is a cross-sectional study conducted following the guidelines of the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE). The study was carried out by collecting information through an electronic form from January to May 2021.

2.1. Sample

The sample consisted of 1,334 people over 18 years old (67.2 ± 6.7) residing in Brazilian territory. For the sample size calculation, the software G * Power 3.0.10 was used to simulate all the analyzes performed in the present study. Thus, the sample size was determined by the analysis that estimated the largest number of participants, being a chi-square test with up to 6 degrees of freedom, assuming an intermediate effect size, a significance of p < 0.05, and statistical power of 95%. The estimated minimum sample size was n = 232. However, this minimum estimated sample size was increased by 90% to ensure a better representation of the Brazilian population. Thus, based on cultural plurality in the set of 27 Brazilian states, the estimated minimum sample size increased by 186 (~80%) with an additional 22 (~10%) for possible sample loss. The inclusion criteria for this study were: currently residing in Brazilian territory; being 18 years of age or older; having or not having been diagnosed with COVID-19; and being able to answer all questions in the questionnaire coherently. The exclusion criteria included: residing outside the national territory; being under 18 years old; not answering all the questions in the questionnaire; or answering incoherently to the questions prepared. The sample consisted of individuals with specific characteristics for each group. In the case group, individuals who reported a positive diagnosis of COVID-19, with or without the manifestation of symptoms, were grouped. In the control group, individuals who reported not having been diagnosed with COVID-19 and did not present any symptoms during the collection period were grouped.

2.2. Procedures

To carry out this study, a structured questionnaire was used. To enhance the quality of the selected questions, the quality of the sample, the participant's understanding of the selected questions, and the feasibility of the questionnaire conducted a pilot questionnaire. This questionnaire was administered to a small group of participants (n=62) randomly selected from the study's target population and sent via email. Based on the results obtained, the questions and instructions were adjusted to make clearer, more precise, and more appropriate for the sample and the study's objective. The 62 participants of the pilot sample were not included in the final data-analysis. The final questionnaire was then administered to all study participants. It was disseminated via email and social networks. To ensure the randomization of the sample was employed a recruitment strategy that involved disseminating the study invitation through social media and targeted emails sent to professors at public and private universities. Participants were encouraged to forward the invitation to other potential participants, such as students, family, and friends (Figure 1). However, we emphasized that participation was entirely voluntary and that forwarding the invitation was not mandatory. We provided participants with feedback on the components evaluated in the questionnaire after they completed it.

The impacts of the new coronavirus pandemic on mental health were evaluated using multiple-choice questions. In addition to general demographics, the questionnaire included questions about COVID-19 treatment management, depressive symptoms, levels of anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), insomnia symptoms, access to health services, previous exposure to traumatic events, stigmatization by family members, friends and/or society and coping strategies.

To accompany the research participants were offered follow-up, counseling, guidance, and specialized assistance provided by psychiatrists and medical students from the Federal University of Pará—Campus Altamira, following World Health Organization recommendations.

2.3. Instruments

2.3.1. Assessment of depressive symptoms

Depressive symptoms were assessed using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) in the Portuguese language. The instrument comprises nine items, arranged on a four-point scale: 0 (not at all) to 3 (almost every day), with scores ranging from 0 to 27 to assess the frequency of signs and symptoms of depression in the last 2 weeks. A score higher than or equal to 10 is estimated as a positive indicator of major depression (8). Its original version is presented by Spitzer et al. (9) and Kroenke et al. (10), and its validation and translation in Brazil were given by Osorio et al. (11).

2.3.2. Assessment of anxiety levels

The presence of anxiety symptoms was assessed using the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) elaborated by Spitzer et al. (12) and validated by Maley (13). The translation into Portuguese was made by Pfizer (Copyright© 2005 Pfizer Inc., New York, NY). It consists of seven items, arranged on a four-point scale: 0 (never) to 3 (almost every day), with a score ranging from 0 to 21 when measuring the frequency of signs and symptoms of anxiety in the last 2 weeks.

2.3.3. Assessment of post-traumatic stress levels

To assess PTSD, the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Checklist (PCL-5) was used, which applies the criteria of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). The Brazilian version was translated by Spitzer et al. (12). It consists of 20 items arranged on a five-point scale: 0 (not at all) to 4 (extremely) to evaluate the severity of the symptoms related to traumatic experiences.

2.3.4. Assessment of insomnia symptoms

The Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) was validated by Bastien et al. (14) and its validation was revised by Buysse et al. (15). The ISI was used in Portuguese language and consists of five items, ranging from 0 to 7 for no clinically significant insomnia to 22-28 for severe insomnia.

2.3.5. Assessment of clinical progression scale of COVID-19

The WHO Clinical Progression Scale of COVID-19 was used as a method to divide the groups diagnosed (case) and undiagnosed (control) with COVID-19. This scale ranges from 0 to 10, with 0 representing uninfected individuals with no viral RNA detected, therefore, for undiagnosed individuals, the range from 1 to 9 represents the subjects who received a diagnosis of COVID-19. The



higher the score on this scale, the greater the severity of the symptoms presented by the participants, and 10 represents those who have died from the disease (16).

2.4. Data analysis

Continuous data were presented as standard deviation or median and interquartile ranges, depending on distributions, and categorical as percentages. The Pearson or Spearman correlation test was used (in the case of asymmetric distribution). For the test on categorical variables, Pearson's chi-square test was applied with the correction of Fisher's exact test when there were < 6 participants in a category. In case of statistical significance, the adjusted residual values >2 were analyzed to identify which categories are influencing *p*-values.

To analyze the magnitude of the differences between the groups, the effect sizes were observed using Phi (Φ), in 2×2 tables and Cramer's V, in tables above 2×2, assuming values of "Null or Very Weak" for ranges between 0 and 0.05, "Weak" for ranges between 0.05 and 0.10, "Moderate" if between 0.10 and 0.15, "Strong" for values above 0.15–0.25 and "Very Strong" for values above 0.25 (17).

For all tests, a value of p < 0.05 was adopted as an indication of significance. All statistical analyses were processed in SPSS software (Statistical Package for Social Sciences), version 23.0.

2.5. Ethical-legal aspects

The research project was submitted to the Human Research Ethics Committee for approval through registration on Plataforma Brazil. Participants were informed about the objectives of the study, the voluntary nature of participating, and the need to sign the Free and Informed Consent Term as recommended by Resolutions 466/2012 and 510/2016 of the National Health Council. Data collection was performed after approval by the Ethics Committee of the Institute of Health Sciences of the Federal University of Pará with the following CAAE number: 36046620.0.0000.0018. All subjects provided electronically informed consent before enrollment. The informed consent page presented two options (I accept/I do not accept). Only subjects who chose the "accepted" option advanced to the electronic questionnaire, and subjects could interrupt the process at any time.

3. Results

The research participants totaled 1,334 people, with 668 individuals from the case group, corresponding to those who were diagnosed with the coronavirus, and 666 from the control group. There were participants from all 27 Brazilian states with distribution ranging from n=15 in Amapá and Acre to n=165 in Rio de Janeiro (Figure 1). Additionally, 62 people participated in the pilot study. In the study, 70.6% of respondents were female and 28.4% were male (n=1,334) (Table 1 and Figure 2).

The median (50th quartile) of participants' age was 34 years for the case group and 36 years for the control group. As for marital status, 615 (46.1%) of respondents declared themselves to be married and 628 (47.1%) were single. Widowed and divorced totaled 91 (6.7%). Regarding the level of education, 4 (0.3%) declared having completed

TABLE 1 S	ociodemographic	characteristics of	of the res	search participants.
-----------	-----------------	--------------------	------------	----------------------

	Case (n=668)	Control (<i>n</i> =666)	Effect size	Р	Power (1 – β)
	F=71.7%	F = 69.7%			
Gender			$\Phi = 0.02$	0.43	0.142
	M=28.3%	M=30.3%			
Age	34 (18–72)	36 (18–75)	$\Phi = 0.08^{\dagger}$	< 0.001	0.49
Marital status	1		1		1
Married	45.2%	47.0%			
Divorced	5.5%	6.3%	$\Phi = 0.05^{\dagger}$	0.3	0.71
Single	47.9%	46.2%			
Widower	1.3%	0.5%			
Education	1		1	1	1
Elementary school	0.6%	0.0%			
High school	9.9%	6.6%			
University education	29.3%	24.6%	$\Phi = 0.106^{\dagger\dagger}$	0.004	0.63
Technical education	2.4%	2.9%			
Postgraduate studies	57.8%	65.5%			
Religion	1	I	1		
Atheist or agnostic	13.5%	25.1%			
Buddhist	0.3%	0.6%			
Catholic or protestant	64.7%	49.5%	$\Phi = 0.176^{\dagger\dagger}$	0.176	0.98
Spiritist	10.5%	10.5%			
Jewish	0.3%	0.3%			
African origin	1.2%	2.4%			
Others	9.6%	11.6%			

F, female; M, male. ⁺Small effect size; ⁺⁺moderate effect size. Researchers' collection.

or incomplete elementary education; 110 (8.2%) said they had completed or incomplete high school; 360 (27%) said they had university education; 35 (2.6%) confirmed having completed technical education and 825 (61.8%) reported being or having completed postgraduate studies.

As for the religion surveyed among respondents, 257 (19.3%) said they were atheists or agnostics, 6 (0.4%) Buddhists, 762 (57.1%) Catholics or protestants, 140 (10.5%) spiritualists, 4 (0.3%) Jewish, 24 (1.8%) were of African origin and 141 (10.6%) claimed to have other religions.

It was also found that of the total sample of participants (n = 1,334), 559 (44.9%) reported having experienced a potentially traumatic event, where there was fear or risk of dying and that was not related to COVID-19. When asked about having witnessed traumatizing events during the new coronavirus pandemic, 378 (28.3%) answered yes, 210 (31.4%) from the case group, and 168 (25.2%) from the control group (Table 2).

When analyzing the depression rates, through the responses received by the participants in the questionnaire (PHQ-9), it was observed that 616 (46.2%) patients showed signs of depression, with 310



TABLE 2 Participants who experienced a potentially traumatic event.

	Case (n=668)	Control (<i>n</i> =666)	Effect size	Р	Power $(1 - \beta)$
Experienced traumatic pre-pandemic event	42.8%	47%	$\Phi = 0.04$	0.137	0.5
Experienced traumatic events during the pandemic	31.4%	25.2%	$\Phi\!=\!0.069^{\dagger}$	0.01	0.5

[†]Small effect size. Researchers' collection.

(46.4%) from the group of individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 and 306 (45.9%) of the control group. Those who showed signs of anxiety totaled 390 individuals (29.2%) of the total sample, 199 (29.8%) of the SARS-CoV-2 diagnosed group, and 191 (28.7%) of the undiagnosed group. The PCL-5 checklist for analyzing Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) showed in the study that 324 people (24.3%) of the total sample of respondents had signs of PTSD. Of these, 164 (24.6%) were in the case group and 160 (24%) were in the control group. When analyzing the signs of insomnia, it was attested that 766 people (57.4%) of the total met the criteria for the disorder, with 404 (60.5%) corresponding to the group that was diagnosed with COVID-19 and 362 (54.4%) of the group that was not diagnosed with the disease (Table 3).

4. Discussion

In this study, we assessed levels of depression, anxiety, posttraumatic stress disorder, and insomnia in Brazilian survivors of COVID-19. While the impacts of COVID-19 on mental health have been widely described in various populations, survivors of COVID-19 may be more susceptible to psychological and psychiatric issues due to the impact of contracting the virus and experiencing disease symptoms (4).

When comparing the levels of depression and anxiety between subjects affected by COVID-19 (case group) and unaffected subjects

(control group), we did not find a statistically significant correlation between the groups. These findings partially corroborate the results presented by Zhang et al. (18), who demonstrated an increased prevalence of anxiety in both patients infected with COVID-19 and individuals under quarantine and the general public. However, they found an increased prevalence of depression predominantly in patients who had been infected with COVID-19. Similarly, Ryal et al. (19) also demonstrated a high prevalence of psychiatric disorders in surviving patients diagnosed with COVID-19, with depression and anxiety being among the highest. Reagu et al. (20), in their study on a population in isolation and institutional quarantine in Qatar, used the same instruments as this study in similar sample size and reported that participants with positive COVID-19 PCR tests had significantly higher levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms than participants with negative tests. Other studies have linked the clinical severity of the disease to greater severity of psychiatric disorders. For example, in a study conducted in China on a general population of 432 survivors, it was found that the prevalence of anxiety disorder was 29%. However, for survivors with more severe COVID-19, the prevalence of anxiety disorder was up to four times higher than in the general population of the study (21).

Indeed, subsequent experiences from other outbreaks and epidemics have shown an increase in comorbidities among individuals who survived the diseases during the viral spread, regardless of the severity of the condition (18). The COVID-19 pandemic was no

	Case (n=668)	Control (<i>n</i> =666)	Effect size	Р	Power $(1 - \beta)$
Shows signs of depression	46.4%	45.9%	$\Phi = 0.005$	0.9	0.87
Shows signs of anxiety	29.8%	28.7%	$\Phi = 0.01$	0.7	0.68
Shows signs of post- traumatic stress disorder	24.6%	24%	$\Phi \!=\! 0.006$	0.8	0.83
Shows signs of insomnia	60.5%	54.4%	$\Phi = 0.062^{\dagger}$	0.03	0.5

TABLE 3 Depression, anxiety, PTSD, and insomnia in the sample of individuals in the case and control groups.

[†]Small effect size. Researchers' collection.

exception. It introduced a new social dynamic never before experienced by society, capable of generating emotional impacts on various segments of the population. In a recent meta-analysis focusing solely on the prevalence of psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic, it was found that one in three adults in the predominantly general population has anxiety or depression. Women, younger adults, individuals from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, residents in rural areas, and people with or at high risk of COVID-19 infection (suspected/confirmed cases, residents in heavily affected areas, having a history of chronic or mental conditions) were associated with higher chances of psychological distress (22). Several studies have also assessed the prevalence of mental health symptoms and disorders among healthcare professionals. Almalki et al. (23) demonstrated that over a year into the COVID-19 pandemic, the prevalence of depression, anxiety, and stress remains substantial among healthcare professionals in Saudi Arabia. Hajebi et al. (24) examined the mental health of healthcare professionals in Iran using the same instruments used in our study (PHQ-9 and GAD-7). They found that half of the participants had either generalized anxiety disorder, major depressive disorder, or both. According to Dubey and Tripathi (25), social withdrawal, isolation itself, and excessive information disseminated through social media are sufficient to increase psychological symptoms, potentially leading to anxiety, panic, and depression. Therefore, the pandemic event affects both infected and non-infected individuals in terms of psychological problems, which may justify our findings.

In addition to depression and anxiety, the prevalence of insomnia and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms has been widely described in a significant proportion of COVID-19 patients (26). In our study, we found a higher prevalence of insomnia in individuals infected with COVID-19 compared to non-infected individuals. A recent meta-analysis focusing on the prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia symptoms among SARS-CoV-2 infected patients revealed that sleep disorders were present in 48% of coronavirusinfected patients (26). Lin et al. (27), investigating the immediate impact of the coronavirus on subjective sleep status, evaluated over 5,000 individuals in China divided into groups ranging from those who had direct contact with the virus, such as healthcare professionals, to individuals related to the group with direct contact, such as friends and family of frontline workers. Clinical insomnia was detected in 20.05% of the subjects studied. This clearly demonstrates the correlation, as evidenced in other studies, between coronavirus infection and its impacts on sleep quality, both among individuals who had direct contact with the disease and those who, even without contracting the infection, were involved in the global social context of the pandemic.

Regarding PTSD, although the case group showed higher exposure to potentially traumatic events unrelated to COVID-19, there was no statistically significant difference in post-traumatic stress levels between the groups. In a study conducted with adults in China, the epicenter of the coronavirus pandemic, PTSD was identified as the most concerning disorder during and after the pandemic, with a prevalence of 30%. Both diagnosed and undiagnosed individuals with COVID-19 reported a higher fear of infection risk and a negative perception of the situation, leading to greater PTSD symptoms (28). These findings differ from the results of the present study, which did not find significant associations between the case and control groups for PTSD symptoms. In some other studies involving hospitalized patients diagnosed with COVID-19, the prevalence of PTSD was as high as 96.2% (29). According to certain studies, PTSD appears as a provisional diagnosis primarily in patients who were hospitalized during the COVID-19 pandemic (30). This suggests a relationship with the severity of the illness, as asymptomatic individuals who were not hospitalized did not report significant levels of PTSD.

A study conducted during the second wave of the pandemic in Iran, involving nearly 1,800 participants, showed that the prevalence of PTSD was significantly higher in hospitalized individuals and in outpatient groups receiving treatment for COVID-19 compared to the general population (31). Furthermore, a study in the United Kingdom with over 13,000 participants who were suspected or confirmed COVID-19 cases found that PTSD symptoms were disproportionately higher in patients who required hospital treatment (32). Another study by Guo et al. (33) in Mainland China observed higher levels of PTSD, with or without comorbid depression and anxiety, in COVID-19 survivor patients compared to non-infected individuals. Therefore, it is evident that several studies indicate a correlation between post-traumatic stress disorder and potentially destabilizing events on mental health, such as a pandemic.

Due to the analyses of the results of this research, the importance of studies covering this area is understood. Correlations of the disease with possible psychiatric disorders are dangerous because they make this group a risk factor for suicide and other disorders such as selfinjury. Thus, individuals who contract the virus and develop the disease should be supported not only in the systemic aspects involving the primarily affected organs (such as lungs, heart, and kidneys) but also concerning their mental health regarding their internal and external suffering and the stigma created against such individuals.

However, the fact that the study design is cross-sectional does not allow for long-term follow-up of the patient to verify if there would be any changes in the profile of the patient's involvement, mainly due to the physiological, social, and psychological sequelae resulting from the disease (34).

The results of this study are very important, as they bring to light psychological and psychiatric symptoms in their most pathological manifestations in a group of survivors of patients of COVID-19 during the pandemic period caused by this virus. This study reveals a series of precautions and alarms that the health system and health professionals must have after such a period of the COVID-19 pandemic, with the diagnosis, treatment, and life quality of the experienced population showing that the consequences of COVID were not only related to the restricted aspects of the comorbidity but also the emotional effects during this period. Based on this study, further research on these longterm psychological and psychiatric disorders in individuals who survived epidemic diseases is necessary to add more contributions and knowledge about the depth of the psychic crises of patients who survive epidemic diseases with far-reaching-like pandemics.

Although COVID-19 has not bid farewell yet, we can begin to talk about a post-pandemic scenario that demands as much attention as the initial crisis period. After the most critical moment of the health emergency has passed, we are left with social, economic, and emotional crises. Therefore, future studies can be conducted to assess whether psychological symptoms persisted 2 years after the COVID-19 pandemic among different segments of society, including survivors. It would also be important to compare the level of psychological impacts with the severity of the disease developed by infected individuals, determining whether these impacts were directly caused by the infection or its secondary consequences. Collectively, these studies can guide the development of public policies focused on the mental health damages caused by the pandemic.

4.1. Limitations

The present study's main limitation was the data collection methodology. As this was an exclusively remote survey carried out during the COVID-19 pandemic, all information collected was selfreported by participants through electronic forms. Thus, it was not possible to test the participants to identify whether any subject in the control group, despite having reported no symptoms, was not infected with SARS-CoV-2.

5. Conclusion

Overall, this study found a higher prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, anxiety, and insomnia in patients affected by COVID-19 when compared to uninfected ones. Despite this, the only statistically significant difference between the studied populations was in the levels of insomnia. In summary, the surviving population of SARS-CoV-2 virus infection tends to show little difference in terms of the development of PTSD, anxiety, and depression when compared to non-infected individuals. On the other hand, disorders such as

References

1. CDC (United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). Symptoms of coronavirus. (2020). Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/ symptoms-testing/testing.html.

insomnia are more prevalent and with a significant difference between the groups, appearing more in infected individuals.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Comitê de Ética em Pesquisa do Instituto de Ciências e Saúde da Universidade Federal do Pará. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

OS: study conception and design. SS, LC, FB, RS, and OS: methodology and data collection. SS, LC, FB, and RS: modeling, statistical, and descriptive analysis. SS, LC, and FB: article edition. RS and OS: scientific consultants and correction supervision. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Faculty of Medicine of the Federal University of Pará for supporting this research, the Laboratory of Pedagogy of Human Movement of the University of São Paulo, and the Academic League of Psychiatry of Southwest Pará for their contributions to this study. We are grateful to PROPESP/UFPA (PAPQ) for funding the article publication fee.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

2. de Oliveira ECD, de Carvalho LF, da Costa CM, Aguilar GMO, Saraceni V, Cruz OG, et al. COVID-19 emergency operations center: experience of the Rio de Janeiro municipality, Brazil. *Pan Am J Public Health*. (2022) 46:1–e9. doi: 10.26633/RPSP.2022.9

3. Guo J, Feng XL, Wang XH, van IJzendoorn MH. Coping with COVID-19: exposure to COVID-19 and negative impact on livelihood predict elevated mental health problems in Chinese adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:3857. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17113857

4. Liu X, Kakade M, Fuller CJ, Fan B, Fang Y, Kong J, et al. Depression after exposure to stressful events: lessons learned from the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2012) 53:15–23. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2011.02.003

 Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:1729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729

6. Barros MBA, Lima MG, Malta DC, Szwarcwald CL, de Azevedo RCS, Romero D, et al. Report of sadness/depression, nervousness/anxiety, and sleep problems in the Brazilian adult population during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Epidemiol Health Serv.* (2020) 29:e2020427. doi: 10.1590/s1679-49742020000400018

7. IBGE. Brazil: indicators [Internet]. (2021) Available at: https://www.ibge.gov.br/en/statistics/social/population/25975-brazil-indicators.html?=&t=o-que-e.

8. Bergerot CD, Laros JA, de Araujo TCCF. Assessment of anxiety and depression in cancer patients: a psychometric comparison. *Psycho-USF*. (2014) 19:187–97. doi: 10.1590/1413-82712014019002004

9. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Patient health questionnaire primary care study group, patient health questionnaire primary care study group. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. *JAMA*. (1999) 282:1737–44. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737

10. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x

11. Osorio FL, da Silva TDA, dos Santos RG, Chagas MHN, Chagas NMS, Sanches RF, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5): transcultural adaptation of the Brazilian version. *Arch Clin Psychiatry*. (2017) 44:10–9. doi: 10.1590/0101-60830000000107

12. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Inter Med.* (2006) 166:1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092

13. Maley JH. Annals of internal medicine. Ann Intern Med. (2007) 159:715-6. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-159-10-201311190-00012

14. Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the insomnia severity index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* (2001) 2:297–307. doi: 10.1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4

15. Buysse DJ, Ancoli-Israel S, Edinger JD, Lichstein KL, Morin CM. Recommendations for a standard research assessment of insomnia. *Sleep*. (2006) 29:1155–73. doi: 10.1093/sleep/29.9.1155

16. World Heath Organization Working Group on the Clinical Characterisation and Management of COVID-19 Infection. A minimal common outcome measure set for COVID-19 clinical research. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:e192-7. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30483-7

17. Akoglu H. User's guide to correlation coefficients. *Turkish J Emerg Med.* (2018) 18:91–3. doi: 10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001

18. Zhang J, Lu H, Zeng H, Zhang S, Du Q, Jiang T, et al. The differential psychological distress of populations affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:49–50. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.031

19. Ryal JJ, Perli VAS, de Souza Marques DC, Sordi AF, de Souza Marques MG, Camilo ML, et al. Effects of a multi-professional intervention on mental health of middle-aged overweight survivors of COVID-19: a clinical trial. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2023) 20:4132. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20054132

20. Reagu S, Wadoo O, Latoo J, Nelson D, Ouanes S, Masoodi N, et al. Psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic within institutional quarantine and isolation centres and its sociodemographic correlates in Qatar: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e045794. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045794

21. Zhu S, Gao Q, Yang L, Yang Y, Xia W, Cai X, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of disability and anxiety in a retrospective cohort of 432 survivors of coronavirus disease-2019 (Covid-19) from China. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0243883. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0243883

22. Wang Y, Kala MP, Jafar TH. Factors associated with psychological distress during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic on the predominantly general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0244630. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0244630

23. Almalki AH, Alzahrani MS, Alshehri FS, Alharbi A, Alkhudaydi SF, Alshahrani RS, et al. The psychological impact of COVID-19 on healthcare workers in Saudi Arabia: a year later into the pandemic. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:797545. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.797545

24. Hajebi A, Abbasinejad M, Zafar M, Hajebi A, Taremian F. Mental health, burnout, and job stressors among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic in Iran: a cross-sectional survey. *Front Psychiatry*. (2022) 13:891430. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.891430

25. Dubey AD, Tripathi S. Analysing the sentiments towards work-from-home experience during the Covid-19 pandemic. *J Innov Manag.* (2020) 8:13–9. doi: 10.24840/2183-0606_008.001_0003

26. Liu C, Pan W, Li L, Li B, Ren Y, Ma X. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia symptoms among patients with COVID-19: a meta-analysis of quality effects model. *J Psychosom Res.* (2021) 147:110516. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2021. 110516

27. Lin LY, Wang J, Ou-Yang X-Y, Miao Q, Chen R, Liang F-X, et al. The immediate impact of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak on subjective sleep status. *Sleep Med.* (2021) 77:348–54. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2020.05.018

28. Xu Z, Zhang D, Xu D, Li X, Xie YJ, Sun W, et al. Loneliness, depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder among Chinese adults during COVID-19: a cross-sectional online survey. J Affect Disord. (2021) 281:597–604. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.109

29. Vindegaard N, Benros ME. COVID-19 pandemic and mental health consequences: systematic review of the current evidence. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 89:531–42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.048

30. Tarsitani I., Vassalini P, Koukopoulos A, Borrazzo C, Alessi F, Di Nicolantonio C, et al. Post traumatic stress disorder among COVID 19 survivors at 3 moth follow up after hospital discharge. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2021) 36:1702–7. doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-06731-7

31. Hasannezhad Reskati M, Kheradmand M, Moosazadeh M, Assadi T, Shafizad M, Hedayatizadeh-Omran A, et al. Comparing mental health status and COVID-19 event impact between survivors and the general population during the second wave of the pandemic in Iran. *Nurs Open.* (2023) 10:738–53. doi: 10.1002/nop2.1341

32. Chamberlain SR, Grant JE, Trender W, Hellyer P, Hampshire A. Post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms in COVID-19 survivors: online population survey. *BJPsych Open.* (2021) 7:e47. doi: 10.1192/bj0.2021.3

33. Guo Q, Zheng Y, Shi J, Wang J, Li G, Li C, et al. Immediate psychological distress in quarantined patients with COVID-19 and its association with peripheral inflammation: a mixed-method study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:17–27. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.038

34. Estrela MCA, de Oliveira MHM, de Souza NCR, de Araújo Estrela CR. Covid-19: physiopathological and psychological sequels in patients and the multidisciplinary professional team. *Braz J Dev.* (2021) 7:59138–52. doi: 10.34117/bjdv7n6-349

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Samer El Hayek, Erada Center for Treatment and Rehab, United Arab Emirates

REVIEWED BY

Kota Suzuki, Shitennoji University, Japan Xavier Thierry, Institut national d'études démographiques (INED), France Duaa Aladwan, World Islamic Sciences and Education University, Jordan

*CORRESPONDENCE

Mehri Rezaei Kheirabadi i rezaei257@gmail.com Ali Hhasanpour Ddehkordi i ali20121968@yahoo.com

RECEIVED 06 December 2022 ACCEPTED 12 June 2023 PUBLISHED 27 July 2023

CITATION

Raeisi R, Gholamzad S, Dehkordi MK, Kheirabadi MR, Ddehkordi AH, Sobhani MM and Movahedi M (2023) The psychological symptoms and behavioral problems of children with mothers working as medical staff in the crisis of Covid-19 outbreak in Hamadan, Iran. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1117785. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1117785

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Raeisi, Gholamzad, Dehkordi, Kheirabadi, Ddehkordi, Sobhani and Movahedi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The psychological symptoms and behavioral problems of children with mothers working as medical staff in the crisis of Covid-19 outbreak in Hamadan, Iran

Roya Raeisi¹, Shakiba Gholamzad², Mansoureh Kiani Dehkordi³, Mehri Rezaei Kheirabadi^{4,5}*, Ali Hhasanpour Ddehkordi⁶*, Mohammad Mahdi Sobhani⁷ and Mahsa Movahedi⁷

¹Department of Pediatrics, Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran, ²Student Research Committee, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ³Department of Psychiatry, Psychosis Research Center, University of Social Welfare and Rehabilitation Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁴Department of Psychology, Faculty of Education and Psychology, Isfahan University, Isfahan, Iran, ⁵Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran, ⁶Social Determinants of Health Research Center, School of Allied Medical Sciences, Shahrekord University of Medical Sciences, Shahrekord, Iran, ⁷Student Research Committee, Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran

Background and objectives: The purpose of this study was to investigate the psychological symptoms and behavioral problems of children with mothers working as medical staff in the crisis of Covid-19 disease in Hamadan.

Methods: This descriptive causal-comparative study was conducted on all mothers with children aged 6 to 12 years in Hamadan from September 2 to November 29, 2020. In this study, eligible individuals were selected using random sampling and were assigned to two groups of mothers working as the medical staff and the control group. The research instruments included the Child Behavior Checklist (Achenbach) and the Child Symptom Inventory-4 (CSI-4).

Results: The results showed that the mean scores of psychological and behavioral symptoms of children in terms of group membership (group of mothers working in the medical staff and control group) had a significant difference. There was a significant difference between the mean scores of depression and aggression in children of the staff group and the control group meaning that for depression and aggression scores of children of the staff group (p<0.05). There was no significant difference between the mean anxiety scores and there was almost a significant difference between the attention scores of the staff group and the control group (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Children whose mothers worked as medical staff during Covid-19 show more depression, attention, and aggression problems than children whose mothers do not work as medical staff.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, treatment staff, children, psychological symptoms, behavioral problems

Introduction

The first known human coronavirus infection occurred in early December 2019. This virus first out broke in mid-December 2019 in Wuhan, China, and soon after, it quickly spread throughout the world, including Iran, causing many deaths (1-4).

In the COVID-19 outbreak crisis, there were reports about the prevalence of psychiatric symptoms in all relevant individuals, including patients, medical staff, patient caregivers, and the general public. As a result, psychological prevention seemed essential. According to statistics, in the early variants of the Coronavirus, children had much fewer clinical symptoms of the respiratory tract than adults, and the mortality rate in children was very low. However, as carriers of the Coronavirus with mild clinical symptoms, they had a large share in the epidemiology of the virus (5). Although the prevalence of this virus in children is reportedly low and with different clinical manifestations; its effects, including the working conditions of parents who are members of health care providers and medical staff, have a direct and significant relationship with the health status of family members including children (6, 7).

Factors such as lack of long leave or non-standard leave and working hours are consistently associated with adverse consequences on children's health. Most studied health outcomes are behavioral and mental health problems of children, which can affect family relationships including the time spent with children, parental supervision, and the parent's closeness to children and the home environment. Studies have shown that maternal working hours at night, in the evening, or at irregular times increase the risk of behavioral problems in children. Also, late or irregular return of both parents to home has led to a negative impact on the child's mental health and has been associated with a decrease in the frequency of parent-child interactions (8-10). Such working hours led to reduced parent-child interaction and reduced quality of parenting and family environment. Poor-quality parenting and lack of parent-child interaction (11-17) are associated with problems in children. Studies have shown that children whose parents return home late due to long working hours show behavioral problems such as hyperactivity and or inattention. In addition, non-standard parental work shifts such as night work and irregular working hours can increase the risk of depression, especially among children (8, 12, 13).

In addition to non-standard working hours, other job-related factors affect children's health. Fatigue due to sleep deprivation and psychological stress associated with inappropriate working conditions lead to lower quality of time spent with children and subsequently affects their upbringing, which eventually leads to more intense behavioral disorders. Also, instability in the family and a sharp increase in the level of maternal anxiety can lead to less parental support and more children's externalized symptoms such as aggression. In broken families, children may demonstrate more disturbing behaviors and less interaction with parents which can generate behavioral problems to attract parental attention. On the other hand, some children may distant themselves from their parents and show signs of anxiety (14–17).

Learning about parental anxiety through parental role modeling, parental information transfer, and parenting can reinforce children's anxious behaviors and can also play an important role in increased anxiety in children (18). Regarding the transfer of workplace stress to the family, research shows that anxious parents inadvertently transfer their insecurity and anxiety to their children, which ultimately leads to a variety of unreasonable fears and worries in them (19).

Due to the crisis of the Covid-19 outbreak, healthcare providers report symptoms of anxiety and distress due to difficult working conditions, long working hours, and extreme fatigue as well as worry and fear of transmitting the disease to their relatives, especially children. Families, television images, and decreased interaction with children are expected to increase the prevalence of psychological symptoms and behavioral problems in children in health care providers compared to children whose parents have unrelated occupations.

This study aimed to investigate the psychological symptoms and behavioral problems of children with mothers working as medical staff during the Covid-19 outbreak crisis in Hamadan.

Methodology

Research design

An explanatory research design was adopted to carry out this study.

Sample and setting

The participants of this case–control study were 118 mothers working as medical staff and their children, and 118 non-working mothers and their children in Hamadan. Mothers responded to all the questions on questionnaires from September 2 to November 29, 2020.

Mothers' age, children's age, and children's gender were matched in the 2 groups. Inclusion criteria were having a 6 to 12-year-old child, being a primary caregiver, and completing the study questionnaires online.

Data collection and measures

The study tools were the following:

- (1) The Achenbach Child Behavior Checklist: it is one of the parallel forms of The *Achenbach* System of Empirically Based Assessment (*ASEBA*) and evaluates the problems of children and adolescents in 8 categories of anxiety/depression, isolation/ depression, physical complaints, social problems, thinking problems, attention problems, ignoring rules, and aggressive behavior. In this study the Persian form of the questionnaire was used and subscales of attention problems and aggressive behavior have been used. Regarding Cronbach's alpha, the overall validity coefficients of Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) forms was 0.97, and it was 0.94 by retest validity (20).
- (2) The Child Symptom Inventory-4 (CSI-4): This questionnaire includes subscales of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Stubbornness Disobedience Disorder, Behavioral Disorder, Anxiety Disorder, Mood Disorder, Psychotic Disorder, Pervasive Developmental Disorders, and Excretory Disorders. In this study the Persian form of the questionnaire was used. The reliability of the questionnaire was determined through a

retest on 4 diagnostic groups from 0.70 to 0.89 and its validity was reported at 0.80 (21).

Statistical analysis

Results were summarized as mean ± standard deviation (SD) for quantitative variables and frequency (percentage) for categorical variables. Continuous variables were compared using the t-test or the Mann–Whitney test if the data did not appear to have a normal distribution or if the assumption of equal variances in the study groups was violated. Categorical variables, on the other hand, were compared using chi-square tests. *p* values of ≤0.05 were considered statistically significant. SPSS statistical software version 23.0 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, New York) was used for statistical analysis.

Results

After removing incomplete questionnaires, 236 subjects (118 mothers working as medical staff and their children, and 118 nonworking control subjects and their children) were included in the study. The two groups were matched for the average age of the mothers, the age of the children, and the gender of the children.

According to the results in Table 1, the average age of mothers working as medical staff is 36.08 and the average age of the control group is 36.89. In addition, the mean age of children in the control group is 6.85, and the mean age of children of medical staff mothers is 7.85 (see Table 1). According to Table 2, the participants in the medical staff mothers group include 45.8% girls and 54.2% boys and the participants in the control group include 55.9% girls and 44.1% boys. According to Table 3, the mean scores of children's psychological and behavioral symptoms differ between the group of medical staff mothers and the control group. Children in the medical staff mothers group had higher mean scores for depression, attention problems, and aggression as compared to children in the control group; but there was no significant difference between the mean scores of general anxiety among children of medical staff mothers group and the control group. The descriptive indicators of the research variables were illustrated in Table 3. The results show that the mean scores of children's psychological and behavioral symptoms differ in terms of group membership (medical staff mothers group and a control group). The results of the independent t-test show that there is a significant

TABLE 1 Mean age of mothers and children according to group membership.

Group		Mean <u>+</u> SD	p.Value	
Age of mothers	Mothers Working as medical staff	36.08±6.46	0.408	
	Control	36.89±6.58		
Age of children	Mothers Working as medical staff	7.85±4	0.821	
	Control	6.85 ± 3.01		

difference between depression and aggression in the two groups of children of working mothers and the control group (p < 0/05). It means that depression and aggression scores of the children of medical staff mothers are higher than children in the control group (p < 0.05).

Discussion

The working conditions and the effects on the mental health of the individuals and those around them have been the focus of health research. This study examined and compared behavioral problems and psychological symptoms in children of medical staff mothers during the crisis of COVID-19 outbreak as compared to the control group. Much research has been carried out on the effect of parents' working conditions on their children's mental health, such as Han WJ et al., (22) study in China, that found "children whose fathers worked night shifts had internalizing behaviors" (23). However, there has been no research on critical situations such as the outbreak of pandemics, including COVID-19. Given the critical nature and prolongation of the epidemic, the involvement of the medical staff, as parents, and longer working conditions and exacerbated psychological stress, affecting their mental health, research was needed to design intervention projects to improve the mental health of working mothers and their children by assessing the current situation. The results of the present study showed that children with parents working as the medical staff showed problems and symptoms of aggression and depression, and attention problems significantly more than children in the control group whose parents were not working as the medical staff. However, in terms of anxiety symptoms, no significance, and in terms of attention almost significance was observed in these two groups. These results are in line with the research by Kizuki et al., (8) who surveyed 2,987 children and their families in Japan. In their study, they found that children with both parents returning home late or having irregular working hours were more likely to demonstrate behavioral and attention problems. In addition, a study conducted by Vieira et al., (21) on parent-family work experiences and children's behavioral problems in Portugal showed that parent-workfamily conflicts have a positive relationship with children's externalized problems [aggression, attention, etc., (8, 24)].

According to research, employment, and its conditions have different psychological effects on children's health. Factors such as lack of leave and long and non-standard working hours are consistently associated with adverse outcomes in children's health (6, 10). We cannot determine the exact mechanism of these relationships through the results of our research, but some possible explanations can be as follows. In the current critical situation, long and irregular working hours lead to less interaction between parents and children and lower quality of parenting and the family environment. These non-standard working conditions and working hours have an independent impact on the child's mental health. Also, children whose parents returned home late due to long working hours had behavioral problems and inactivity/inattention. In addition, children whose mothers did shift work were more likely to exhibit delinquent behaviors and behavioral problems than others. These behaviors were mainly surfaced at school. In addition, non-standard parental work shifts such as night shifts and irregular working hours can increase the risk of inattention followed by aggression among children (8, 9, 11, 13, 22).

Mental health symptoms may have been common during the COVID-19 outbreak among the general population, especially among

infected individuals, people with suspected infection, and people who might have contact with patients with COVID-19. Some measures, such as quarantine and delays in returning to work, had been also associated with mental health of the public (25).

These results are consistent with the results of our study. In addition, anxiety is another issue that children with parents having stressful jobs might develop. Research on the transfer of workplace stress to the family in the city of Kerman, Iran has shown that anxious parents inadvertently transmit their insecurity and anxiety to children, which ultimately leads to a variety of unreasonable fears and worries (19). However, the results of the present study indicate that there is no significant difference in the anxiety of children in the two groups. In some studies, such as the one by Vieira et al., (21) they found that non-standard working conditions and long and variable shifts were directly related to externalized problems in children (such as aggression, disobedience, and attention problems); however, they had no association with internalized problems such as emotional symptoms of anxiety. This could be because work-family conflicts also lead to the exaggeration of externalized problems in children through negative effects on the quality of the parent-child relationship, but these problems do not contribute to the development of internalization. Evidence shows that reduced parental control over children, which includes frequent interactions and conversations with children about their activities and friends, leads to loneliness in children and externalized

TABLE 2 Gender distribution by group membership.

Group	Freque	<i>p</i> .Value	
Mothers Working	Girl	54(45.8)	
as medical staff	Воу	64(54.2)	0.077
Control	Girl	66(55.9)	0.067
	Воу	52(44.1)	

TABLE 3	Descriptive indicators of psychological and behavioral
sympton	ns of children based on the group membership.

Variable	Group	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean difference	p.Value*	
anxiety	Medical staff mothers	13.81±9.31	0.32	0.78	
	Control	13.49 ± 8.07			
Depression	Medical staff mothers	2.52 ± 1.89	-0.78	0.01	
	Control	3.30 ± 2.53			
Attention	Medical staff mothers	3.36±2.61	-0.80	0.05	
	Control	4.16 ± 3.46			
Aggression	Medical staff mothers	7.29 ± 6.02	-2.83	<0.001	
	Control	10.12 ± 7.90			

*Results of independent *t*-test to compare the behavioral symptoms and problems of children in terms of mother's group membership based on the alpha extract from Bonferroni correction ($\alpha = 0.05 / 4 = 0.0125$).

behavioral problems such as aggression, attention problems, and hyperactivity. These externalized behavioral problems are some ways to attract the attention of parents (24, 26, 27). Therefore, the parents of the medical staff are not able to interact positively and adequately with their children, due to having long and irregular working hours, night shifts, and exhaustion during the outbreak of Corona crisis, as well as critical conditions and worries for those around. This has led to an increase in children's feelings of loneliness, followed by behavioral problems such as aggression and attention problems, and perhaps this loneliness and lack of communication between parents and other friends and relatives have led to parents cannot convey much of the anxiety caused by the work environment and critical situations to their children.

Conclusion

This study examined and compared behavioral problems and psychological symptoms in children of medical staff during COVID-19 outbreak crisis and a control group including children of mothers with unrelated jobs. The results showed that the children in the group of medical staff mothers had higher mean scores for depression and aggression than the children in the control group. However, there was no significant difference between the mean scores for general anxiety, and there was almost a significant difference between the mean scores for attention among the children in the group of medical staff mothers and the control group.

Although it seems that the special working conditions of the medical staff lead to their work and family conflicts and these conflicts leave negative effects on the children, in some ways, it can be pointed out that these children experience a different lifestyle from a younger age. So, they show more psychological compatibility in some aspects of life. Also, job conditions increase the tolerance threshold of mothers and make them more adaptable to specific work and family conditions, which reduces the transmission of anxiety from mothers to children. It is suggested that this study should be done in other organizations with an emphasis on the issue of children of mothers with special job conditions. In addition to the negative effects, its positive effects should also be addressed and analyzed so that appropriate solutions be presented. Also, educational and work-family conflict management workshops should be held in hospitals and other medical centers. In addition, it is suggested to conduct this research in older age groups.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan,

Iran. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin (IR. UMSHA.REC.1402.155).

Author contributions

RR, SG, MRK, AHD, and MKD conception and design of the work, also the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data for the work. AND drafting the work and agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. RR, SG, MRK, AHD, and MKD revising final approval of the version to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:727–33. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2001017

2. Imai N, Dorigatti I, Cori A, Riley S, Ferguson NM. Estimating the potential total number of novel coronavirus cases in Wuhan City, China. (2020).

3. Raoofi A, Takian A, Akbari Sari A, Olyaeemanesh A, Haghighi H, Aarabi M. COVID-19 pandemic and comparative health policy learning in Iran. *Arch Iran Med.* (2020) 23:220–34. doi: 10.34172/aim.2020.02

4. Habibi Saravi R, Saleh Tabari Y, Ghasemihamedani F. Measures to control Covid-19 epidemic in public and reduce the patient load in hospitals: a report from Iran. *Health Emerg Disasters Quart*. (2020) 5:139–44. doi: 10.32598/hdq.5.3.34.2

5. Tavakoli A, Vahdat K, Keshavarz M. Novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID -19): an emerging infectious disease in the 21st century. *Iran South Med J.* (2020) 22:432–50. doi: 10.29252/ismj.22.6.432

6. Yetis-Bayraktar A, Budig MJ, Tomaskovic-Devey D. From the shop floor to the kitchen floor: maternal occupational complexity and children's reading and math skills. *Work Occup.* (2013) 40:37–64. doi: 10.1177/0730888412465879

7. Su L, Ma X, Yu H, Zhang Z, Bian P, Han Y, et al. The different clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease cases between children and their families in China-the character of children with COVID-19. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2020) 9:707–13. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1744483

8. Kizuki M, Ochi M, Isumi A, Kato T, Fujiwara T. Parental time of returning home from work and child mental health among first-year primary school students in Japan: results from A-CHILD study. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:179. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00179

9. Rosenbaum E, Morett CR. The effect of parents' joint work schedules on infants' behavior over the first two years of life: evidence from the ECLSB. *Matern Child Health J.* (2009) 13:732. doi: 10.1007/s10995-009-0488-8

10. Li J, Johnson SE, Han W-J, Andrews S, Kendall G, Strazdins L, et al. Parents' nonstandard work schedules and child well-being: a critical review of the literature. *J Prim Prev.* (2014) 35:53–73. doi: 10.1007/s10935-013-0318-z

11. Strazdins L, Clements MS, Korda RJ, Broom DH, D'Souza RM. Unsociable work? Nonstandard work schedules, family relationships, and children's well-being. *J Marriage Fam*. (2006) 68:394–410. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00260.x

12. Egger HL, Angold A. Common emotional and behavioral disorders in preschool children: presentation, nosology, and epidemiology. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2006) 47:313–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01618.x

13. Han W-J, Miller DP. Parental work schedules and adolescent depression. *Health Sociol Rev.* (2009) 18:36–49. doi: 10.5172/hesr.18.1.36

14. Becker B. Early educational inequality: growing up in different learning environments. In: *Research handbook on the sociology of education*. Massachusetts: Edward Elgar Publishing (2019)

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

15. Choe DE, McDonough SC, Sameroff AJ, Lawrence AC. Postnatal trajectories of maternal depressive symptoms: postpartum antecedents and differences in toddler adjustment. *Infant Ment Health J*. (2020) 41:278–93. doi: 10.1002/imhj.21843

16. Rodriguez CM. Association between independent reports of maternal parenting stress and children's internalizing symptomatology. *J Child Fam Stud.* (2011) 20:631–9. doi: 10.1007/s10826-010-9438-8

17. Waters SF, Virmani EA, Thompson RA, Meyer S, Raikes HA, Jochem R. Emotion regulation and attachment: unpacking two constructs and their association. *J Psychopathol Behav Assess*. (2010) 32:37–47. doi: 10.1007/s10862-009-9163-z

18. Azimian J, Piran P, Jahanihashemi H, Dehghankar L. Investigation of marital satisfaction and its relationship with job stress and general health of nurses in Qazvin. *Iran Electronic physician*. (2017) 9:4231. doi: 10.19082/4231

19. Baniasadi S, Rashidi S, Hoseinfard SM. Relation between work-family conflict of working mothers and other children's anxiety disorders. *Matern Child Health J.* (2013) 1:184–90. doi: 10.1007/s10995-022-03489-0

20. Albores-Gallo L, Lara-Muñoz C, Esperón-Vargas C, Cárdenas Zetina JA, Pérez Soriano AM, Villanueva CG. Validity and reability of the CBCL/6-18. Includes DSM scales. *Actas Luso Esp Neurol Psiquiatr Cienc Afines*. (2007) 35:393–9.

21. Nishigami T, Tanaka K, Mibu A, Manfuku M, Yono S, Tanabe A. Development and psychometric properties of a short form of central sensitization inventory in participants with musculoskeletal pain: a cross-sectional study. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0200152. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200152

22. Han W-J, Miller DP, Waldfogel J. Parental work schedules and adolescent risky behaviors. *Dev Psychol.* (2010) 46:1245. doi: 10.1037/a0020178

23. Han W-J. A first look at parental work schedules and Children's well-being in contemporary China. *Community Work Fam.* (2020) 23:286–304. doi: 10.1080/13668803.2018.1531826

24. Vieira JM, Matias M, Ferreira T, Lopez FG, Matos PM. Parents' work-family experiences and children's problem behaviors: the mediating role of the parent–child relationship. *J Fam Psychol.* (2016) 30:419. doi: 10.1037/fam0000189

25. Shi L, Lu ZA, Que JY, Huang XL, Liu L, Ran MS, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with mental health symptoms among the general population in China during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2014053. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.14053

26. McKee L, Colletti C, Rakow A, Jones DJ, Forehand R. Parenting and child externalizing behaviors: are the associations specific or diffuse? *Aggress Violent Behav.* (2008) 13:201–15. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2008.03.005

27. Liu L-J, Sun X, Zhang C-L, Wang Y, Guo Q. A survey in rural China of parentabsence through migrant working: the impact on their children's self-concept and loneliness. *BMC Public Health*. (2010) 10:32. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-32

28. Brooks-Gunn J, Han W-J, Waldfogel J. First-year maternal employment and child development in the first seven years. *Monogr Soc Res Child Dev*. (2010) 75:7. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5834.2010.00562.x

Frontiers in **Public Health**

Explores and addresses today's fast-moving healthcare challenges

One of the most cited journals in its field, which promotes discussion around inter-sectoral public climate change, transportation, environmental change and even species diversity.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



